# **Geological Survey** of Finland

# **Bulletin 356**

The chronostratigraphy of southwestern Finland with special reference to Postjotnian and Subjotnian diabases

by Veli Suominen

Geologian tutkimuskeskus Espoo 1991



# Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356

### ERRATA

page 12, line 5	for cm3 read cm <sup>3</sup>
page 22, line 43	for SN read Sn
page 25, Fig.17a figure caption	for Zr read ZR
page 37, left column, line 9	for 00 read 200
page 52, fraction A029E	for HFe read HF
page 57, Fig. 43. figure caption	for 81-va read Åva
page 66, left column, line 5	for tint, read tint;
page 74, left column, line 15	for zircons read zircon
page 74, right column, line 8	for above read above mentioned
Appendix 5, Fig. 2, figure caption	for crystalization read crystallization

Appendix 5. Additional data for sample A920.

Sample Fraction <sup>1</sup> No. d=density, g/cm <sup>3</sup> Ø=grain size, μm		Concentration $\mu g/g$		<sup>206</sup> Pb  <sup>204</sup> Pb	Isotopic composition of lead, $^{206}$ Pb = 100			Atomic radiome	Atomic ratios and radiometric ages, Ma		
		<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb radiog.	measured	204	4 207 208		<sup>206</sup> Pb  <sup>238</sup> U	<sup>207</sup> Pb <sup>235</sup> U	<sup>207</sup> Pb  <sup>206</sup> Pb	
A920- A920C	-Kittuis, Houtskär: 4.2 <d<4.3; abr<br="">long crystals</d<4.3;>	ругохе 662.0	ne granod 180.96	liorite 5907	.01574	11.500	6.539	.3159 ± 17 1769	4.916 ± 27 1805	.11286 ± 5 1846	
D	4.2 <d<4.3; abr<br="">short crystals</d<4.3;>	661.7	179.00	5448	.01708	11.508	6.183	.3126 ± 16 1753	4.861 ± 26 1795	.11276 ± 11 1844	

For symbols, see Table 3.

# Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356

# THE CHRONOSTRATIGRAPHY OF SOUTHWESTERN FINLAND with special reference to Postjotnian and Subjotnian diabases

by

VELI SUOMINEN

with 63 figures, 18 tables in the text and 5 appendices

GEOLOGIAN TUTKIMUSKESKUS ESPOO 1991 Suominen, V., 1991. The chronostratigraphy of southwestern Finland, with special reference to Postjotnian and Subjotnian diabases. *Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356.* 100 pages. 63 figures, 18 tables and 5 appendices.

The intrusions and geological events characterizing the development of the Precambrian crust in southwestern Finland were dated by determining radiometric U-Pb ages on zircons, titanites, monazites, baddeleyites and one uraninite. The dated samples are from late Proterozoic (Postjotnian and Subjotnian) diabases, quartz porphyries, rapakivi granites and middle Proterozoic (synorogenic and late- and postorogenic Svecokarelian) granites, granodiorites, pyroxene granodiorites and gabbros.

The radiometric ages of rock formations in the Åland archipelago and adjacent areas in southwestern Finland are summarized and discussed.

The six oldest granitoid plutons dated in the Åland area are the synorogenic intrusions. They form an age group of  $1880 \pm 20$  Ma.

The seven late-orogenic granites dated in southwestern Finland form a coherent age group of  $1830 \pm 10$  Ma. The pyroxene granodiorites ( $1862 \pm 6$  Ma) mark an intraorogenic thermal pulse during that time. The postorogenic granites in the Åland archipelago are dated to an interval of 1770-1815 Ma.

A comparison is made with the Wiborg (Viipuri) rapakivi batholith (1630–1645 Ma) and the Salmi rapakivi intrusion  $(1539 \pm 11 \text{ Ma})$ .

The ages of the four quartz porphyry dykes dated are very close to the age of the Åland rapakivi intrusion. In the light of these results  $(1575 \pm 10 \text{ Ma})$ , the pyroxene diabases from the Föglö dyke set and the anorthositic variety of the Västersten diabase southwest of the Åland rapakivi area are coeval, within the limits of error, with the main phase of the Åland rapakivi granites.

The olivine diabases dated in western Finland are all of the same Postjotnian age ( $1260 \pm 10$  Ma).

Key words (GeoRef Thesaurus, AGI): radiometric ages, diabase, rapakivi, quartz porphyry, granites, granodiorites, U/Pb, Rb/Sr, Jotnian, Proterozoic, Finland.

Veli Suominen, Geological Survey of Finland, SF-02150 Espoo, Finland

ISBN 951-690-452-1 ISSN 0367-522X

Vammala 1991, Vammalan Kirjapaino Oy

## ERRATA

page 12, line 5	for cm3 read cm <sup>3</sup>
page 22, line 43	for SN read Sn
page 25, Fig.17a figure caption	for Zr read ZR
page 37, left column, line 9	for 00 read 200
page 52, fraction A029E	for HFe read HF
page 57, Fig. 43. figure caption	for 81-va read Åva
page 66, left column, line 5	for tint, read tint;
page 74, left column, line 15	for zircons read zircon
page 74, right column, line 8	for above read above mentioned
Appendix 5, Fig. 2, figure caption	for crystalization read crystallization

Appendix 5. Additional data for sample A920.

Sample Fraction <sup>1</sup> No. d=density, g/cm <sup>3</sup> Ø=grain size, μm		Concentration $\mu g/g$		<sup>206</sup> Pb 	Isotopic composition of lead, $^{206}$ Pb = 100			Atomic radiome	Atomic ratios and radiometric ages, Ma		
		<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb	measured	204 207 208			<sup>206</sup> Pb  23811	<sup>207</sup> Pb  235_11	<sup>207</sup> Pb	
A920	-Kittuis, Houtskär:	pyroxei	ne granod	iorite							
A920C	4.2 <d<4.3; abr<br="">long crystals</d<4.3;>	662.0	180.96	5907	.01574	11.500	6.539	.3159 ± 17 1769	4.916 ± 27 1805	.11286 ± 5 1846	
D	4.2 <d<4.3; abr<br="">short crystals</d<4.3;>	661.7	179.00	5448	.01708	11.508	6.183	.3126 ± 16 1753	4.861 ± 26 1795	.11276 ± 11 1844	

For symbols, see Table 3.

## CONTENTS

Introduction	5
Analytical procedures	8
The Postjotnian olivine diabases of western Finland	9
Märket, Eckerö	9
Säppi, Luvia	11
Hankkila, Eurajoki	18
Ämmänpelto, Eura	18
Moikipää, Korsnäs	18
Subjotnian formations	20
The Föglö pyroxene diabase dyke set	21
The Västersten and Höggrund anorthositic varieties of pyroxene diabase	28
Hornblende diabases in the southwestern archipelago of Finland	30
Quartz porphyry dykes in the Åland area	31
Blåklobb, Eckerö	31
Hammarudda, Hammarland	34
Jyddö, Föglö	34
Källholm, Åva, Brändö	35
The Åland rapakivi area	36
Böle and Vabbängarna, Eckerö	36
Godby, Finström	41
Åsbacka, Saltvik	42
Getabergen, Geta	43
Långnäs, Lumparland	43
The Kökarsfjärden rapakivi granite	44
The Fjälskär rapakivi stock, Houtskär	45
The Peipohja rapakivi granite stock, Kokemäki	49
Comparison with the Wiborg and Salmi rapakivi areas	49
The Wiborg rapakivi area	49
The quartz porphyry dyke of Hamina	51
The Salmi rapakivi pluton	53
Svecofennian formations	55
Postorogenic granitoids of Åland: the Lemland and Åva intrusions	56
The Lemland intrusion	56
The Ava intrusion	56
Late-orogenic granites in southwestern Finland	57
The granite of Kumlinge	57

The granite of Mattnäs, Nauvo	59
The granite of Kakola, Turku	64
The Perniö granite: Kistola, Haarla and Pungböle	68
The granite of Tammo, Parainen	69
The granite of Tulludden and Märaskär, Hanko	70
Intraorogenic intrusions in southwestern Finland	71
The pyroxene granodiorite of Kakskerta, Turku	71
The pyroxene granodiorite of Kittuis, Houtskär	73
The garnet-bearing tonalite dyke of Västerhamnen, Brändö	73
Synorogenic plutonic rocks in the Åland islands	74
The granite of Håkonsnäs, Kökar	74
The granite of Mörskär, Kökar	75
The gabbro of Alvik, Karlby, Kökar	75
The gabbro of Svartgrund, Föglö	79
The granodiorites of Algersö, Föglö and of Bockholm, Kumlinge	79
Rb-Sr dating of diabases and Åland rapakivi	82
Isotope geochemical studies in southwestern Finland	82
Discussion	83
Conclusions	92
Acknowledgments	93
References	94
Appendices	

## INTRODUCTION

When introducing the term Jotnium for the youngest Precambrian formations in Fennoscandia, J.J. Sederholm (1897) included in it diabases, sandstones and rapakivi granite intrusions and the accompanying quartz porphyries, diabases, anorthosites and gabbros. Högbom (1910) called the lower Jotnian Subjotnian because the two formations were separated by an unconformity. Later, Sederholm (1927) divided the Jotnian into two groups: the Upper Jotnian, made up of sandstones overlain and intercalated by diabases, and the Lower Jotnian, comprising rapakivi granites with effusive members and the oldest mafic eruptives (ossipites). He coined the term Hoglandium for the Subjotnian rocks.

Jotnian sedimentary rocks occur in many parts of the Fennoscandian shield: in the U.S.S.R. on the south coast of the Kola peninsula (the Tersky coast), on the southwestern shore of Lake Onega, in the Salmi area in Soviet Karelia (Kairyak and Khazov 1967) and probably on the bottom of Lake Ladoga, also in Soviet Karelia (e.g. Hackman 1933); in Finland in Satakunta and Muhos (e.g. Simonen and Kouvo 1955); and in Sweden in the Lake Mälaren area (Gorbatschev 1962), the Gävle area (Gorbatschev 1967), Dalsland and the Nordingrå area (von Eckermann 1937).

Olivine diabases that are very similar in petrography and mode of occurrence occur as steeply dipping dykes or as sheet intrusions on both the Finnish and Swedish coasts of the Gulf of Bothnia (see Fig. 1 for sites and coordinates given in Appendix 1). In western Finland all these olivine diabases have been regarded as Postjotnian, although only in the Satakunta area do the olivine diabases overlie and cut the Jotnian sandstone (Sederholm 1934). The present work dates the Postjotnian diabases of Åland, Satakunta and Vaasa. From the results of palaeomagnetic measurements, these have been regarded as Jotnian by Neuvonen (1965, 1966) and Neuvonen and Grundström (1969).

Owing to their low zircon content, diabases have previously only been dated with K/Ar and Rb/Sr methods. However coarse-grained varieties of diabase, frequently contain enough zircon for dating with the U-Pb method, and samples of about 50 kg often seem to be large enough to give more than enough zircon for the analyses. In diabase pegmatoids, comagmatic with the whole diabase, zircon is concentrated in the parts rich in plagioclase, but the megacrysts do not contain as much zircon as does the matrix of the same sample (this also seems to apply to rapakivi granites). In some types of olivine diabase, baddeleyite is the principal zirconium mineral either together with zircon or alone (Siivola 1977 and this study).

The Föglö dyke set in the eastern archipelago of Åland is a Subjotnian diabase of special interest. This pyroxene diabase, which Sederholm (1934) called ossipite, has been considered older than not only the olivine diabases but also the rapakivi granites of the Åland Islands. Frosterus (1893), who first described the dyke, considered it younger than the rapakivi group, but Sederholm (1934) and Hausen (1964) later declared the pre-rapakivi age to be the more probable. The anorthositic varieties of pyroxene diabase, southwest of the Åland rapakivi, seem to be similar to the Föglö dyke set in many respects.

The quartz porphyry dykes around the Åland



Fig. 1. Geological map of study area and sample sites referred to in text. The coordinates are given in Appendix 1. Map modified from Simonen (1980a).

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356

6

rapakivi have been interpreted as contemporaneous with the main rapakivi phase of Åland (Vaasjoki 1977). Several authors (e.g. Sederholm 1934, Kaitaro 1953, Ehlers and Bergman 1984) have suggested that the quartz porphyries and pyroxene diabases are also coeval. Quartz porphyry dykes are known to cut some of the coarsegrained anorthositic diabases, but contact observations made southwest of the Åland rapakivi are ambiguous (cf. Bergman 1981).

The granitoids of southwestern Finland have traditionally been classified into four groups as compiled by Sederholm (1932) and recently updated by Nurmi and Haapala (1986). The youngest granitoids, rapakivi granites, belong to group IV; the postkinematic, coarse-grained porphyritic potassium granites to group III; the migmatite building potassium granites to group II and the (often gneissose) granites, granodiorites, tonalites and quartz diorites to group I. To provide insight into the magmatectonic evolution of southwestern Finland, new age data are given and the chronostratigraphy is discussed.

The characteristic features of the different granitoid groups are summarized in Table 1. One of the most distinctive features of the rapakivi granites (IV) is their high zircon content. The fluorite content is also high, and the titanium mineral is anatase. In the group III granites a high titanite content together with zircon is common, and the total iron content is relatively high. In the group II granites the accessory minerals are more diverse, and a high monazite content is often met together with only minor, if any, zircon and titanite. Rutile seems to be present instead of titanite. In the granitoids of group I, zircon and titanite are common accessory minerals.

The Åland rapakivi pluton is composed of several parts (see Bergman 1981, 1986). The main phase has been dated by Vaasjoki (1977). In the present study new zircon fractions were analysed from the rapakivi granites dated earlier and four additional specimens were dated to ascertain the age relations between the Subjotnian diabases, quartz porphyries and rapakivi granites.

The small rapakivi granite stock of Peipohja in Satakunta was previously dated by Kouvo (1958) and Vaasjoki (1977). Additional zircon fractions were now analysed from this reference rapakivi granite.

The rapakivi pluton of Kökarsfjärden and the rapakivi stock of Fjälskär in the southwestern archipelago, previously dated by Vaasjoki (1977), were redated with additional fractions and the latter with a new sample.

For comparison, some of the Wiborg rapakivi samples were dated with additional zircon fractions to verify the previously published data of Kouvo (1958) and Vaasjoki (1977). New reference ages for the Salmi rapakivi in Soviet Karelia were determined.

Several granite intrusions of postorogenic character, differing from the rapakivi granites in field relations and in mineral and chemical compositions, occur close to some of the intrusions dated here. They are cut by mafic dykes that are probably older than the diabases dated and dis-

I	II	III	IV
Synorogenic	Late-orogenic	Postorogenic	Anorogenic
ass. pegmatite	ass. pegmatite	ass. pegmatite	rare
-	migmatite forming	-	-
rare	aplites	rare	aplites
zircon	(zircon)	zircon	zircon
titanite	rutile	titanite	anatase, rare
magnetite	magnetite	magnetite	magnetite
-	monazite	-	rare
-	-	rare	fluorite

Table 1. Granite groups of Sederholm with characteristics in southwestern Finland.

cussed in this context. The Lemland intrusion south of Mariehamn has been dated by Vaasjoki (1977), who established that the rapakivis were significantly younger than the postorogenic granites of Åland. Neuvonen (1970), Vaasjoki (1977) and Patchett and Kouvo (1986) have presented age data on the Åva granite and »monzonite» intrusions. The Mosshaga intrusion has been dated by Vaasjoki (1977) and more recently by Welin et al. (1983); the Seglinge intrusion (1815 Ma) has also been dated by Vaasjoki (1977).

The Kumlinge granite was described by Sederholm (1934) as a good example of group II granites. Of the late-orogenic intrusions in southwestern Finland, the Perniö granite has been dated by Gast (1960) and Wetherill et al. (1962), and the Hanko granite by Hopgood et al. (1983) and Huhma (1986).

The present paper also gives age data for two synorogenic granodiorites, two granites and two gabbros in the eastern archipelago of Åland. The granitoids resemble those of Sederholm's group I. The Föglö dyke set cuts the granodiorite represented in this study by the Algersö sample, and the Bockholm granodiorite gives one additional point for the chronostratigraphy of the Åland area. Age data have earlier been published for the Mörskär and Svartgrund samples (Patchett et al. 1981, Patchett and Kouvo 1986).

The present paper documents the age relations of the diabase dykes in southwestern Finland and discusses the tectonic setting and emplacement time of these dykes and of some other Precambrian igneous rocks in that part of southwestern Finland.

#### ANALYTICAL PROCEDURES

All the isotopic analyses given in this paper were carried out in the laboratories of the Unit for Isotope Geology, Department of Petrology, Geological Survey of Finland. At the same time Rb-Sr dates were determined for some of the diabases discussed here and for some of the rapakivi granites by Dr Otto van Breemen at the Scottish Universities Research and Reactor Centre.

The analytical procedures used follow those of Krogh (1973) and have been described in detail by Vaasjoki (1977) and Huhma (1986). The few fractions fused earlier in borax were found to be comparable to fractions decomposed in hydro-fluoric acid. Quartz and diamond paste abrasions were used in an unsuccessful attempt to improve the discordant zircon ages. To reduce the common lead of the zircons some fractions were crushed and washed in nitric acid (1 : 1 conc.  $HNO_3 + H_2O$ ) and some were preleached in hydrofluoric acid. The air abrasion method described by Krogh (1982) was also used with a

device developed and kindly supplied by Dr T.E. Krogh. The air pressure was 0.3 bar, and the time for abrasion ranged from 5 min. to 5 hr. The sample size of zircon for individual analyses ranged from 1 to 20 mg, that of monazite from 2 to 4 mg and that of titanite from 20 to 30 mg.

After removal of the blank (usually less than one nanogram), the remaining initial lead was assumed to have a model isotopic composition estimated from figures given by Doe and Stacey (1974). In no case was the initial lead isotopic composition critical. However, in the determination of ages on zircons from some rapakivi granites and quartz porphyries, the 206Pb/204Pb ratio was as low as 200-400 and, hence, the lead isotopic ratios were measured from coexisting K-feldspar and were corrected for 1575 Ma of inplace radioactive decay. The common lead corrections based on K-feldspar lead isotopic composition corrected for radiogenic component were applied only to the Åland rapakivi batholith and to one quartz-porphyry sample (see Table 2).

Table 2. Isotopic composition of lead in K-feldspar used for common lead correction.

A715	17.60	15.47	36.09	34.89 30.37	0.31
A762	16.96	15.46	36.17	21.67	0.36
A295	16.89	15.50	36.34	27.48	0.55
Sample No.	$\frac{^{206}\text{Pb}}{^{204}\text{Pb}}$	<sup>207</sup> Pb <sup>204</sup> Pb	$\frac{208 \text{Pb}}{204 \text{Pb}}$	Concent µg/g Pb	ration total U

For samples A468 and A763, the average isotopic composition of A295, A762 and A764 was used and for sample A467 that of the other Eckerö sample, A295. All these ages were also calculated from a model lead isotopic composition given by Doe and Stacey (1974).

Isotopic ratios were measured using conventional techniques. Pb- and U-isotope ratios were determined on microcomputed-controlled 9',  $60^{\circ}$  thermal ionization mass spectrometers. The isotopic ratios were corrected for fractionation by comparison with analyses of CIT and NBS981 leads. The analytical errors were estimated largely with reference to Vaasjoki (1977, pp. 12–13).

The ages given in this paper were calculated using the decay constants recommended by the Subcommission on Geochronology (Steiger and Jäger 1977). The method developed by York (1969) was used to fit the regression line. Errors in the ages from the concordia intercepts are quoted at the 2-sigma level. The average precision of the <sup>206</sup>Pb/<sup>204</sup>Pb ratio varies: if <1000 the ratio has an error of  $\pm 1.6$  %, if 1000—2000 it is  $\pm 2.1$  % and if >2000  $\pm 2.5$  %; the average error is 1.9 %.

## THE POSTJOTNIAN OLIVINE DIABASES OF WESTERN FINLAND

Jotnian formations in sensu lato cover large areas of the Fennoscandian shield. Jotnian sedimentary rocks, which are known to be cut by diabases, lie on rapakivi granites and associated rocks.

Jotnian olivine diabases form voluminous sills and dykes in three areas in western Finland: the western margin of the Åland islands, the Satakunta area and the Vaasa archipelago. In all these areas the olivine diabases are very alike in composition and texture; only in the Satakunta area do they overlie and cut the Jotnian sandstones. The Muhos siltstone, in northwestern central Finland, has been dated to 1362 Ma, I.R. = 0.704(unpublished preliminary Rb-Sr isochron; Dr O. Kouvo, pers. communication) and to about 1200 Ma on the basis of biotype (Tynni and Uutela 1984). The Jotnian sediments in Satakunta have been dated by the K-Ar method to 1130— 1318 Ma, (assumed new Soviet constants, 1097 Ma—1278 Ma if conversed after Harland et al. 1982) and the argillaceous siltstone in Muhos to 1280 — 1318 Ma (Simonen 1960, Polkanov and Gerling 1961a). These ages, with assumed new Soviet constants, if conversed after Harland et al. 1982, would be 1242—1278 Ma.

In earlier papers the term Jotnian was applied to all olivine diabases on petrographic criteria; strictly speaking they should be called Postjotnian.

#### Märket, Eckerö

In the Åland Sea the olivine diabase crops out on five small islands and skerries around the tiny lighthouse island of Märket, on the border between Finland and Sweden. In all these outcrops the olivine diabase is a dark brownish grey, coarse-grained, ophitic rock. No contacts with



Fig. 2. Coarse-grained ophitic olivine diabase from Märket with characteristic small patches of accumulated plagioclase. Actual size. Polished surface. Photo Erkki Halme.

adjacent rocks have been found. Using topographic criteria, Hausen (1964) interpreted the diabase body as a sill lying on sandstone, which in turn overlies rapakivi granites. To the east, the bedrock consists of rapakivi granite of the Åland area and to the west of older Svecokarelian supraand infracrustal rocks. A similar olivine diabase is met with on the island of Halsaren off the nearby Swedish coast, some 15 km southwest of Märket (Åhman 1947). According to chemical and modal analyses, the olivine diabase on Märket (Sederholm 1934, Bergman 1981, Suominen 1987a) is similar to the Halsaren diabase (Åhman 1947) and is of the Swedish Åsby type.

Sample A562 is from south of the lighthouse on Märket. The main constituents are zonal or polysynthetically twinned plagioclase (An 55— 60), clinopyroxene (pigeonite-augite) and olivine, often altered to iddingsite or serpentine. The main opaque minerals are magnetite and ilmenite. The accessories include biotite, apatite as long, acicular, clear, transparent crystals, titanite, quartz, zircon and baddeleyite. Hornblende, epidote and sericite occur as alteration products in abundances of up to 3-4 % in some thin sections. The main and accessory mineral compositions of the samples in this study are summarized in Appendices 2 and 3.

The grain size of diabase sample A562 is typical of the area, but the plagioclase content is slightly higher than usual and the rock in the outcrop has a faint reddish tint. No real diabase pegmatoids are found on Märket or in the adjacent diabase outcrops. Only some small dot-like clusters of plagioclase are scattered here and there in the normal, coarse-grained type of diabase



Fig. 3. Microphotograph of olivine diabase from Märket with typical skeletal magnetite and ophitic texture. + nicols. Photo Erkki Halme.

(see Fig. 2). Olivine is irregularly distributed in the Märket diabase, and its abundance seldom



Fig. 4. Concordia diagram and U-Pb isotope ratios for zircon fractions from the Märket diabase (A562). Each zircon fraction is indicated by a letter referred to in Table 3.

reaches 2 %. The magnetite content is high, ca. 10 %, and the mineral occurs together with ilmenite lamellae as skeletal aggregates (see Fig. 3).

The Märket diabase is free from country-rock inclusions. No xenoliths of sandstone have been met with, but the diabase is cut by small, narrow rheomorphic dykelets that bear a close resemblance to the rheomorphic dykes described from Halsaren by Åhman (1947).

The zircon grains in sample A562 are large, and the fractions studied consist of fragments of transparent, faint, pinkish crystals.

The upper intercept age of the four zircon fractions on a concordia diagram is  $1265 \pm 6$  Ma (see Fig. 4). The isotopic data and the apparent radiometric ages are given in Table 3.

#### Säppi, Luvia

Various types of diabase have been described from the Satakunta area (A. Laitakari 1925, 1928, Kahma 1951, Hämäläinen 1987, Pihlaja 1987). The olivine diabases are sills or dykes but, according to the results of palaeomagnetic measurements, there is no difference between the olivine diabases of vertical dykes and sills (Neuvonen 1965). The olivine diabases of the Satakunta area (see Fig. 1) are represented by samples from Säppi, Hankkila and Ämmänpelto. Säppi is an island in the Gulf of Bothnia, off the town of Pori. Hankkila is in the northernmost corner of the Sorkka diabase, some 35 km south-southeast of Säppi, and Ämmänpelto is roughly the same distance east of Hankkila.

Sample		Fraction <sup>1</sup>	Concentration $\mu g/g$		<sup>206</sup> Pb	Isotopic of lead,	compositi <sup>206</sup> Pb = 1	on 00	Atomic ratios and radiometric ages, Ma			
No.		d=density, g/cm3			<sup>204</sup> Pb				<sup>206</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	
		Ø=grain size, µm	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb radiog.	measured	204	207	208	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>235</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb	
A562.	A56 A	62-Märket, Eckerö: d>4.0	olivine dial 688.4	base 125.30	887	.10698	9.756	73.280	.2104 ± 12 1230	2.391 ± 16 1239	.08244 ± 21 1256	
	В	3.8 <d<4.0 Ø&gt;130</d<4.0 	1038	182.47	1109	.08759	9.464	77.855	.2032 ± 12 1192	2.305 ± 14 1213	.08225 ± 10 1251	
	С	3.8 <d<4.0 70&lt;Ø&lt;130</d<4.0 	971.2	171.88	930	.10464	9.716	78.387	.2045 ± 12 1199	2.323 ± 15 1219	.08237 ± 20 1254	
	D	3.6 <d<3.8 light-coloured</d<3.8 	1156	190.58	671.5	.14613	10.218	79.859	.1905 ± 11 1123	2.140 ± 15 1161	.08150 ± 25 1233	
A784	A78 A	4–Säppi, Luvia: meg 4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;160</d<4.2 	gaophitic ol 935.3	livine diat 166.96	4162	.02075	8.463	51.830	.2063 ± 11 1209	2.324 ± 13 1219	.08170 ± 11 1238	
1	В	d>4.2; Ø>70	588.3	106.32	3579	.02436	8.618	40.432	.2089 ± 11 1222	2.383 ± 14 1237	.08274 ± 12 1263	
	С	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;160</d<4.2 	968.2	175.29	5205	.01687	8.481	51.491	.2092 ± 11 1224	2.378 ± 13 1235	.08242 ± 8 1255	
1	D	baddeleyite	252.7	46.50	4205	.02097	8.576	2.388	.2127 ± 16 1242	2.428 ± 20 1250	.08280 ± 14 1264	
A7857	478 4	5-Säppi, Luvia: meg 4.0 <d<4.2< td=""><td>gaophitic ol 970.0</td><td>ivine diab 174.36</td><td>3960</td><td>.01931</td><td>8.520</td><td>68.567</td><td>.2077 ± 11 1216</td><td>2.362 ± 14 1231</td><td>.08247 ± 16 1256</td></d<4.2<>	gaophitic ol 970.0	ivine diab 174.36	3960	.01931	8.520	68.567	.2077 ± 11 1216	2.362 ± 14 1231	.08247 ± 16 1256	
1	В	3.8 <d<4.0 Ø&gt;70</d<4.0 	1357	234.97	5319	.01474	8.413	74.516	.2002 ± 11 1176	2.265 ± 13 1201	.08205 ± 11 1246	
(	2	3.6 <d<3.8 Ø&gt;70</d<3.8 	1450	234.36	2968	.02958	8.564	77.802	.1868 ± 10 1103	2.098 ± 12 1148	.08145 ± 11 1232	
A786A	4/8	6-Sappi, Luvia: meg d>4.2; Ø>160	aophilic ol 502.8	90.45	2169	.04151	8.878	41.688	.2079 ± 11 1217	2.377 ± 14 1235	.08291 ± 15 1267	
Η	3	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;160</d<4.2 	770.4	136.81	1568	.05996	9.069	50.732	.2053 ± 11 1203	2.327 ± 14 1220	.08222 ± 19 1250	

Table 3. U-Pb isotopic data on Postjotnian olivine diabases.

Table 3.	(continued)									
A786C	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;160</d<4.2 	808.0	143.73	1538	.06206	9.086	51.543	.2056 ± 11 1205	2.327 ± 13 1220	.08208 ± 12 1247
A9 A975A	975–Hankkila, Euraj 4.2 <d<4.6< td=""><td>oki: olivine 411.3</td><td>diabase po 74.88</td><td>egmatoid 1666</td><td>.05492</td><td>8.984</td><td>74.356</td><td>.2104 ± 11 1231</td><td>2.381 ± 15 1236</td><td>.08207 ± 19 1247</td></d<4.6<>	oki: olivine 411.3	diabase po 74.88	egmatoid 1666	.05492	8.984	74.356	.2104 ± 11 1231	2.381 ± 15 1236	.08207 ± 19 1247
В	4.0 <d<4.2< td=""><td>774.0</td><td>139.21</td><td>1760</td><td>.05399</td><td>8.983</td><td>82.808</td><td>.2079 ± 18 1217</td><td>2.356 ± 23 1229</td><td>.08220 ± 34 1250</td></d<4.2<>	774.0	139.21	1760	.05399	8.983	82.808	.2079 ± 18 1217	2.356 ± 23 1229	.08220 ± 34 1250
С	3.8 <d<4.0< td=""><td>1222</td><td>214.35</td><td>1416</td><td>.07011</td><td>9.175</td><td>91.606</td><td>.2028 ± 15 1190</td><td>2.288 ± 18 1208</td><td>.08183 ± 20 1241</td></d<4.0<>	1222	214.35	1416	.07011	9.175	91.606	.2028 ± 15 1190	2.288 ± 18 1208	.08183 ± 20 1241
D	baddeleyite	264.1	49.10	4298	.02077	8.551	4.183	.2149 ± 32 1254	2.447 ± 37 1256	.08258 ± 11 1259
E	d>4.0; abr 5 h	722.4	131.85	1148	.08496	9.450	82.864	.2110 ± 17 1233	2.399 ± 20 1242	.08250 ± 16 1257
A9	74–Ämmänpelto, K	auttua: olivi	ine diabase	e pegmato	oid 01574	P 440	44.156			08226
A9/4A	4.0 <d<4.2< td=""><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>0333</td><td>.015/4</td><td>8.449</td><td>44.156</td><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>.08226</td></d<4.2<>	-	-	0333	.015/4	8.449	44.156	-	-	.08226
В	baddeleyite	268.6	48.72	6234	.01333	8.451	2.124	.2097 ± 12 1227	2.388 ± 14 1239	.08263 ± 11 1260
Δ7	31-Svall Korsnäs (1	Moikinää ai	rea). mega	ophitic di	abase					
A731A	total	907.6	159.68	1432	.06898	9.244	69.843	.2034 ± 11 1193	2.319 ± 15 1217	.08270 ± 28 1262
В	baddeleyite	153.3	28.59	1100	.08298	9.559	7.575	.2156 ± 16 1258	2.493 ± 21 1269	.08388 ± 27 1290
Δ7	32-Norrarynnan K	orenäs (Mo	ikinää ares	a). megao	phitic diab	ace				
A732A	d>4.2; Ø>70	486.8	85.62	1566	.05516	9.048	60.950	.2033 ± 11 1192	2.317 ± 15 1217	.08268 ± 24 1261
В	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;130</d<4.2 	843.9	143.07	829	.11709	9.925	66.945	.1959 ± 10 1153	2.234 ± 14 1191	.08271 ± 21 1262
С	4.0 <d<4.2 70&lt;Ø&lt;130</d<4.2 	791.8	134.11	630.9	.15513	10.410	71.649	.1958 ± 10 1152	2.218 ± 12 1186	.08217 ± 13 1249
D	3.8 <d<4.0 Ø&gt;70</d<4.0 	1154	179.25	568.9	.17209	10.642	72.155	.1795 ± 9 1064	2.031 ± 12 1126	.08209 ± 21 1247

A732E	3.6 <d<3.8 Ø&gt;70</d<3.8 	1100	164.41	546.1	.17895	10.687	73.423	.1727 ± 9	1.942 ± 12	.08155 ± 25
F	4.0 <d<4.2 70&lt;Ø&lt;130</d<4.2 	818.1	138.04	631.0	.15487	10.408	72.457	1026 .1950 ± 10 1148	1095 2.210 ± 26 1184	.08218 ± 77 1250
A7.	33–Norrgrynnan.	Korsnäs (Mo	ikipää area	): spotted	l diabase					
A733A	3.8 <d<4.0< td=""><td>1044</td><td>173.80</td><td>3647</td><td>.02460</td><td>8.522</td><td>83.454</td><td>.1925 ± 10 1134</td><td>2.169 ± 12 1171</td><td>.08174 ± 15 1239</td></d<4.0<>	1044	173.80	3647	.02460	8.522	83.454	.1925 ± 10 1134	2.169 ± 12 1171	.08174 ± 15 1239
The	the following decay $DC^{238}U = 1.15$ $DC^{235}U = 9.84$ atomic ratio <sup>238</sup>	constants (DC 5125 x $10^{-10}$ 85 x $10^{-10}/a$ U/ $^{235}$ U = 13	C) were use //a 7.88	ed (Steige	er & Jäger	1977):				
<sup>1</sup> al <sup>2</sup> re bor HF	ll fractions are zin ecalculated from ax = borax fusion = preleached in	con unless otl Vaasjoki (197 hydrofluoric a	nerwise ind 7) cid	licated						

Table 3. (continued)

14

cr = crushed material, powder preleached in 1:1 HNO<sub>3</sub> abr = air abraded

abr quartz = abraded with quartz

abr diamond = abraded with diamond paste

Errors in atomic ratios refer to two last significant digits.

The sampling sites on Säppi are on the northwestern shore of the island. The olivine diabase is a differentiated sill (Eskola 1936, Inkinen 1963) showing several varieties. All the types are coarsegrained and exhibit clear contacts with each other. Igneous layering is met with in some places on the northern shore of Säppi. No contacts with the country rocks have been found.

For the age determinations, samples were taken from the megaophitic variety (see Fig. 5), which occurs as lenticular bodies, often with sharp, loop-formed contacts (see Fig. 6 and 7) to the adjacent olivine diabase. Eskola (1936) considered them pipes, but they are more likely inhomogeneity pockets such as occur in cast iron. They seem to be comagmatic, like the pegmatoids in the gabbros of the Tammisaari area (Hopgood et al. 1983), and free from country-rock assimilation.

The normal type of olivine diabase contains ca. 14 % olivine (Inkinen 1963), but the megaophitic variety lacks olivine (Eskola 1936). The other constituents are the same, and are irregularly distributed within the megaophitic bodies (see Figs. 5, 6 and 7).

On the northern shore of Säppi the main type is pyroxene diabase, but pegmatoids with K-feldspar also occur. The pyroxene diabase exhibits a fluidal parallel orientation around these pegmatoids but since they may have assimilated material from the country rock they were not sampled.

When the Säppi diabases were sampled for the first time, the lightest type, which is the richest in plagioclase (see Fig. 8) and occurs in a homogeneous part of the »spotty diabase» (Inkinen 1963), was chosen. However, it yielded a baddeleyite concentrate and very little zircon; the normal olivine-bearing type also produced only scant zircon. New samples were collected from the palest parts of the megaophitic diabase pegmatoid pockets, where the plagioclase laths are commonly 2 cm, often 5 cm, long.

The main minerals are plagioclase (An 60),



Fig. 5. Megaophitic diabase pegmatite (A785) on the western shore of Säppi. Glacial polished surface. Photo Helena Halme.

augite and ilmenite + magnetite. The accessory minerals include apatite, zircon and baddeleyite. For chemical analyses and modes, see Eskola (1936), Inkinen (1963) and Suominen (1987a).

The zircons analysed from samples A784, A785 and A786 are mostly fragments of large, short (length/breadth = L/B ratio 1—2), trans-

parent prisms with a zonal growth structure (see Fig. 9).

The analytical data are given in Table 3. The upper intercept age for the data points of the zircon fractions in a concordia diagram (see Fig. 10) for Säppi is  $1264 \pm 12$  Ma. The data point of the A784 D baddeleyite falls on the regression line.



Fig. 6. Loop contact between megaophitic diabase pegmatoid (A786) and olivine diabase on the western shore of Säppi. Length of ruler 20 cm. Photo Veli Suominen.



Fig. 7. Unevenly distributed light and dark minerals in megaophitic pegmatoid diabase on the western shore of Säppi. Photo Veli Suominen.



Fig. 8. Coarse-grained ophitic olivine diabase, »spotty diabase», containing baddeleyite and scant zircon. Diameter of coin 2.4 cm. Säppi, northwestern shore. Photo Veli Suominen.



SÄPPI 0.25 1350 △ □ A784 0 A785 206Pb / 238U  $1264 \pm 12$ + A786 120 1100 C 317±193Ma В 0.15 1.8 2.0 2.6 2.8 207Pb / 235U

Fig. 9. Microphotographs (reflected light) of HF-etched zoned zircon crystals from sample A786 of the Säppi diabase. Length of zoned fragment 0.3 mm. Photo Veli Suominen.

Fig. 10. Isotope ratios and age of zircon fractions from the megaophitic diabase of Säppi. The data point for A784D-baddeleyite is marked with a triangle.

#### Hankkila, Eurajoki

The sample from the olivine diabase of Hankkila, Eurajoki (A975) is a pegmatoidic variety of coarse-grained olivine diabase. Hankkila is located in the northernmost part of the flatlying Sorkka diabase, which covers an area of 24 km<sup>2</sup>. The olivine diabase overlies the Eurajoki rapakivi granite (Haapala 1977).

The Hankkila diabase has been described by A. Laitakari (1925) and the palingenic contact phenomena have been discussed by A. Laitakari (1928) and Kahma (1951). The diabase represents the same type as the other olivine diabases in the Satakunta area. According to A. Laitakari (1928), the composition of the flat-lying diabases is like that of the steeply dipping dykes. The main constituents are labradorite, olivine, brownish violet augite, ilmenite, magnetite and biotite. The ophitic texture of the coarse-grained diabase is well developed. For chemical analyses, see Rämö (1990).

The zircon crystals in density fraction 3.8-4.0 g/cm<sup>3</sup> from sample A975 are translucent, white fragments of large crystals. The baddeleyite crystals are translucent, reddish brown, long monoclinic needles with characteristic striae on the prism faces.

The five data points (Fig. 11) plotted on a con-



Fig. 11. Concordia plot for zircon fractions from the Hankkila diabase pegmatoid, northernmost part of Sorkka diabase.

cordia diagram yield an upper intercept age of  $1258 \pm 13$  Ma and a lower intercept of  $384 \pm 307$  Ma. For analytical data, see Table 3. If the data point for the Ämmänpelto (A974) baddeleyite is included, the corresponding ages are  $1264 \pm 25$  Ma and  $462 \pm 434$  Ma.

The Rb-Sr age of biotite,  $1263 \pm 18$  Ma (see Table 16) of the Sorkka diabase in Satakunta is more compatible with the U-Pb results than is the K-Ar age of 970 Ma earlier reported for the Sorkka and Säppi diabases by Savolahti (1964).

#### Ämmänpelto, Eura

In this study the Eura diabases are represented by the Ämmänpelto diabase in Kauttua. Sample A974 is a diabase pegmatoid, but the zircon content is so low that only one zircon fraction could be analysed. This sample contains abundant baddeleyite, which occurs as acicular, red-brown, translucent crystals.

The analysis of the only zircon fraction of A974 gave a  $^{207}$ Pb/ $^{206}$ Pb age of 1252 Ma (see Table 3). The Rb-Sr biotite age of the nearby Kiperinoja sample is  $1251 \pm 18$  Ma (Dr O. van Breemen, pers. communication)

#### Moikipää, Korsnäs

Moikipää is the collective name of two small islands, Svall and Norrgrynnan, which here represent the well preserved Postjotnian diabases in the Vaasa archipelago described by Saksela (1933), A. Laitakari (1942), Nykänen (1960b) and Aro (1987).

The diabases in the Moikipää area and on the island of Säppi are petrographically very alike. Mafic pegmatoids are a common feature (Nykänen 1960b). The Ulvö diabases, about 125 km west of Moikipää, are similar in composition and texture, but well developed magmatic layering has not been met with on the Finnish side (cf. Lundqvist and Samuelsson 1973, Lundqvist 1979, 1990, Larson 1973, 1980).

As shown by the geological sketch map (Fig. 12), the diabase dykes in the Moikipää area cut

the mica gneisses at a low angle.

All the types of diabase encountered in the area are medium to coarse-grained and ophitic in texture. The main constituents are zoned plagioclase (An 40—70), monoclinic and rhombic pyroxenes, olivine, magnetite and ilmenite. Amphiboles, biotite, apatite, titanite, sulphides, zircon and baddeleyite occur as accessory minerals.

The diabase pegmatoids are very similar to the megaophitic diabase pegmatoids on Säppi and, like them, are without olivine but contain hornblende. Individual plagioclase laths are often 5 cm long. For chemical analyses and modes, see



Fig. 12. Geology around the Moikipää olivine diabase dykes. Simplified after Nykänen (1960a).

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356

Nykänen (1960b) and Aro (1987).

20

The olivine diabase on Svall is medium to coarse-grained with ophitic texture. Sample A731 was taken from a megaophitic lens in the southwestern corner of the island. The zircon crystals from the sample are large, long (L/B ratio 4—6), prismatic, sharp-edged, transparent or translucent and show a faint pinkish tint. A dull core is visible in some crystals. Baddeleyite has the same grain size and the same, or an even more acicular, habit.

The main rock type on Norrgrynnan is a medium to coarse-grained ophitic olivine diabase enclosing a megaophitic diabase pegmatoid (sample A732). The zircons from sample A732 are small, translucent, milky white or clear, transparent, acicular prisms with L/B ratio 3—6.

In the middle of Norrgrynnan, the ophitic, coarse-grained diabase is paler and resembles the »spotted diabase» on Säppi; sample A733, which contains abundant baddeleyite, is of this type. The zircon crystals from sample A733 are small, acicular, simple prisms. They are transparent, faint pinkish or milky white and translucent. The baddeleyite crystals are long needles.

The isotopic data are given in Table 3.

The U-Pb daughter/parent ratios plotted on a concordia diagram yield an age of  $1268 \pm 13$  Ma (Fig. 13). This is consistent with the Rb-Sr age of biotite,  $1253 \pm 18$  Ma (Dr Otto van Breemen,



Fig. 13. Concordia diagram for U-Pb isotope ratios of zircon fractions from diabase pegmatoids A731-Svall (triangle is for baddeleyite), A732-Norrgrynnan and »spotty diabase»
A733-Norrgrynnan in the Moikipää area. The age given is for zircon fractions only. If baddeleyite were included, the upper intersection would be 1275±15 Ma.

pers. communication) and the palaeomagnetic results of Neuvonen (1965 and 1966). The K-Ar age (isochron for whole rock, biotite, K-feldspar, plagioclase and pyroxene) of the diabases in the nearby Nordingrå area in Sweden is 1215 Ma (Welin and Lundqvist 1975, Welin 1980). The palaeomagnetic directions of the Vaasa and Ulvö diabases are the same (Magnusson and Larson 1977, Magnusson 1983).

#### SUBJOTNIAN FORMATIONS

The Subjotnian formations in southwestern Finland comprise diabase dykes, rapakivi granites, anorthosites and quartz porphyry dykes. The abundance of anorthosite is very low compared with that in other rapakivi areas. The diabases, rapakivi granites and other associated rocks must be older than the Jotnian sandstones, which overlie them in places and are cut by the Postjotnian diabases. Of the plutonic rock formations in southern Finland, the rapakivi granites cover large areas. To establish the age relations between these rocks a number of age determinations were made to supplement the field observations, which, owing to the lack of contact relations, were scarce at their best.

# The Föglö pyroxene diabase dyke set

The large Föglö dyke consists of a tholeiitic set, 35 km long, occurring en echelon (Suominen

1980, 1981) in outcrops where the widest dykes reach 300 m. The Föglö dykes lie 11 km east of



Fig. 14. Geology around the en-echelon pyroxene diabase dyke set in Föglö, Åland islands with sampling sites. Simplified after Suominen (1980, 1981).

the Åland rapakivi intrusion, subparallel to its eastern contact, and 8—10 km northwest of the Kökarsfjärden rapakivi pluton (see Fig. 14). In its northernmost outcrop, the Föglö diabase cuts the  $1788 \pm 11$  Ma old (Welin et al. 1983) granite intrusion of Mosshaga. The country rock of the Föglö diabase dykes is usually a Svecofennian granodiorite of  $1899 \pm 8$  Ma age, as reported later in this paper (A563-Algersö) and in Welin et al. (1983). Interesting parts of the Föglö dyke are encountered on the islands of Källsholm and Bergskär. The Föglö dyke set is of special interest due to its coarse-grained varieties and zircon content providing material for age determination. In the course of a hundred years this dyke set has drawn geologists' attention to the large outcrops. Petrography has profited a good deal, but the age relations are still less well understood than those of other intrusions of assumed Subjotnian age.

Frosterus (1893), who was the first to describe this diabase, considered it younger than the Åland rapakivi. Later, however, Sederholm (1934), who termed it ossipite, and Hausen (1964) stated that a pre-rapakivi age was more correct.

Table 4. Chemical composition of the pyroxene diabase of Föglö (Nos. 1 - 2) and the olivine diabase of Märket (Nos. 3 - 4), and CIPW norms. Oxides in weight %, elements in ppm. Analyst: Pentti Ojanperä.

	1	2	3	4		1	2	3	4
SiO	52.23	53.18	44.43	46.48	0	4.22	7.67	_	_
TiO,	1.43	1.94	4.60	3.92	or	6.60	9.97	5.12	7.83
Al <sub>2</sub> Õ <sub>3</sub>	17.20	15.01	11.85	12.90	ab	24.90	24.65	22.07	28.96
Fe <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub>	2.07	2.67	5.77	4.70	an	31.12	23.81	18.67	16.58
FeO	8.45	9.43	12.06	12.81	di en	2.03	1.83	6.88	3.49
MnO	0.12	0.14	0.30	0.29	fs	2.28	2.73	5.61	5.63
MgO	4.17	3.28	4.98	3.41	wo	4.36	4.53	12.90	9.00
CaO	8.57	7.28	10.20	8.27	mt	3.05	3.96	8.52	6.94
Na <sub>2</sub> O	2.90	2.85	2.56	3.36	il	2.76	3.77	8.90	7.58
K <sub>2</sub> O	1.10	1.65	0.85	1.30	ap	0.58	0.82	0.80	1.42
$P_2O_5$	0.24	0.34	0.33	0.59	Z	-	-	0.02	0.03
CO,	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	sal	66.84	66.10	45.86	53.37
$H_2\tilde{O}^+$	1.16	1.78	1.09	1.09	fem	15.06	17.64	43.63	34.09
$H_2O^-$	0.10	0.20	0.33	0.61	Qu	11.81	18.14	-	
Sum	99.74	99.75	99.34	99.92	Or	18.48	23.58	18.83	21.28
					Ab100	69.71	58.29	81.17	78.72
Sc	45	40			Qu	6.31	11.60	-	-
V	160	190			Or	9.88	15.08	11.16	14.66
Cr	115	85			Ab	37.25	37.29	48.12	54.27
Со	43	41			An100	46.56	36.02	40.72	31.07
Ni	76	74			100				
Cu	56	84							
Ga	32	36							
Y	340	210							
Mo	10	10							
Zn	1700	2300							
SN	3	3							
Pb	10	11							
A 1	0 1	N	I P			0.11			
Analysis No.	Sample	No.	Locality	Map s	heet	Grid coord	inates		
1.	355/LE	M/15	Föglö	1014	04	6659.40-1	479.42		
2.	351/LE	M/15	Föglö	1014	04	6659.18-1	479.22		
3.	I/VOS,	/16	Märket	0043	07	6688.24-1	563.00		
4.	2/VOS	//6	Märket	0043	07	6688.25-1	562.90		

The grid coordinates refer to the Finnish national grid.

Eskola (1963) wrote, »The Föglö dike is believed to be of pre-rapakivi age as are the intrusions of gabbros, ossipites and anorthosites around the Åland rapakivi area.»

The Föglö diabase exhibits variations in both texture and composition. In colour, it is a dark brownish grey although some light, coarsegrained portions also exist. Ophitic types predominate.

The main constituents are plagioclase (An 45—50), augite, chlorite, magnetite, ilmenite and apatite. Olivine occur in the most fine-grained types (randomly distributed), biotite, hornblende, quartz, epidote and K-feldspar. Titanite, zircon and baddeleyite are the accessory minerals. Zircon and quartz occur together.

Although the Föglö dykes are postmetamorphic, the diabase is to some extent altered. Plagioclase is sericitized, pyroxene is partly altered to hornblende, and the very rare olivine to iddingsite and serpentine. Biotite is chloritized (for modes see Suominen 1987a). The chemical composition (see Table 4) is clearly different from that of the Postjotnian Märket diabase and the Häme dykes (see Rämö 1990). Note that the Föglö dyke is quartz normative. The chemical composition resembles that of the labradorporphyrites of Someri (Sommarö), an island in the Gulf of Finland, at the southern margin of the Wiborg rapakivi batholith, and that of Öster-Höggrund, west of the Åland rapakivi intrusion (Wahl 1938).

For radiometric dating, samples were collected from Källsholm (A793) and Bergskär (A658), on both of which islands chilled aphanitic contacts are visible. Some metres from the contact the rock is, however, medium to coarse-grained and ophitic in texture. Samples A658 and A793 are from plagioclase-rich parts (see Figs. 15 and 16) that may represent autoliths. There are no clear contacts between the autoliths and the normal type of diabase (see Fig. 15). Near the autoliths, there are often large angular megacrysts of plagioclase with the same An content as the plagioclase in the autoliths. This shows that the diabase crystallized slowly, with a state of equilibrium prevailing between the megacrysts and the matrix (Mäkipää 1979).

The zircon crystals are large, long (L/B ratio 4-6), transparent or translucent, simple prisms



Fig. 15. Contact between normal coarsegrained ophitic pyroxene diabase and the plagioclase-enriched autolithic pocket (A658) on the western shore of Bergskär, Föglö. Compass plate 6.5 × 10.7 cm. Photo Veli Suominen.



Fig. 16. Partly rounded and corroded plagioclase crystals in the autolithic diabase pegmatoid (A793) on Källsholm, Föglö. Photo Veli Suominen.

with pyramid faces developed at the terminations. In some crystals the pyramid is obtuse angled, and in some there is a dull growth nucleus. Baddeleyite occurs within the zircons. The zircon grains in the fractions analysed are often fragments of large crystals.

For analytical data, see Table 5. A concordia plot of the U-Pb isotope ratios yields an age of  $1577 \pm 12$  Ma for sample A793-Källsholm alone (baddeleyite excluded from calculations; see Fig. 17a). The data points of the Bergskär sample, A658, do not form a coherent chord (see Fig. 17b). Linear regression of nine zircon fractions out of ten gives an intercept on the concordia curve of  $1540 \pm 12$  Ma (2 sigma). The point for zircon fraction bE (density 4.0-4.2 g/cm<sup>3</sup>) plots near the chord of sample A793 and was omitted. The uranium content of this fraction is the lowest and the density correspondingly the highest found in sample A658. The most concordant abraded fraction, bJ, is the next most dense (3.8-4.0 g/cm<sup>3</sup>) and plots between the two chords. In addition, the total fraction, aA, which was only analysed for the isotopic composition on lead, yields a <sup>207</sup>Pb/<sup>206</sup>Pb age of 1558 Ma, which is as high as that of fraction bE and higher than that of the bulk of sample A793. The scatter of the remaining data points about the chord of  $1540 \pm 12$  Ma (2-sigma), however, is no greater than the analytical error. The two trajectories denoting ages of  $1540 \pm 12$  and  $1577 \pm 12$  Ma are insufficient to explain the age relation between the Åland rapakivi and the Föglö mafic dyke, because the Bergskär sample has some fractions older than 1540 Ma, thus suggesting that at least part of the Bergskär dyke is coeval with Källsholm, which, on the other hand, gives the same age as the Aland rapakivi (see later in this study).



Fig. 17a. Concordia plot for zircon (Zr) and baddeleyite (B) fractions from pyroxene diabases A658-Bergskär, A793-Källsholm and A371-Vidskär in Föglö, and from anorthositic pyroxene diabases A792-Västersten in Hammarland and A796-Höggrund in Eckerö.

The lower intercept of the Bergskär chord is higher than that of the Källsholm sample. Finally there is evidence of later disturbance during tectonic movements along the fracture line immediately west of Bergskär. The chord for the four baddeleyite fractions from three different samples yields an age of  $1569 \pm 3$  Ma (see Fig. 17a). The data point of the baddeleyite fraction of the Bergskär sample lies below the regression line for zircons (see Fig. 17b) thus showing that the zircon fraction bE and the baddeleyite fraction are older and have not been affected by tectonic movements.

The Rb-Sr whole-rock age for the Vidskär sample of the Föglö dyke set is  $1523 \pm 34$  Ma, and for the Tvigoskär samples of the same dyke set  $1556 \pm 34$  Ma (Dr O. van Breemen, pers. communication).

It is known from the contact relations that the olivine diabase dyke swarm of Häme (Fig. 1) is older than the rapakivi of Wiborg and its satellite plutons. This is particularly clear in Lovasjärvi, where the dyke and the Wiborg rapakivi (Siivola 1977, 1987, Rämö 1990) give the same age for the dyke and rapakivi within the limits of error. However, the Wiborg rapakivi clearly cuts the mafic dyke. The intrusion of the Häme olivine diabase dyke swarm is in temporal and



Fig. 17b. Concordia diagram for the U-Pb ratios of zircon and baddeleyite fractions of the A658-Bergskär sample of the Föglö dyke set.

causal connection with the intrusion of the Wiborg rapakivi batholith (I. Laitakari 1969, 1987, Haapala 1985, Siivola 1987, Vaasjoki and Sakko 1989).

The Breven dyke in Sweden resembles the

Sample		Fraction <sup>1</sup>	Concentration µg/g		<sup>206</sup> Pb	Isotopic composition of lead, $^{206}$ Pb = 100			Atomic ratios and radiometric ages, Ma			
No.		d=density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>	238 <sub>11</sub>	206 Pb	<sup>204</sup> Pb				<sup>206</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	
		gram size, µm	0	radiog.	measured	204	207	208	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>235</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb	
A65	A65 8aA	58–Bergskär, Föglö: total	pyroxene d -	iabase pe -	gmatoid 3498	.02860	10.047	39.196	-	-	.09651 ± 9 1558	
	aB	total	2538	512.86	2230	.04355	9.962	41.608	.2335 ± 12 1352	3.012 ± 17 1410	.09356 ± 17 1499	
	bC	3.6 <d<3.8 Ø&gt;70</d<3.8 	2354	489.62	3340	.02785	9.730	41.259	.2404 ± 12 1388	3.096 ± 17 1431	.09343 ± 8 1496	
	bD	3.5 <d<3.6 Ø&gt;70</d<3.6 	2450	366.62	1295	.07450	9.846	43.530	.1730 ± 9 1028	2.099 ± 12 1148	.08802 ± 9 1383	
	bE	4.0 <d<4.2< td=""><td>1086</td><td>225.54</td><td>1774</td><td>.05237</td><td>10.362</td><td>34.111</td><td>.2400 ± 16 1386</td><td>3.189 ± 23 1454</td><td>.09635 ± 22 1554</td></d<4.2<>	1086	225.54	1774	.05237	10.362	34.111	.2400 ± 16 1386	3.189 ± 23 1454	.09635 ± 22 1554	
	bF	3.6 <d<3.8 abr</d<3.8 	2128	472.79	2641	.03598	9.987	43.724	.2568 ± 15 1473	3.359 ± 21 1494	.09487 ± 16 1525	
	bG	3.5 <d<3.6 abr</d<3.6 	2442	428.45	1696	.05821	9.846	44.876	.2028 ± 33 1190	2.526 ± 42 1279	.09033 ± 25 1432	
	bH	3.6 <d<3.8 abr</d<3.8 	2196	406.99	1262	.07816	10.217	43.982	.2142 ± 13 1251	2.695 ± 22 1327	.09126 ± 43 1452	
	bI	3.6 <d<3.8 cr</d<3.8 	2113	418.28	4370	.02143	9.596	43.832	.2288 ± 14 1328	2.933 ± 20 1390	.09298 ± 28 1487	
	bJ	3.8 <d<4.0 abr</d<4.0 	1509	343.23	1494	.06616	10.526	40.195	.2629 ± 17 1504	3.483 ± 25 1523	.09608 ± 26 1549	
	bK	3.5 <d<3.6 abr</d<3.6 	1647	309.25	1059	.09314	10.538	45.566	.2171 ± 14 1266	2.765 ± 20 1346	.09240 ± 27 1475	
	bL	baddeleyite	579.4	98.66	1109	.08904	10.940	6.042	.1968 ± 15 1158	2.633 ± 20 1309	.09705 ± 16 1568	
A79	A79 3A	3-Källsholm, Föglö: 4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;70</d<4.2 	pyroxene o 945.5	liabase pe 205.84	egmatoid 5149	.01749	9.874	36.596	.2516 ± 13 1446	3.341 ± 19 1490	.09632 ± 12 1554	

Table 5. U-Pb isotopic data on the Subjotnian pyroxene diabase of Föglö and the anorthosites of Västersten and Höggrund.

Table 5. (continued)

A793B	3.6 <d<3.8 Ø&gt;70</d<3.8 	1396	266.44	2814	.03324	9.890	40.244	.2206 ± 11 1285	2.868 ± 16 1373	.09428 ± 15 1513
С	d>3.8	784.8	169.08	1166	.07730	10.729	37.960	.2490 ± 13 1433	3.315 ± 21 1484	.09657 ± 23 1559
D	3.6 <d<3.8 Ø&gt;70 abr</d<3.8 	1371	300.92	1985	.04965	10.304	41.020	.2536 ± 14 1457	3.362 ± 20 1495	.09615 ± 14 1550
E	3.6 <d<3.8 Ø&gt;70 abr</d<3.8 	1480	332.67	2926	.03197	10.085	40.650	.2597 ± 14 1488	3.453 ± 19 1516	.09641 ± 15 1555
F	3.6 <d<3.8 cr</d<3.8 	1306	265.05	2323	.04173	10.142	38.686	.2346 ± 16 1358	3.093 ± 22 1430	.09563 ± 15 1540
G	3.6 <d<3.8< td=""><td>1430</td><td>274.35</td><td>1617</td><td>.06090</td><td>10.272</td><td>41.395</td><td>.2217 ± 13 1291</td><td>2.881 ± 22 1377</td><td>.09425 ± 41 1513</td></d<3.8<>	1430	274.35	1617	.06090	10.272	41.395	.2217 ± 13 1291	2.881 ± 22 1377	.09425 ± 41 1513
Н	baddeleyite	651.0	102.08	1625	.05856	10.520	5.802	.1812 ± 13 1073	2.426 ± 19 1250	.09709 ± 36 1569
Ι	baddeleyite	1402	312.92	2491	.03829	10.240	3.221	.2580 ± 18 1479	3.454 ± 27 1516	.09709 ± 28 1569
A37 A371A	71-Vidskär, Föglö: p 3.6 <d<4.0 abr</d<4.0 	yroxene dia 950.7	abase 176.70	949	.10375	10.714	74.214	.2148 ± 21 1254	2.745 ± 29 1340	.09269 ± 39 1481
A792- A792A	-Västersten, Hamma 3.5 <d<3.6< td=""><td>rland: anor 1463</td><td>thosite 232.90</td><td>804</td><td>.11483</td><td>10.608</td><td>47.450</td><td>.1839 ± 10 1088</td><td>2.283 ± 16 1207</td><td>.09003 ± 31 1426</td></d<3.6<>	rland: anor 1463	thosite 232.90	804	.11483	10.608	47.450	.1839 ± 10 1088	2.283 ± 16 1207	.09003 ± 31 1426
В	baddeleyite + zircon	433.1	92.706	809.4	.11711	11.338	10.288	.2474 ± 24 1424	3.313 ± 35 1484	.09715 ± 34 1570
A79	96-Höggrund, Ecker	ö: anorthos	ite							
A796A	3.6 <d<4.0 abr</d<4.0 	1232	248.86	3009	.02663	10.058	57.482	.2334 ± 15 1352	3.118 ± 28 1437	.09689 ± 52 1565

For symbols, see Table 3.

Föglö dykes. It is of the same 1560—1510 Ma age (Patchett 1978), and its geology, as described by Wikström (1985), has many similar features.

However, the Föglö dyke is not known to be associated with granophyres.

# The Västersten and Höggrund anorthositic varieties of pyroxene diabase

On Västersten, Danten and Östersten, three islands in Hammarland, southwest of the Åland rapakivi area, the most common rock type is a very coarse-grained anorthositic variety of pyroxene diabase (Bergman 1979, 1981). It was inferred to belong to the same age group as the Föglö dykes by Sederholm (1934), Eskola (1963) and Hausen (1964). Similar anorthositic diabases occur on several islands west and southwest of the Åland rapakivi complex (see Sederholm 1934, who called it ossipite). Hausen (1964) reported a cutting rapakivi dyke in anorthosite on Västersten. On Höggrund and Blåklobb quartz porphyry cuts the anorthositic diabase, but in some localities at the southern margin of the Åland rapakivi the contact relations are ambiguous (cf. Bergman 1981). The anorthositic rocks of the

Åland area are similar to the gabbro-anorthosites described from the Wiborg rapakivi area by Sederholm (1934), Wahl (1938), Savolahti (1956, 1966), Kranck (1968) and Tyrväinen (1986).

Sample A792 from Västersten was taken from the coarse-grained anorthositic variety shown in Fig. 18. The main constituents are plagioclase, hornblende (partly altered to chlorite), serpentine, opaque minerals and quartz. The accessory minerals include apatite, epidote, zircon and baddeleyite.

Much of the Västersten island consists of a very coarse-grained, breccia-like rock (see Fig. 19) with rounded plagioclase fragments 20—40 cm in diameter. It is probably an autolithic breccia.

The zircon grains of sample A792 are dull,



Fig. 18. Anorthositic pyroxene diabase (A792) dated from the western shore of Västersten, Hammarland, Åland islands. Length of tag 12 cm. Photo Veli Suominen.



Fig. 19. Rounded autolithic anorthosite pegmatite fragments on the northwestern shore of Västersten. Length of tag 12 cm. Photo Veli Suominen.

translucent fragments of large crystals.

The single zircon fraction analysed from Västersten seems to fall within the data points on the best-fit lines of the Källsholm and Bergskär dykes. Hence, it is highly probable that the age is 1540—1577 Ma (see Fig. 17a). The zircon crystals are light coloured. For analytical data, see Table 5. The data-point of A792-Västersten does not fall on any rapakivi or quartz porphyry chord of the Åland area. The thorium content is slightly higher than that in the other pyroxene diabases and quartz porphyry samples analysed, and clearly higher than that in the Ylijärvi, Ylämaa anorthosite, Wiborg batholith (see Table 10), as indicated by the <sup>208</sup>Pb/<sup>206</sup>Pb ratio. The

closest is the Åva quartz porphyry on Källholm.

To check whether the zircon fractions of the anorthosites are different from those of the diabases, the hafnium, yttrium and zirconium contents in the zircons from the anorthosites of Västersten and Ylämaa, the pyroxene diabase of Föglö and the olivine diabase of Säppi were analysed with an electron microprobe. The analyses were carried out on the central parts of the undamaged crystals where no inclusions were visible. For the analytical results and  $HfO_2/ZrO_2$  and  $Y_2O_3/ZrO_2$  ratios, see Table 6. There does not seem to be any clear characteristic difference between the zircon crystals analysed.

Table 6. Electron microprobe analyses on zircons from the Västersten anorthosite (A792), Föglö pyroxene diabase (A658b and A793), Säppi olivine diabase (A785) and Ylämaa anorthosite (spectrolite quarry) (A119). Analyst: Anu Karessuo.

Sample	Anal.	SiO <sub>2</sub>	FeO	CaO	$ZrO_2$	HfO <sub>2</sub>	Y	Σ	$\mathrm{HfO}_{2}/\mathrm{ZrO}_{2}$	$Y_2O_3/ZrO_2$
A658b	1	32.2	0.05	0.45	61.5	1.30	0.30	95.86	0.0211	0.0048
	2	32.2	0.01		64.1	1.09	0.86	98.39	0.0170	0.0134
A793	1	32.4	-	0.01	65.2	1.34	0.53	99.52	0.0205	0.0081
	2	33.1	0.05	-	64.2	1.57	0.16	99.23	0.0244	0.0024
	3	31.7	0.09	-	63.4	1.48	0.65	97.48	0.0233	0.0102
	4	32.6	0.04	0.10	61.4	1.52	0.21	95.92	0.0247	0.0034
	5	32.9		-	65.7	1.28	0.43	100.43	0.0194	0.0065
	6	32.3	-	-	65.3	1.39	0.47	99.57	0.0212	0.0071
A792	1	29.0	-	1.18	52.8	1.16	2.04	86.26	0.0219	0.0386
	2	29.2	_	3.29	55.3	1.07	0.46	89.41	0.0193	0.0083
	3	29.9	-	4.59	53.0	0.84	0.43	88.96	0.0158	0.0081
A785	1	32.9	-	-	62.5	1.07	1.92	98.41	0.0171	0.0307
	2	34.4	-	-	63.3	1.56	1.34	100.80	0.0246	0.0211
	3	32.8	0.05	-	62.0	1.39	2.23	98.67	0.0224	0.0359
	4	32.4	0.01	-	64.1	1.22	1.88	99.67	0.0190	0.0293
A119	1	33.3	-	0.05	65.9	1.33	0.02	100.63	0.0201	0.0003
	2	33.1	-	0.01	65.5	1.27	0.10	100.04	0.0193	0.0015
	3	33.2		-	65.4	1.22	0.77	100.04	0.0186	0.0117
	4	33.3	-	0.01	66.6	1.12	0.00	101.20	0.0168	_
-	5	33.5	0.01		66.1	1.37	0.00	101.04	0.0207	-

#### Hornblende diabases in the southwestern archipelago of Finland

The Aland area would appear to have undergone at least three different periods of postmetamorphic mafic dyke intrusion. The third type, discussed here only briefly, comprises the fine to medium-grained ophitic hornblende diabase dykes that abound in the archipelago of southwestern Finland and were earlier called trapdiabases (Sederholm 1927, 1934, Ehlers and Ehlers 1977). Sederholm (1927) considered the hornblende diabases older than the rapakivi granites. The multiple intrusion of hornblende diabases, as described by Ehlers and Ehlers (1977), indicates the existence of diabases of different ages, although the age difference may be only slight.

On Kungsholm, Jomala, a hornblende diabase dyke cuts the rapakivi of Åland (Bergman 1981). The diabase contains very little zircon and, what is worse, the fraction with the few zircon grains obtained was contaminated, some of the zircon grains obviously deriving from the country rock. Because of the low zircon content and the lack of mafic coarse-grained varieties in this type of diabase, U-Pb dating was not possible.

The type area of the hornblende diabase dykes is Kumlinge (Ehlers and Ehlers 1977). The Kokläpp (near Börsskär, Kumlinge) dykes form a typical, small dyke set striking NE-SW and dipping steeply.

The Rb-Sr whole-rock age of the Kumlinge dykes is  $1599 \pm 26$  Ma (see Table 16). According to the palaeomagnetic studies of Neuvonen (1978), the Kumlinge dykes are of 1650 Ma age and, according to Pesonen et al. (1985), their palaeomagnetic poles plot on the Subjotnian loop (1650—1300 Ma), close to the Åland rapakivi poles of the apparent polar wander curve (Bylund and Pesonen 1987).

The pyroxene diabase on Korsö, Brändö, south of the Åva intrusion (Springert 1951, Neuvonen 1970, Ehlers and Ehlers 1978, 1981), yielded an age of 1600 Ma with the Rb-Sr whole-rock method (Dr O. van Breemen pers. communication). These figures permit some earlier stratigraphic standpoints and palaeomagnetic results to be re-evaluated.

The age obtained for the Föglö dykes with the

#### Quartz porphyry dykes in the Aland area

The rock association of rapakivi granite, quartz porphyry dykes and diabases in the southwestern archipelago of Finland has been discussed by Sederholm (1934), Kaitaro (1953), Bergman (1981) and Ehlers and Bergman (1984). Vaasjoki (1977) assumes that the quartz porphyry dykes near the Åland rapakivi intrusions are associated with the main phase of the Åland rapakivi.

#### Blåklobb, Eckerö

The quartz porphyry on the small island of Blåklobb, Eckerö, close to the western contact of the Åland rapakivi, is in contact with a granodiorite and with a diabase of the same type as that of Föglö (see Sederholm 1934, p. 60 for map and p. 67 for chemical analysis). Wahl (1936) and Hausen (1964) used the term labrador porphyrite for the very coarse-grained Blåklobb diabase with rounded and fragmented plagioclase crystals in a greenish-black, fine-grained matrix.

The quartz porphyry has aphanitic contacts against the diabase and granodiorite. It contains fragments of these two rock types and sends apophyses into them. It has blue, euhedral, acicular quartz crystals and K-feldspar phenocrysts in a brown-red matrix.

The zircons from sample A715 are prismatic, transparent, reddish crystals with partly corroded surfaces. The L/B ratio varies from 2 to 5.

Vaasjoki (1977) dated the quartz porphyry with three zircon fractions. In the present study eight new zircon fractions were analysed. The 11 data points plotted on a concordia diagram (see Fig. 20 and for analytical data Table 7) yield an age of  $1590 \pm 14$  Ma. If data points B, C and I

with  ${}^{206}\text{Pb}/{}^{204}\text{Pb}$  ratio < 500 are omitted from the calculations, the age is  $1574\pm 6$  Ma for the 8-point best-fit line.

Rb/Sr whole-rock method,  $1556 \pm 34$  Ma (see

Table 16), seems to confirm the existence of an

age difference between the various diabases.

The analytical results for the original fractions are discordant, but the new data points for heavier zircon fractions are more concordant than the A, B, C fractions analysed earlier. Treating the crushed material in nitric acid, leaching in hydrofluoric acid and air abrasion remove common lead and seem to yield more concordant data points, as is seen in Fig. 20.



Fig. 20. Concordia plot for various zircon fractions from the Blåklobb quartz porphyry (A715), Eckerö. N.B. the treatment of zircons in the series: E untreated, F preleached in HF, G crushed and washed in HNO<sub>3</sub>, J air abraded (d>4.2 g/cm<sup>3</sup>), and K air abraded. Chord, drawn with full line, is for data points having <sup>206</sup>Pb/<sup>204</sup>Pb>500.

Sample		Fraction <sup>1</sup>	Concentration µg/g		<sup>206</sup> Pb	Isotopic of lead,	compositi <sup>206</sup> Pb = 1	on 00	Atomic ratios and radiometric ages, Ma		
No.		d=density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>			<sup>204</sup> Pb				<sup>206</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb
		Ø=grain size, µm	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb radiog.	measured	204	207	208	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>235</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb
A A714	714- 1A	Källholm, Åva, Brän d>4.2; Ø>70	ndö: quartz 266.7	z porphyry 59.02	178.0	.51634	16.892	47.626	.2557 ± 16 1467	3.441 ± 72 1513	.0976 ± 14 1578
	В	d>4.2; Ø<70	237.1	51.27	384.3	.21720	12.742	36.997	.2500 ± 15 1438	3.357 ± 60 1494	.0974 ± 12 1575
	С	3.8 <d<4.2< td=""><td>848.3</td><td>169.32</td><td>417.4</td><td>.22636</td><td>12.680</td><td>33.992</td><td>.2307 ± 12 1338</td><td>3.036 ± 26 1416</td><td>.09545 ± 50 1537</td></d<4.2<>	848.3	169.32	417.4	.22636	12.680	33.992	.2307 ± 12 1338	3.036 ± 26 1416	.09545 ± 50 1537
	E	4.3 <d<4.52 HF</d<4.52 	213.1	49.72	357.4	.27757	13.532	39.573	.2697 ± 22 1539	3.605 ± 39 1550	.09694 ± 62 1566
	F	4.2 <d<4.3 HF</d<4.3 	376.0	85.67	682.6	.14518	11.677	33.474	.2634 ± 17 1507	3.511 ± 30 1529	.09669 ± 48 1561
	G	4.3 <d<4.52 abr quartz</d<4.52 	217.0	48.28	407.4	.24205	13.026	38.518	.2572 ± 14 1475	3.432 ± 27 1511	.09679 ± 47 1563
	Н	4.3 <d<4.52< td=""><td>210.4</td><td>45.70</td><td>278.5</td><td>.35712</td><td>14.595</td><td>40.929</td><td>.2510 ± 17 1443</td><td>3.342 ± 28 1490</td><td>.09656 ± 42 1558</td></d<4.52<>	210.4	45.70	278.5	.35712	14.595	40.929	.2510 ± 17 1443	3.342 ± 28 1490	.09656 ± 42 1558
A71	A7 5aA <sup>2</sup>	15–Blåklobb, Eckerd d>4.1; Ø<220	ö: quartz p 672.0	orphyry 133.13	718.0	.10697	11.116	18.808	.2290 ± 13 1329	3.042 ± 41 1418	.09636 ± 85 1554
	aB <sup>2</sup>	3.8 <d<4.1< td=""><td>1206</td><td>225.30</td><td>465.5</td><td>.20946</td><td>12.422</td><td>23.229</td><td>.2159 ± 12 1259</td><td>2.833 ± 18 1364</td><td>.09518 ± 24 1531</td></d<4.1<>	1206	225.30	465.5	.20946	12.422	23.229	.2159 ± 12 1259	2.833 ± 18 1364	.09518 ± 24 1531
	aC <sup>2</sup>	3.6 <d<3.8< td=""><td>987</td><td>175.58</td><td>332.5</td><td>.28250</td><td>13.291</td><td>26.123</td><td>.2056 ± 11 1205</td><td>2.655 ± 25 1316</td><td>.09367 ± 54 1501</td></d<3.8<>	987	175.58	332.5	.28250	13.291	26.123	.2056 ± 11 1205	2.655 ± 25 1316	.09367 ± 54 1501
	aD	d>4.2; Ø<160	571.7	114.88	575.5	.16232	11.938	20.648	.2322 ± 12 1346	3.104 ± 22 1433	.09693 ± 35 1566
	bE	4.3 <d<4.6< td=""><td>367.8</td><td>77.86</td><td>1170</td><td>.08395</td><td>10.843</td><td>16.974</td><td>.2447 ± 17 1411</td><td>3.266 ± 30 1473</td><td>.09682 ± 54 1563</td></d<4.6<>	367.8	77.86	1170	.08395	10.843	16.974	.2447 ± 17 1411	3.266 ± 30 1473	.09682 ± 54 1563
	bF	4.3 <d<4.6 HF</d<4.6 	333.4	73.11	2136	.04540	10.304	15.300	.2535 ± 23 1456	3.382 ± 32 1500	.09676 ± 23 1562

Table 7. U-Pb isotopic data on the Subjotnian quartz porphyries of the Åland area.

Table 7. (continued)

A715t	oG 4.3 <d<4.6 cr</d<4.6 	330.0	73.46	2646	.03607	10.232	14.938	.2573 ± 15 1476	3.453 ± 24 1516	.09733 ± 36 1573
t	oH 4.3 <d<4.6 cr abr quartz</d<4.6 	374.8	74.71	869.3	.11345	11.251	18.277	.2304 ± 15 1336	3.075 ± 28 1426	.09682 ± 56 1563
t	abr quartz	1572	276.78	313.6	.31785	13.819	27.349	.2034 ± 12 1193	2.639 ± 38 1311	.0941 ± 11 1509
t	J d>4.2; Ø<160 abr	352.7	78.77	1985	.04843	10.365	15.495	.2581 ± 16 1480	3.450 ± 23 1515	.09695 ± 17 1566
b	K 4.3 <d<4.6 abr</d<4.6 	381.6	87.27	1674	.05770	10.526	16.295	.2643 ± 15 1511	3.545 ± 21 1537	.09728 ± 16 1572
А А716А	A716−Hammaru d>4.2; Ø>130	dda, Hammarland 404.9	: quartz p 88.22	oorphyry 2073	.04344	10.268	15.727	.2518 ± 13 1447	3.356 ± 20 1494	.09666 ± 21 1560
H	8 4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;130</d<4.2 	956.9	202.21	2156	.04461	10.266	16.138	.2442 ± 17 1408	3.249 ± 25 1468	.09648 ± 23 1557
(	C d>4.6	178.0	39.63	3620	.02498	10.036	13.641	.2573 ± 24 1476	3.438 ± 32 1513	.09690 ± 14 1565
Ι	0 d>4.6; HF	163.2	37.94	4386	.02015	9.966	13.227	.2687 ± 18 1534	3.588 ± 26 1546	.09687 ± 23 1564
H	E 4.2 <d<4.6 abr</d<4.6 	522.0	119.94	7063	.01234	9.847	15.432	.2655 ± 20 1518	3.543 ± 30 1536	.09676 ± 37 1562
F	5 4.2 <d<4.6 abr</d<4.6 	406.6	92.89	8241	.01064	9.867	15.250	.2641 ± 22 1510	3.539 ± 31 1535	.09720 ± 28 1571
A7 A717	17–Jyddö, Föglö A d>4.2	i: quartz porphyry 82.06	18.74	369.5	.25331	13.273	23.915	.2640 ± 14 1510	3.554 ± 35 1539	.09765 ± 65 1579
H	3 4.0 <d<4.2< td=""><td>91.47</td><td>20.40</td><td>148.7</td><td>.65516</td><td>18.703</td><td>37.015</td><td>.2578 ± 14 1478</td><td>3.416 ± 54 1508</td><td>.0961 ± 12 1550</td></d<4.2<>	91.47	20.40	148.7	.65516	18.703	37.015	.2578 ± 14 1478	3.416 ± 54 1508	.0961 ± 12 1550
(	C d>4.6	74.59	17.21	201.2	.49215	16.450	31.932	.2667 ± 24 1523	3.537 ± 44 1535	.09622 ± 73 1552
I	D d>4.6; HF	74.73	17.46	194.9	.50648	16.824	32.739	.2700 ± 17 1540	3.652 ± 72 1560	.0981 ± 16 1588

33
Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356

A717 E	d>4.6; Ø>70	77.22	17.64	162.6	.61160	18.141	36.277	.2640 ± 22 1510	3.516 ± 67 1530	.0966 ± 15 1559
F	d>4.6; HF cr	71.88	17.48	1027	.09175	10.970	18.343	.2811 ± 22 1596	3.759 ± 44 1583	.09698 ± 74 1566
G	d>4.6; Ø>70 abr	72.70	16.79	390.1	.25004	13.186	23.732	.2670 ± 24 1525	3.578 ± 72 1544	.0972 ± 16 1571

Table 7. (continued)

34

For symbols, see Table 3.

## Hammarudda, Hammarland

On Hammarudda the quartz porphyry is in contact with rapakivi (see Bergman 1979, 1981). The well preserved quartz porphyry represents the adjacent quartz porphyries in contact with rapakivi and diabase. The complex contact relations have been discussed in detail by Frosterus



Fig. 21. Concordia diagram for U-Pb isotope ratios of zircons from the Hammarudda quartz porphyry (A716). Data points A, E and F represent the same density fraction, E and F were air abraded. Data points C and D are of the same

density fraction but fraction D was preleached in HF.

(1892), Sederholm (1934), Hausen (1964) and Bergman (1981).

The zircons from sample A716 are clear and sharp-edged with glossy crystal faces. The L/B ratio varies from 3 to 5, but can be up to 10. The crystals are simple tetragonal prisms with well developed pyramid faces. Crystals with zonal growth are not uncommon. Inclusions are frequent and many of them are located along growth zones. Parallel to the c-axis there are long acicular inclusions, some of which seem to be filled with gas or liquid.

The six zircon fractions plotted on a concordia diagram (see Fig. 21) yield an age of  $1571 \pm 9$ Ma. Data point D represents zircons preleached in hydrofluoric acid; fractions E and F were air abraded. For analytical data, see Table 7. The age obtained is close to that of the other quartz porphyries in the Aland area.

## Jyddö, Föglö

The Jyddö quartz porphyry forms an en-echelon dyke set parallel to the eastern contact of the Åland rapakivi. It runs parallel to the Föglö diabase dyke set, and hence the age relations could not be confirmed with field observations. The 2-6 m wide dykes lie about 3 km east of the Aland rapakivi (see Fig. 14).

The zircons of the Jyddö quartz porphyry are poor in uranium but relatively rich in common



Fig. 22. Concordia plot for U-Pb isotope ratios of zircon fractions from the Jyddö quartz porphyry (A717). Fraction C was untreated, D preleached in HF, F crushed and preleached in HF, and G air abraded.

lead. Molybdenite was found during the refining processes. The zircons are transparent and euhedral.

When plotted on a concordia diagram, the U-Pb isotope ratios (see Table 7) for seven zircon fractions cluster in a rather small area near the concordia and do not form a clear chord. The ages remain within  $1571 \pm 20$  Ma (see Fig. 22) if extrapolated according to the near-linear interval of continuous diffusion curves (Wasserburg 1963).

# Källholm, Åva, Brändö

In the Åva area, quartz porphyry dykes cut the 1797 $\pm 4$  Ma old (Patchett and Kouvo 1986) postorogenic group III granite and its granodioritic (earlier referred to as monzonitic) varieties. Ehlers and Ehlers (1977, 1981) regarded the quartz porphyry dykes in the Åva area as coeval with the Korsö pyroxene diabase.



Fig. 23. Concordia plot showing U-Pb isotope ratios of zircon fractions from the Åva quartz porphyry (A714), Källholm, Brändö, Åland.

Sederholm (1934) and Kaitaro (1953) have described the field relations between the hornblende and pyroxene diabase dykes and the quartz porphyry dykes of the Åva area. These dykes have a parallel trend, and some of them, e.g. the Källholm dyke near the Korsö diabase, are known to lie in succession (Kaitaro 1953). The age relations are not clear as far as the contact relations are concerned, but Kaitaro (1953), when stating that »they belong to the same sequence», seems to favour a slightly older age for the diabases. »Quartz porphyry cannot be older than the diabase as suggested by Sederholm (1934, p. 53) or we must assume the existence of two generations of quartz porphyries,» writes Kaitaro (1953, p. 58). The quartz porphyry dykes are associated with, but are younger than, the diabases (Ehlers and Bergman, 1984 p. 181).

The zircons of sample A714 are small, acicular, transparent, clear or faint, pinkish prisms with L/B ratio 4—8. The crystal surfaces are glossy.

The upper intercept age (see Fig. 23) on a concordia diagram from the seven zircon fractions is  $1576 \pm 13$  Ma. Note that the most concordant fractions, E and F, were preleached in hydrofluoric acid and lie slightly on the younger side of the best-fit line.

For analytical data, see Table 7.

# The Åland rapakivi area

The Åland rapakivi is composed of several textural types representing different intrusion pulses. The terminology used to describe the textural types closely follows that applied to the Wiborg rapakivi batholith (e.g. Wahl 1925). The terms may not exactly correspond to those used by Wahl (e.g. megacryst size, chemical and mineral compositions and textures) but they are not all that different either. The Åland rapakivi area was recently remapped and described by Bergman (1978a, 1978b, 1979, 1981 and 1986). Vaasjoki (1977) has given ages for two types of Åland rapakivi. The earlier rapakivi U-Pb ages given on zircons are based on only a few, often very discordant, fractions. With additional fractions more concordant data were obtained.

The main granite types are coarse-grained normal rapakivi with mantled ovoids (wiborgite), coarse-grained rapakivi with predominantly unmantled ovoids (pyterlite), porphyritic rapakivi and even-grained rapakivi. Quartz-porphyritic varieties also exist, and there are some minor aplitic intrusions (Bergman 1981, 1986).

# Böle and Vabbängarna, Eckerö

Rapakivi sample A467 from Böle, Eckerö is from the main phase of the intrusion. Even when recalculated and with additional zircon fractions (altogether 11 fractions were analysed, see Fig. 25 and Table 8), the age of the main phase of the rapakivi is still ambiguous. A new sample, A295, was therefore taken from Vabbängarna, south of Storby, Eckerö, from close to the Böle sample.

Sample A295 represents the hornblende-bearing rapakivi type and hence the main phase of the Åland rapakivi (Bergman 1986). According to Bergman (1979, 1986), it belongs to the same part of the intrusion as does sample A467 from Böle. The rock is deep red in colour and partly granophyric in texture. The unmantled ovoids are ca. 2 cm in diameter. For chemical analysis, see Rämö (1991) and for the mode and chemical analysis of a sample from a nearby outcrop, see Bergman (1981 p. 32 mode no. 20, and p. 47 analysis no. 14).

The zircon crystals of A467 (see Fig. 24) and A295 are mostly euhedral and sharp-edged with glossy surfaces. The L/B ratio is up to 5. The nonmagnetic fraction is conspicuously clean. The crystals are transparent and the primary inclusions are small, possibly partly filled with gas or liquid. As the large magnetic fraction is rich in coatings, at least some of the inclusions or coatings must be magnetic. Some pinkish, multifaced, short crystals were encountered. Rhythmic crystallization might explain the new layer visible in some of the crystals.

During refining of the heavy fractions one grain of galena and a few grains of molybdenite were found in the heaviest fraction.

The five zircon fractions analysed from sample A295 form a good chord (see Fig. 25), which yields an upper intercept age of  $1575 \pm 11$  Ma and a lower intercept of  $198 \pm 113$  Ma at the 2-sigma level. The best-fit line is ruled by the data points



Fig. 24. Microphotographs of HF-etched zircon crystals from sample A467-Böle. The largest zircon is 0.5 mm long. Note the zonal growth and nucleus. Photo Veli Suominen.

of density fraction 4.3—4.6 g/cm<sup>3</sup>. Point A refers to the untreated fraction. To improve the discordant result the zircons were treated as follows: B was crushed and washed in HNO<sub>3</sub>, D was preleached in hydrofluoric acid and E was air abraded for 2 hr as described by Krogh (1982). For analytical results, see Table 8. Note the decreasing uranium content due to the treatment:  $262-232-220-00 \ \mu g/g$ . These results were more concordant. The common lead content exhibits an interesting variation in the  $^{206}$ Pb/ $^{204}$ Pb ratio: 659-921-1135-882. Common lead was removed during the acid treatment. The most concordant fraction is that cleaned by air abrasion.

The eleven fractions of sample A467-Böle fit a chord intersecting the A295 best-fit line and yield an upper intercept age of  $1560 \pm 14$  Ma. Despite all efforts to improve the concordance and the number of fractions, the age is still ambiguous. Fractions H and I (see Table 8) were preleached in hydrofluoric acid, a procedure that is known occasionally to result in selective lead loss, moving the isotope ratios to the left on the concordia diagram. The anomalous lower intercept,  $23 \pm 74$  Ma, may be a result of that. The common lead content is high as it is in the quartz porphyries, but the uranium content is surprisingly low, a feature that should favour more concordant results.

Sample	Fraction <sup>1</sup>	Concentration µg/g		<sup>206</sup> Pb	<sup>206</sup> Pb Isotopic composi of lead, <sup>206</sup> Pb = <sup>204</sup> Pb			Atomic radiome	Atomic ratios and radiometric ages, Ma	
No.	d=density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>			204Pb				<sup>206</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb
	Ø=grain size, µm	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb radiog.	measured	204	207	208	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>235</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb
A467 A467A <sup>2</sup>	-Böle, Eckerö: pyter d>4.2	litic rapakiv 370.4	i granite, 57.99	main phas 510.9	se .15752	11.874	17.751	.1810 ± 11 1072	2.418 ± 40 1247	.0969 ± 11 1565
В	d>4.6	266.3	42.98	501.6	.19549	12.438	18.664	.1865 ± 12 1102	2.502 ± 43 1272	.0973 ± 14 1573
С	4.2 <d<4.6< td=""><td>408.5</td><td>63.40</td><td>404.0</td><td>.24249</td><td>13.039</td><td>20.849</td><td>.1794 ± 9 1063</td><td>2.393 ± 14 1240</td><td>.09677 ± 21 1562</td></d<4.6<>	408.5	63.40	404.0	.24249	13.039	20.849	.1794 ± 9 1063	2.393 ± 14 1240	.09677 ± 21 1562
D	4.0 <d<4.2< td=""><td>940.5</td><td>149.54</td><td>325.7</td><td>.30488</td><td>13.762</td><td>23.681</td><td>.1838 ± 10 1087</td><td>2.414 ± 16 1246</td><td>.09528 ± 32 1533</td></d<4.2<>	940.5	149.54	325.7	.30488	13.762	23.681	.1838 ± 10 1087	2.414 ± 16 1246	.09528 ± 32 1533
E	d>4.6; HF	215.3	41.08	879.9	.11087	11.236	15.347	.2206 ± 13 1284	2.950 ± 32 1394	.09700 ± 78 1567
F	d>4.6 cr	231.2	41.25	490.7	.20097	12.407	18.357	.2062 ± 14 1208	2.735 ± 24 1337	.09619 ± 43 1551
G	4.2 <d<4.6 cr</d<4.6 	372.6	65.29	460.8	.21521	12.659	19.852	.2026 ± 13 1189	2.702 ± 30 1328	.09675 ± 79 1562
Н	4.2 <d<4.6; HF</d<4.6; 	300.4	59.66	805.8	.12232	11.253	16.346	.2295 ± 16 1332	3.024 ± 34 1413	.09554 ± 78 1538
Ι	4.2 <d<4.6; HF cr</d<4.6; 	219.3	50.39	808.4	.12073	11.329	16.188	.2656 ± 15 1518	3.535 ± 31 1535	.09655 ± 56 1558
J	4.2 <d<4.6 abr</d<4.6 	327.9	70.17	528.0	.18521	12.190	19.637	.2473 ± 13 1424	3.281 ± 35 1476	.09621 ± 79 1552
К	d>4.2 abr	262.0	55.45	1062	.09117	10.946	15.442	.2446 ± 13 1410	3.265 ± 18 1472	.09682 ± 14 1563
A295- A295A	-Vabbängarna, Storb 4.3 <d<4.6< td=""><td>y, Eckerö: 262.1</td><td>pyterlitic 53.65</td><td>rapakivi 659.3</td><td>.14959</td><td>11.724</td><td>26.132</td><td>.2366 ± 17</td><td>3.147 ± 38</td><td>.09649 ± 87</td></d<4.6<>	y, Eckerö: 262.1	pyterlitic 53.65	rapakivi 659.3	.14959	11.724	26.132	.2366 ± 17	3.147 ± 38	.09649 ± 87

Table 8. U-Pb isotopic data on the rapakivi granites of the Åland batholith.

T 11	Cores.	0	1 1)	
Lab	e	δ.	(continued)	
	-	~ .	(	

A295B	4.3 <d<4.6 cr</d<4.6 	231.6	48.95	921	.10636	11.161	15.941	.2443 ± 13 1408	3.262 ± 20 1472	.09687 ± 25 1564
С	4.2 <d<4.3< td=""><td>612.1</td><td>119.78</td><td>769.3</td><td>.12879</td><td>11.377</td><td>19.148</td><td>.2262 ± 14 1314</td><td>2.990 ± 21 1405</td><td>.09589 ± 28 1545</td></d<4.3<>	612.1	119.78	769.3	.12879	11.377	19.148	.2262 ± 14 1314	2.990 ± 21 1405	.09589 ± 28 1545
D	4.3 <d<4.6 HF</d<4.6 	220.0	48.02	1135	.08587	10.850	15.144	.2523 ± 16 1450	3.360 ± 29 1495	.09659 ± 51 1559
E	4.3 <d<4.6 abr</d<4.6 	199.9	46.30	881.5	.11040	11.238	16.390	.2678 ± 19 1529	3.584 ± 30 1545	.09708 ± 39 1568
A762 A	-Godby, Finstrom: v d>4.5	200.8	39.79	414.9	.23837	12.985	20.328	.2290 ± 17 1329	3.060 ± 28 1422	.09691 ± 46 1565
В	d>4.5 cr	188.0	38.34	780.1	.12536	11.416	15.686	.2357 ± 13 1364	3.146 ± 26 1444	.09683 ± 56 1564
С	d>4.5; HF	167.9	38.65	754.7	.12994	11.499	16.009	.2661 ± 17 1521	3.560 ± 25 1540	.09704 ± 25 1568
D	4.3 <d<4.5< td=""><td>338.9</td><td>66.80</td><td>285.7</td><td>.34842</td><td>14.505</td><td>25.922</td><td>.2278 ± 17 1323</td><td>3.044 ± 33 1418</td><td>.09690 ± 69 1565</td></d<4.5<>	338.9	66.80	285.7	.34842	14.505	25.922	.2278 ± 17 1323	3.044 ± 33 1418	.09690 ± 69 1565
E	4.3 <d<4.5 cr</d<4.5 	297.5	61.63	1063	.09212	10.964	16.099	.2394 ± 21 1383	3.200 ± 29 1456	.09691 ± 25 1565
F	4.2 <d<4.3 abr cr</d<4.3 	572.7	107.42	785.0	.12594	11.350	17.911	.2168 ± 14 1264	2.872 ± 24 1374	.09608 ± 46 1549
G	d>4.2	434.8	73.26	640.0	.15190	11.687	18.082	.1948 ± 10 1147	2.574 ± 15 1293	.09585 ± 18 1545
Н	d>4.5 abr	165.4	38.51	508.2	.19422	12.422	19.265	.2691 ± 15 1536	3.614 ± 28 1552	.09740 ± 46 1575
Ι	d>4.5 70<Ø<130 abr	158.3	36.68	1110	.08640	10.903	14.144	.2679 ± 20 1529	3.586 ± 32 1546	.09709 ± 40 1569
1	4.3 <d<4.5 Ø&gt;130 abr</d<4.5 	274.4	59.13	214.6	.46239	16.166	33.642	.2491 ± 16 1433	3.360 ± 28 1495	.09783 ± 46 1583

Table 8	(con	tinued)
r uore o		can a carj

A762 K	4.3 <d<4.5 abr cr</d<4.5 	264.0	58.28	931.0	.10559	11.128	16.380	.2552 ± 15 1465	3.402 ± 23 1504	.09668 ± 26 1561
A76 A763 A	53–Åsbacka, Saltvik: d>4.2; Ø>70 abr	even-grain 328.0	ed rapaki 71.00	vi granite 86.2	1.1597	25.781	57.469	.2502 ± 20 1439	3.36 ± 13 1494	.0973 ± 32 1573
В	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;160 abr</d<4.2 	814.4	175.02	202.0	.49351	16.476	32.271	.2484 ± 14 1430	3.301 ± 24 1481	.09639 ± 40 1555
A764 A764 A	-Getabergen, Geta: d>4.2	wiborgitic 1 397.4	apakivi 81.93	2539	.03512	10.153	13.813	.2383 ± 12 1377	3.175 ± 18 1451	.09667 ± 12 1560
В	4.0 <d<4.2< td=""><td>1127</td><td>232.32</td><td>1036</td><td>.09420</td><td>10.928</td><td>19.108</td><td>.2383 ± 16 1378</td><td>3.162 ± 25 1447</td><td>.09622 ± 36 1552</td></d<4.2<>	1127	232.32	1036	.09420	10.928	19.108	.2383 ± 16 1378	3.162 ± 25 1447	.09622 ± 36 1552
С	4.3 <d<4,6< td=""><td>325.8</td><td>64.73</td><td>969</td><td>.10164</td><td>11.039</td><td>15.885</td><td>.2297 ± 14 1332</td><td>3.049 ± 21 1419</td><td>.09630 ± 26 1553</td></d<4,6<>	325.8	64.73	969	.10164	11.039	15.885	.2297 ± 14 1332	3.049 ± 21 1419	.09630 ± 26 1553
D	4.3 <d<4.6 Ø&gt;70; cr</d<4.6 	278.9	59.70	1495	.06523	10.550	14.492	.2474 ± 15 1425	3.290 ± 21 1478	.09646 ± 22 1556
E	4.3 <d<4.6 Ø&gt;70; HF</d<4.6 	278.8	60.43	2782	.03438	10.151	13.396	.2505 ± 18 1440	3.341 ± 24 1490	.09675 ± 11 1562
F	4.3 <d<4.6 70&lt;Ø&lt;160 abr, cr</d<4.6 	263.9	60.03	2442	.03901	10.240	14.289	.2630 ± 16 1504	3.516 ± 24 1530	.09699 ± 30 1567
G	4.3 <d<4.6 abr</d<4.6 	275.5	63.47	5549	.01603	9.972	13.885	.2663 ± 17 1521	3.579 ± 24 1544	.09750 ± 13 1576
A46 A468A <sup>2</sup>	68–Långnäs, Lumpar d>4.2	land: pyter 376.6	lite (bioti 69.98	te-rich, pa 197.3	rtly porph .48413	yritic) rap 16.326	akivi grani 29.695	te .2155 ± 14 1254	2.848 ± 46 1368	.0962 ± 12 1551
В	4.3 <d<4.5< td=""><td>371.8</td><td>70.79</td><td>262.6</td><td>.37925</td><td>14.857</td><td>25.623</td><td>.2200 ± 13 1282</td><td>2.912 ± 27 1385</td><td>.09600 ± 62 1547</td></d<4.5<>	371.8	70.79	262.6	.37925	14.857	25.623	.2200 ± 13 1282	2.912 ± 27 1385	.09600 ± 62 1547
С	4.3 <d<4.5 cr</d<4.5 	313.0	65.18	291.2	.34197	14.318	24.004	.2407 ± 17 1390	3.178 ± 27 1451	.09576 ± 38 1543
D	4.3 <d<4.5 Ø&gt;130 abr</d<4.5 	282.3	61.57	503.1	.19687	12.371	18.603	.2521 ± 16 1449	3.351 ± 25 1493	.09644 ± 37 1556

Table 8. (continued)

A468 E	4.3 <d<4.5 HF</d<4.5 	346.6	71.36	136.5	.73138	19.742	38.348	.2379 ± 18 1375	3.151 ± 34 1445	.09606 ± 67 1548
F	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;70 cr</d<4.2 	792.5	160.21	190.2	.52505	16.832	31.659	.2337 ± 17 1353	3.076 ± 38 1426	.09550 ± 84 1538
G	4.3 <d<4.5 abr</d<4.5 	272.4	61.17	637.1	.15280	11.757	16.427	.2595 ± 15 1487	3.449 ± 24 1515	.09640 ± 30 1555
Н	4.3 <d<4.5 HF</d<4.5 	292.6	62.64	552.7	.17911	12.113	18.008	.2474 ± 15 1424	3.285 ± 26 1477	.09632 ± 46 1554
Ι	4.3 <d<4.5 abr, 5h cr</d<4.5 	337.0	74.57	613.9	.15897	11.860	17.372	.2557 ± 15 1467	3.405 ± 27 1505	.09659 ± 44 1559

For symbols, see Table 3.



Fig. 25. Concordia diagram for U-Pb isotope ratios of zircon fractions from rapakivi samples A295-Vabbängarna and A467-Böle, Eckerö. Fraction A/A295 was untreated, B crushed and washed in HNO<sub>3</sub>; D preleached in HF, and E air abraded (fraction 4.3 < d < 4.6 g/cm<sup>3</sup>). Fractions from sample A467: in order of growing discordance are: IJKHEFGBDAC

The age of the Eckerö rapakivi is the same as that of the nearby Blåklobb quartz porphyry and the other rapakivis in the Åland area.

## Godby, Finström

Sample A762 is from Godby, Finström. It is a wiborgitic textural type of rapakivi in which orthoclase ovoids are mantled with oligoclase (for chemical analysis, see Rämö 1991).

The zircon crystals of sample A762 (see Fig. 26) are mostly simple euhedral prisms with numerous small inclusions of biotite on their crystal faces; otherwise the faces are clear. Multifaced zircons also occur. The crystals are transparent but grey. Some of the heaviest zircon fractions are translucent and milky white, yellowish or reddish. The L/B ratio is 2-3 but often even 2-5.

The uranium content in zircons is less than 200 ppm (see Table 8), and the <sup>206</sup>Pb/<sup>204</sup>Pb ratio is low due to the content of common lead.

The best-fit line through 11 data points (see



Fig. 26. Microphotograph of a 0.6 mm long zircon crystal from sample A762-Godby. Note the multi-layered U+Thrich nucleus and new layers of zircon. Photo Veli Suominen.



Fig. 27. Concordia diagram for U-Pb isotope ratios of zircon fractions from the Godby wiborgitic rapakivi (A762). Zircon fraction A was untreated, B the same fraction crushed and washed in HNO<sub>3</sub>, C preleached in HF, and H and I were air abraded. Fraction D was untreated, E crushed and washed in HNO<sub>3</sub>, J air abraded large zircons; and K air abraded. N.B. data points for A763 Åsbacka fractions are not included in calculation.

Fig. 27) yields an age of  $1575 \pm 6$  Ma for the Godby wiborgite (N.B. the zircons of sample A763 are not included in the calculations of this chord, see later in this paper). The untreated zircon fractions (A, D, G) are quite discordant. To improve the accuracy, fractions B, E, F were crushed and washed in nitric acid, fraction C was preleached in hydrofluoric acid, and fractions H, I, J, K were air abraded.

The age obtained for the Godby wiborgite is the same, within the limits of error, as that for the Eckerö rapakivi. The Godby wiborgite is younger than the wiborgite of the Wiborg rapakivi area (see further in this paper).

# Åsbacka, Saltvik

The Åsbacka sample (A763), from the Ödkarby intrusion in Saltvik, represents the evengrained rapakivi granites in the north of the Åland islands (see Bergman 1978b). This rock type was termed Haga granite by Frosterus and Sederholm (1890). The granite is deep red and medium-grained. For mode and chemical analysis, see Bergman (1981 and 1986).

Sample A763 contains less zircon than the wiborgitic types, a common feature of evengrained rapakivi granites according to Nurmi and Haapala (1986). The other characteristic accessory minerals are black anatase and bastnaesite (with intergrown fluocerite). Cerussite was found for the first time in Finland (Lindqvist and Suominen 1988). Lead from three tiny cerussite crystals (unwashed) from sample A763 was analysed, and its isotopic composition is  $^{206}$ Pb/ $^{204}$ Pb = 21.407;  $^{207}$ Pb/ $^{204}$ Pb = 16.005;  $^{208}$ Pb/ $^{204}$ Pb = 40.302. A considerable amount of radiogenic lead is incorporated in this lead. K-feldspar lead was used for common lead correction in age calculations of zircons (see p. 9).

The zircon crystals with density fraction  $d > 4.2 \text{ g/cm}^3$  are fragments of transparent, colourless or pale pinkish and yellow, simple prisms. Some zircons have small black inclusions on their faces. In density fraction  $4.0 < d < 4.2 \text{ g/cm}^3$  the zircon grains are fragments of translucent, milky or faint, pinkish, simple prisms, often with corroded faces.

The data points of the two zircon fractions analysed (see Table 8 and Fig. 27) fall close to the chords of nearby Godby and Getabergen (see below), which evidently belong to the same 1575 Ma age group.

#### Getabergen, Geta

Sample A764, from Getabergen, Geta in the northern part of the Åland rapakivi, is a wiborgitic variety (see Bergman 1978b, 1981 and 1986).



Fig. 28. Microphotograph of a 0.55 mm long zircon crystal from sample A764-Getabergen. Note the several metamict layers. Photo Veli Suominen.



Fig. 29. Concordia plot for the zircon fractions from sample A764-Getabergen. Fraction C was untreated (4.3 < d < 4.6 g/cm<sup>3</sup>), D crushed and washed in HNO<sub>3</sub>, E preleached in HF, F air abraded large zircons, and G air abraded.

The zircons from this sample (for microphotograph, see Fig. 28) exhibit zonal growth with many inclusions. Some of the zircons are sharpedged, fully clear and transparent. The pyramid faces at the terminations are well developed in some of the crystals. The crystal faces are glossy, and the L/B ratio varies from 2 to 7.

Density fraction 4.3 < d < 4.6 g/cm<sup>3</sup> was analysed five times. Data point C of Fig. 29 represents the original fraction. The same fraction crushed and washed in nitric acid (D) is clearly more concordant, and fraction E, which was preleached in hydrofluoric acid, is even more so. The most concordant fractions are F (air abraded and crushed and the powder preleached in 1 : 1 HNO<sub>3</sub>) and G (air abraded until the grains were completely rounded).

The U-Pb isotope ratios of the seven zircon fractions plotted on a concordia diagram (see Fig. 29) yield an age of  $1576 \pm 9$  Ma. For analytical data, see Table 8. (Note the high  $^{206}$ Pb/ $^{204}$ Pb ratio).

## Långnäs, Lumparland

The Långnäs rapakivi sample, A468, represents the pyterlitic textural type of the Åland rapakivi intrusion. The rock, which is rich in biotite, often has a porphyritic texture. This type of rapakivi occurs near the eastern margin of the Åland rapakivi area. For mode and chemical analyses, see Bergman (1981, 1986). A striking feature is the presence of greisen dykes in the rock.

The zircons from sample A468 are small, reddish, transparent and mostly short (L/B ratio 2--6) tetragonal prisms at obtuse angles to the pyramid faces (see Fig. 30) and with zonal growth. The crystal faces are glossy on the whole, but some have a characteristic striation parallel to the c-axis and some are corroded.

Sample A468 was dated earlier by Vaasjoki (1977). With additional zircon fractions the age obtained from a 9-point best-fit line is  $1559 \pm 8$  Ma (lower intercept  $102 \pm 92$  Ma). If data points A and B are omitted from calculations, the age



Fig. 30. Microphotographs of zircon crystals from sample A468-Långnäs. The largest zircon is 0.6 mm long. Note the growth nucleus surrounded by metamict layers. Photo Veli Suominen.

obtained from the seven zircon fractions treated is  $1568 \pm 10$  Ma, with a lower intercept of  $253 \pm$ 111 Ma (see Fig. 31). The treated and more concordant fractions have a higher  $^{206}$ Pb/ $^{204}$ Pb ratio and are more reliable than fractions A and B. Thus the age yielded by the acid-treated and airabraded zircons is the most probable for the



Fig. 31. Concordia diagram for U-Pb isotope ratios of zircon fractions from rapakivi granite A468-Långnäs. B is an untreated (4.3 < d < 4.5 g/cm<sup>3</sup>) fraction, C was crushed and washed in HNO<sub>3</sub>, D air abraded, E preleached in HF, G air abraded, H preleached in HF, and I air abraded and crushed zircons. The chord drawn with a full line is for treated zircon fractions.

Långnäs sample. For analytical data, see Table 8.

A slight rotation of the array from the intercept ages of  $1568 \pm 10$  Ma/253  $\pm 253$  Ma to  $1570 \pm 10$  Ma/285  $\pm 111$  Ma occurred if the model lead isotope ratios  $^{206}$ Pb/ $^{204}$ Pb = 16.169,  $^{207}$ Pb/ $^{204}$ Pb = 15.430 and  $^{208}$ Pb/ $^{204}$ Pb = 35.838 were used instead of the average K-feldspar lead (16.853, 15.479, 36.201, respectively) from samples A295, A762 and A764.

# The Kökarsfjärden rapakivi granite

The Kökarsfjärden rapakivi pluton crops out only on some outer islands and skerries in the Baltic Sea, southwest of the island of Karlby, Kökar (see Fig. 14). On Söderharun (sample A441) the rapakivi has a porphyritic texture, and unmantled orthoclase ovoids are common. The megacrysts are often angular, twinned grains. The matrix is medium to coarse-grained, and the unmantled ovoids are often 5—8 cm in diameter. The euhedral blue quartz is acicular. Although



Fig. 32. Concordia plot for zircon fractions of Kökarsfjärden rapakivi granite sample A441-Söderharun. C is an untreated fraction, D crushed, E preleached in HF, and F air abraded. If fraction C is omitted from the calculation the data define a chord with intercepts at  $1571 \pm 4$  Ma and  $162 \pm 12$  Ma.

the grain size and texture vary within the pluton, the prevailing texture is trachytoid. The scarcity of outcrops led Sederholm (1924, 1934) to suspect that the pluton is divided into two separate intrusions. On aeromagnetic maps the strong negative anomaly over the rapakivi is continuous, and thus the intrusion is interpreted as being one single pluton (see Suominen 1981). However, it Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356

may comprise two or more intrusive phases, especially if they are similar in texture and composition. Interpreted from aeromagnetic maps, the pluton covers an area of some 500 km<sup>2</sup>.

No contacts are known, but angular granodiorite inclusions occur on Norrharun, in the northeastern part of the pluton, suggesting the proximity of a contact against the granodiorite to the north. Near the interpreted western contact, granite fragments are met with in the rapakivi.

The zircon crystals of sample A441-Söderharun are translucent, the majority being transparent, euhedral and sharp-edged. The crystal faces are glossy. Inclusions are common. The L/B ratio is up to 7. Some pinkish, multi-faced zircons were found in the zircon population, in which red-pigmented crystals are also common. Molybdenite and two small grains of galena were found during the refining process.

The Kökarsfjärden rapakivi on Söderharun was earlier dated by Vaasjoki (1977). With additional zircon fractions the upper intercept age from the six-fraction best-fit line is  $1574 \pm 14$  Ma (see Fig. 32). The age is the same as that obtained for the main phase of the Åland rapakivi massif. For analytical data, see Table 9.

## The Fjälskär rapakivi stock, Houtskär

The small rapakivi stock of Fjälskär (see Fig. 1 and Fig. 62) was previously dated by Vaasjoki (1977). A new sample, A287, was taken from the middle of the stock, from the island of Fjärdskär. The Fjälskär stock plays an important role in comparisons of the rapakivi granites and postorogenic granites, e.g. the Åva intrusion, both of which are circular intrusions of the same size.

First described by Sederholm (1924), the rapakivi of Fjärdskär is a two-mica granite with porphyritic texture. Muscovite is not a common mineral in the rapakivi granites (Sederholm loc. cit. p. 130). Topaz veinlets and pegmatitic miarolitic cavities containing topaz and columbite occur near the sharp-cutting contacts against the Svecofennian rocks. For modes and chemical analyses of the Fjälskär granite, see Bergman (1986). The fluorite content is high, even for a rapakivi, 0.3 - 2.9 % (Bergman 1986).

In the course of heavy mineral separation, fluocerite was found in the magnetic fraction with a density of >4.6 g/cm<sup>3</sup>. This was the first time fluocerite, first described by Berzelius (1818) from Finnbo and Broddbo near Falun, Sweden, was identified with certainty in Finland.

Fluocerite (tysonite) occurs together with fluorite as inclusions, intergrowths or individual grains, often partly altered to bastnaesite. The

Sample	Fraction <sup>1</sup>	Concentr µg∕g	ation	<sup>206</sup> Pb	Isotopic of lead,	compositi <sup>206</sup> Pb =	on 100	Atomic radiome	ratios and tric ages,	Ma
No.	$d=density, g/cm^3$			<sup>204</sup> Pb				<sup>206</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb
	Ø=grain size, µm	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb radiog.	measured	204	207	208	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>235</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb
A A441A	441-Söderharun, Köl <sup>2</sup> 3.8 <d<4.0 Ø&gt;160 borax</d<4.0 	karsfjärden, 1856	Kökar: p 224.09	orphyritic 977	rapakivi g .08651	ranite 10.443	12.846	.1396 ± 9 842	1.778 ± 16 1037	.09238 ± 45 1475
В	<sup>2</sup> d>4.0; Ø>160 borax	585.3	88.69	516.9	.15501	11.631	16.501	.1751 ± 11 1040	2.288 ± 38 1208	.0948 ± 11 1523
С	d>4.6	263.7	42.76	455.9	.21690	12.617	19.905	.1874 ± 11 1107	2.482 ± 22 1266	.09608 ± 58 1549
D	d>4.6 cr	204.4	39.36	289.5	.34236	14.353	24.707	.2225 ± 15 1295	2.946 ± 25 1393	.09602 ± 47 1548
E	d>4.6 HF	201.4	40.35	278.3	.35710	14.572	25.831	.2315 ± 17 1342	3.070 ± 25 1425	.09618 ± 31 1551
F	d>4.6 abr	146.0	33.00	760.4	.12781	11.464	18.497	.2612 ± 16 1495	3.490 ± 26 1525	.09692 ± 34 1565
A A287A	287–Fjärdskär, Hout 4.3 <d<4.6 Ø&gt;70</d<4.6 	skär: even– 463.8	grained ra 76.51	pakivi 81.4	1.2273	26.545	65.476	.1907 ± 13 1124	2.495 ± 34 1270	.0949 ± 10 1526
В	4.3 <d<4.6 Ø&gt;70 abr 1h</d<4.6 	516.1	92.26	132.2	.75507	19.978	45.318	.2066 ± 14 1210	2.702 ± 31 1328	.09485 ± 79 1525
С	4.3 <d<4.6 Ø&gt;70 abr 2h</d<4.6 	453.5	87.97	116.7	.85537	21.538	48.501	.2242 ± 14 1304	2.992 ± 86 1405	.0968 ± 25 1563
D	4.3 <d<4.6 Ø&gt;70 abr 5h</d<4.6 	277.5	66.80	366.2	.26582	13.498	29.699	.2782 ± 17 1582	3.766 ± 45 1585	.09819 ± 91 1590
E	4.3 <d<4.6 Ø&gt;70 HF</d<4.6 	602.9	130.34	70.4	1.419	29.372	75.086	.2499 ± 42 1437	3.342 ± 64 1490	.09701 ± 80 1567
F	4.3 <d<4.6 Ø&lt;70; HF cr</d<4.6 	196.8	42.30	785.6	.12398	11.363	34.032	.2485 ± 15 1430	3.304 ± 22 1481	.09644 ± 21 1556
G	fluocerite	32.84	6.76	354.5	.27405	13.250	9652	.2381 ± 20 1376	3.098 ± 76 1432	.0944 ± 20 1516

Table 9. U-Pb isotopic data on the rapakivi granites of southwestern Finland.

Table 9. (continued)

A287G	fluocerite	24.07	5.69	141.1	.61586	18.181	10067	.273 ± 11 1556	3.63 ± 27 1556	.0964 ± 51 1555
A129- A129A <sup>2</sup>	-Peipohja, Kokemäki total borax	: porphyrit 310.4	ic rapakiv 67.91	i granite 360.9	.24503	13.075	27.215	.2529 ± 30 1453	3.376 ± 70 1498	.0968 ± 13 1563
$B^2$	d>4.2; Ø>160	499.2	77.82	511.0	.16914	11.890	20.316	.1802 ± 11 1067	2.371 ± 30 1233	.09543 ± 78 1536
С	d>4.6; Ø>70 abr diamond	239.1	47.15	928	.10605	11.093	21.151	.2279 ± 14 1323	3.025 ± 30 1413	.09624 ± 68 1552
D	d>4.6; Ø>70	259.6	48.21	822	.11737	11.337	21.259	.2146 ± 11 1253	2.874 ± 17 1375	.09713 ± 20 1569
E	4.2 <d<4.6 Ø&gt;70 abr diamond</d<4.6 	722.2	121.69	1065	.09326	10.882	16.168	.19472 ± 10 1146	2.575 ± 18 1293	.09589 ± 38 1545
F	d>4.6; Ø>70 abr diamond	258.0	46.46	592.4	.16452	11.815	22.250	.2081 ± 11 1218	2.734 ± 17 1337	.09530 ± 26 1534
G	d>4.6; Ø>70 HF	161.3	37.29	10081	.007596	9.816	18.821	.2672 ± 15 1526	3.578 ± 21 1544	.09711 ± 14 1569

For symbols, see Table 3.

mineral association, fluocerite-bastnaesite-fluorite, where bastnaesite is an alteration product of fluocerite, is characteristic (Geijer 1921a, 1921b, Goddard and Glass 1940). In Fig. 33 the above-mentioned mineral paragenesis is seen with zircon in the middle. The results of a detailed study of the Fjärdskär fluocerite have been published by Lahti and Suominen (1988).

The other heavy accessory minerals are zircon, topaz, bastnaesite, cerianite and columbite.

The zircon crystals from sample A287-Fjärdskär, density fraction 4.2-4.3 g/cm<sup>3</sup>, are transparent to translucent, milky or very slightly pink, simple tetragonal prisms with L/B ratio 3-6. The crystals of this fraction vary in size. In some of the zircon grains there are short tetragonal (L/B ratio 1.5-2.5) zircon crystals as inclusions with pyramids at both ends. These inclusions are clear and slightly yellowish but transparent. Yellowish crystals of the same habit are common in the fraction studied. They may have crystallized earlier from the same magma or have been inherited from the country rock through which the rapakivi granite intruded.

The zircon crystals of density fraction 4.3— 4.6 g/cm<sup>3</sup> are clearly different from those of fraction 4.2—4.3 g/cm<sup>3</sup>. They are clear and transparent and have a faint reddish tint. The size of the zircon crystals varies. The habit is the same as in the previous fraction. L/B is 3—5. Gas or liquid inclusions are visible in some of the crystals. As inferred from colour and density, this



Fig. 33. Fluocerite from sample A287-Fjärdskär. Fluocerite (almost white = f), bastnaesite (red-brown = b), fluorite (violet), zircon (dark-brown = z, within bastnaesite and fluocerite) with radial cracks in biotite, K-feldspar and quartz. Inclined illumination, polished sample. Photo Veli Suominen.

fraction is less radioactive than the previous one.

The zircon content of the Fjärdskär sample is not as high as it normally is in rapakivi granites. Some galena and molybdenite were found during refining processes. Lead isotope ratios of  $^{206}Pb/^{204}Pb = 23.23$ ,  $^{207}Pb/^{204}Pb = 16.33$  and  $^{208}Pb/^{204}Pb = 35.32$  were measured for galena. From the isotopic composition it can be concluded that some radiogenic lead must be involved.

The isotope ratios of six zircon fractions plotted on a concordia diagram yield an age of  $1579 \pm 13$  Ma (see Fig. 34; for analytical data, see Table 9). Isotope ratios for the two fluocerite fractions are given in Table 9. The fluocerite is probably contaminated by its alteration product, bastnaesite. The common lead content in the zircon crystals is high.



Fig. 34. Concordia plot for zircon fractions and fluocerite from rapakivi granite sample A287-Fjärdskär. Fractions B,C and D are air abraded, E and F preleached in hydrofluoric acid.

## The Peipohja rapakivi stock, Kokemäki

The small porphyritic rapakivi stock in Peipohja, Kokemäki (sample A129) was previously dated by Kouvo (1958; <sup>207</sup>Pb/<sup>206</sup>Pb age on zircon) and, with an additional fraction, by Vaasjoki (1977). The petrography and chemical characteristics have been described by Vorma (1976). In many respects the Peipohja rapakivi is similar to that at Eurajoki (Haapala 1977), which continues beneath the Jotnian sandstone of Satakunta as discussed by A. Laitakari (1925) and Kahma (1951). During recent fieldwork the area of the Kokemäki rapakivi was revised making use of aeromagnetic map interpretations (Hämäläinen 1985).

The U-Pb isotope ratios of the seven zircon fractions plotted on a concordia diagram (see Fig. 35) yield an age of  $1573 \pm 20$  Ma. For analytical data, see Table 9. The age obtained is the same as that reported for the Laitila rapakivi (Vaasjoki 1977).



Fig. 35. Concordia plot for the seven zircon fractions analysed from Peipohja rapakivi granite in Kokemäki (A129). D is the original fraction, C abraded with diamond paste, and G preleached in HF.

## Comparison with the Wiborg and Salmi rapakivi areas

The rapakivi granites in Fennoscandia have traditionally been correlated with the largest and, in many respects, best known rapakivi area, that of Wiborg (Viipuri). The Salmi rapakivi on the northeastern shore of Lake Ladoga in Soviet Karelia offers one more possibility for correlating the ages of the rapakivi intrusions in the Fennoscandian (Baltic) Shield.

#### The Wiborg rapakivi area

The Wiborg (Viipuri) rapakivi area in southeastern Finland is composed of several textural types representing different intrusion phases. The rock names used in Finland for these different textural types refer to those of the Wiborg rapakivi as defined by Wahl (1925). Even if there are differences in chemical characteristics, the rock names refer to texture only, as suggested by Sahama (1945).

The Wiborg rapakivi was earlier dated by Kouvo (1958) using the U-Pb method on zircon and the Rb-Sr method on biotite; by Gerling and Polkanov (1958) using the K-Ar method on biotite; by Polkanov and Gerling (1961b) with the same method and by Vaasjoki (1977) using the U-Pb method on zircon. New age data with additional zircon fractions were reported for the Wiborg rapakivi area by Tyrväinen (1986); for the rapakivi-like Onas granite of the same age by Laitala (1984) and for the Östersundom granite porphyry by Törnroos (1984). There does not seem to be a clear age difference between the gabbro-anorthosite and rapakivi varieties and the



Fig. 36. Microphotograph of zircon crystals from wiborgite sample A29 with growth nucleus, characteristic zoning and clear interfaces. Courtesy Olavi Kouvo.

quartz porphyry dykes; within the limits of error they are of the same age, about 1640 Ma. These recent rapakivi ages are summarized in Vaasjoki et al. (1989, 1991). The Hamina quartz porphyry dyke is slightly younger, as reported later in this paper.

For comparison with the Åland area, a wiborgitic variety of the Wiborg rapakivi, A29 Falin, Muurikkala, Miehikkälä, was reanalysed. The anorthosite sample, A119-Ylijärvi, Ylämaa, and the dark coloured rapakivi granite sample A791-Ylijärvi, Ylämaa, are from the same quarry. For chemical analysis of samples A29 and A119, see Rämö (1991).

Zircon from anorthosite (A119) occurs as large, clear, transparent, prismatic crystals with L/B ratio 2.5—6. The surfaces are mostly glossy but contain small opaque impurities. Some surfaces seem to be corroded. Gem-like multifaced



Fig. 37. Microphotograph of an etched zircon crystal from sample A29. Courtesy Olavi Kouvo.



Fig. 38. Concordia diagram for zircons from reference samples A29-Muurikkala (wiborgite), A119-Ylijärvi (anorthosite) and A791-Ylijärvi dark-coloured rapakivi granite of the Wiborg rapakivi area.

zircons occur. Acicular inclusions parallel to the c-axis are common.

The zircon crystals of A29 Falin are long and prismatic with polysynthetic twinning most often around a disharmonically twinned core (see Fig. 36 and 37). The zirconium and hafnium contents of the marginal parts ( $ZrO_2$  61 % and  $HfO_2$  1.6 %) and central parts ( $ZrO_2$  64 % and  $HfO_2$  0.9 %) differ clearly (electron microprobe analyses by Tuula Paasivirta).

The data points of the U-Pb isotope ratios are plotted on the same concordia diagram in Fig. 38. For analytical data, see Table 10. With six zircon fractions (data point A omitted from the calculations) an age of  $1633 \pm 5$  Ma was obtained for A29 (see Fig. 38). The K-Ar age reported by Gerling and Polkanov (1958) on biotite is 1620 Ma, (new Soviet constants; 1569 Ma if conversed after Harland et al., 1982). The same was obtained by Kouvo (1958) with the Rb-Sr method on biotite ( $1610 \pm 40$  Ma; 1576 Ma if the decay Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356

constant recommended by Steiger and Jäger (1977) is used).

# The quartz porphyry dyke of Hamina

One of the quartz porphyry dykes in the Wiborg rapakivi area, the Hamina dyke, cuts both the wiborgitic and the pyterlitic varieties of rapakivi (see Simonen 1973, 1987). It was previously dated and described by Vaasjoki (1977) and after additional radiometric measurements, a new age was reported by Neuvonen (1986) and by Vaasjoki et al. (1991).

The zircon crystals from sample A323-Hamina are pinkish, transparent or red translucent, simple tetragonal prisms with pyramid faces. The L/B ratio is 3–5. Small impurities are common on corroded crystal faces.

For analytical results, see Table 10. Plotted on a concordia diagram, the data points form two



Fig. 39. Concordia diagram for U-Pb ratios of zircon fractions from sample A323, Hamina quartz porphyry dyke. Fractions A, B, C and G were not treated in acid or abraded. The upper group, treated with HF acid or air abrasion, is the most concordant. The ages of the treated fractions are in parentheses.

Sample	Fraction <sup>1</sup>	Concentra µg/g	ation	<sup>206</sup> Pb	Isotopic of lead,	compositio <sup>206</sup> Pb = 1	on 00	Atomic radiome	ratios and tric ages, N	Ла
No	$d=density \sigma/cm^3$			<sup>204</sup> Pb				<sup>206</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb
140.	$Ø = \text{grain size}, \mu m$	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb radiog.	measured	204	207	208	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>235</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb
A29-1	Falin, Muurikkala, M	liehikkälä:	wiborgite							
A029A B <sup>2</sup>	d>4.1	530.0	104.17	880	.08961	11.256	16.641	.2272 ± 14	3.139 ± 33 1442	.10022 ± 63 1628
$C^2$	3.8 <d<4.1< td=""><td>952.4</td><td>182.31</td><td>782</td><td>.10748</td><td>11.427</td><td>16.745</td><td>.2212 ± 13</td><td>3.034 ± 30</td><td>.09946 ± 54</td></d<4.1<>	952.4	182.31	782	.10748	11.427	16.745	.2212 ± 13	3.034 ± 30	.09946 ± 54
D	d>4.6; Ø>160	277.8	60.40	1119	.08786	11.237	15.003	1288 .2513 ± 13 1445	1416 3.475 ± 19 1521	1614 .10027 ± 12 1629
E	d>4.6; HFe	230.0	53.98	3286	.02849	10.421	12.521	.2712 ± 14 1546	3.750 ± 21 1582	.10029 ± 13 1629
F	4.2 <d<4.6 Ø&gt;160</d<4.6 	464.0	94.10	1473	.06699	10.917	13.977	.2344 ± 12 1357	3.229 ± 18 1464	.09994 ± 16 1623
G	4.2 <d<4.6 Ø&gt;160 HF</d<4.6 	353.1	84.33	6696	.01398	10.225	11.640	.2760 ± 14 1571	3.818 ± 21 1596	.10032 ± 8 1630
A1 A119A	19–Ylijärvi, Ylämaa: d>4.6; Ø>70	anorthosite 293.3	e 71.25	7742	.009096	10.166	19.611	.2808 ± 15 1595	3.887 ± 21 1611	.10041 ± 12 1631
В	d>4.2; Ø>160	529.2	128.94	9961	.007155	10.148	20.793	.2816 ± 15 1599	3.902 ± 21 1614	.10049 ± 8 1633
С	4.0 <d<4.2< td=""><td>748.4</td><td>181.50</td><td>9322</td><td>.009123</td><td>10.166</td><td>19.909</td><td>.2803 ± 15 1592</td><td>3.880 ± 21 1609</td><td>.10040 ± 8 1631</td></d<4.2<>	748.4	181.50	9322	.009123	10.166	19.909	.2803 ± 15 1592	3.880 ± 21 1609	.10040 ± 8 1631
A791- A791A	-Ylijärvi, Ylämaa: da d>4.6; Ø>160	ark–coloure 330.0	ed rapakiv 63.23	i granite 83.5	1.1980	26.499	57.341	.2215 ± 13 1289	3.044 ± 54 1418	.0997 ± 17 1618
В	d>4.6; Ø<160 HF	226.9	51.21	804	.12264	11.734	17.834	.2608 ± 16 1494	3.612 ± 29 1552	.10043 ± 47 1632
A32 A323A <sup>2</sup>	23–Hamina: quartz p d>4.2	oorphyry 370.7	61.69	145.0	.63899	18.747	37.184	.1924 ± 13 1134	2.630 ± 63 1309	.0992 ± 17 1608

Table 10. U-Pb isotopic data on the rapakivi granites and quartz porphyry of the Wiborg batholith.

Table 10. (continued)

A323B <sup>2</sup>	3.8 <d<4.1< th=""><th>542.3</th><th>89.28</th><th>219.5</th><th>.41933</th><th>15.638</th><th>25.134</th><th>.1903 ± 12 1122</th><th>2.581 ± 43 1295</th><th>.0984 ± 11 1593</th></d<4.1<>	542.3	89.28	219.5	.41933	15.638	25.134	.1903 ± 12 1122	2.581 ± 43 1295	.0984 ± 11 1593
$C^2$	total borax	410.8	68.19	145.7	.67130	19.235	37.825	.1919 ± 16 1131	2.635 ± 32 1310	.09963 ± 73 1617
D	d>4.6 HF	196.0	45.24	390.7	.25453	13.473	25.568	.2667 ± 14 1524	3.661 ± 20 1562	.09957 ± 11 1616
Е	d>4.6 Ø>160 HF	186.7	44.00	960	.10251	11.373	19.851	.2724 ± 15 1552	3.740 ± 22 1579	.09957 ± 21 1616
F	4.2 <d<4.6 Ø&gt;160 HF</d<4.6 	485.0	117.85	668.7	.14879	12.012	16.235	.2808 ± 15 1595	3.855 ± 24 1604	.09957 ± 28 1616
G	d>4.6	264.3	46.09	164.7	.60613	18.263	38.338	.2016 ± 12 1183	2.747 ± 25 1341	.09883 ± 62 1602
Н	d>4.6 HF	229.7	47.55	118.5	.84354	21.552	46.971	.2392 ± 16 1382	3.262 ± 30 1472	.09890 ± 57 1603
Ι	4.2 <d<4.6 70&lt;Ø&lt;160 abr</d<4.6 	753.5	178.82	926	.10657	11.440	14.493	.2743 ± 17 1562	3.770 ± 28 1586	.09969 ± 34 1618
J	d>4.6; Ø>130 abr	196.1	46.15	413.9	.23702	13.217	24.394	.2720 ± 33 1550	3.728 ± 59 1577	.09942 ± 91 1613

For symbols, see Table 3.

clusters (see Fig. 39), the upper one consisting of fractions with  $^{206}Pb/^{204}Pb > 390$  and the lower one of fractions with  $^{206}Pb/^{204}Pb < 220$ . The most concordant five data points include two air abraded fractions (I and J) and three fractions preleached in hydrofluoric acid (D, E and F). Air abrasion confirms that, in this case, selective lead loss did not occur during hydrofluoric acid treatment.

On geological criteria, the quartz porphyry of Hamina (A323) is the youngest member. It yields an age of  $1617 \pm 3$  Ma with a ten-point best-fit chord (see Fig. 39). Thus, even the youngest quartz porphyry of the Wiborg area is older than

the oldest members of the Åland rapakivi complex.

# The Salmi rapakivi pluton

The Salmi pluton northeast of Lake Ladoga, Soviet Karelia, is composed of several intrusive phases, but its southern part is covered by the supracrustal Salmian series. Two of the three outcropping intrusive phases (Velikoslavinski 1978) were dated in the present study from samples supplied by the Geology Branch of the Soviet Academy of Science in Petrozavodsk after a joint excursion to the area. The first and more abundant



Fig. 40. Microphotographs of HF-etched zircon crystals from sample Salmi I. The largest zircon is 0.6 mm long. Note the growth nucleus and the metamict zone. Photo Veli Suominen.

is the pyterlitic textural type, in which oligoclasemantled ovoids are not uncommon. The second intrusive phase consists of an even-grained rapakivi variety. According to Sahama (1945), who investigated the Salmi pluton in detail, the two types differ in dark mineral contents: the ovoidic rapakivi contains both biotite and hornblende, but the even-grained variety only biotite.

During the refining process it was found that the first phase (Salmi I) contains abundant zircon and some molybdenite. The second phase (Salmi II) is less rich in zircon, but some bastnaesite was found in the heavy magnetic fraction.

The zircons of phase I are acicular, simple tetragonal crystals with zonal growth (see Fig. 40). Pyramid faces are not well developed in all zircon crystals.

For analytical data, see Table 11. The age obtained from the upper intercept of the chord plotted on a concordia diagram is  $1539 \pm 11$  Ma. The lower intercept is  $109 \pm 183$  Ma (see Fig. 41). The



Fig. 41. Concordia plot for the nine zircon fractions analysed from the Salmi rapakivi area (USSR) in SE Fennoscandia.

two intrusive faces seem to be of roughly the same age. Neymark et al. (1991a and 1991b) report an U-Pb age of  $1543 \pm 8$  Ma on zircon fractions from the first intrusive phase of the Salmi rapakivi. The Rb-Sr age of  $1508 \pm 6$  Ma, even if too low as a result of albitization, and the K-Ar ages of  $1500 \pm 30$  Ma and  $1550 \pm 30$  Ma reported by Velikoslavinski (1978) for whole-rock samples of the ovoidic rapakivi, are not far from the zircon ages of the present study. The Salmi pluton is clearly younger than the Wiborg rapakivi complex, thus suggesting an age zonation from centre to periphery in the Baltic shield, contrary to the opinion of Kratz et al. (1968), who are among those who favour westward younging of ages.

Sample	Fraction <sup>1</sup>	Concentration µg/g		<sup>206</sup> Pb 	Isotopic of lead,	compositi <sup>206</sup> Pb = 1	on 00	Atomic radiome	ratios and tric ages,	Ma
No.	d=density, g/cm <sup>3</sup> Ø=grain size, μm	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb radiog.	measured	204	207	208	<sup>206</sup> Pb  <sup>238</sup> U	<sup>207</sup> Pb  <sup>235</sup> U	<sup>207</sup> РЬ  <sup>206</sup> РЬ
A	Salmi, USSR: pyter d>4.3; Ø>70	litic rapaki 154.0	vi granite, 31.29	phase I 128.8	.77396	20.251	44.252	.2348 ± 14 1359	3.074 ± 27 1426	.09497 ± 52 1527
В	d>4.3 cr	145.8	29.75	185.3	.53691	16.998	36.050	.2359 ± 21 1365	3.103 ± 32 1433	.09542 ± 44 1536
С	d>4.3 HF	138.9	30.10	145.9	.68256	18.980	41.543	.2505 ± 18 1441	3.280 ± 33 1476	.09496 ± 60 1527
D	d>4.3; Ø>70 abr	123.9	28.06	307.2	.31756	13.951	28.272	.2619 ± 14 1499	3.445 ± 31 1514	.09541 ± 59 1536
E	d>4.3; Ø>70 abr	136.8	30.86	332.6	.28994	13.611	27.775	.2608 ± 20 1493	3.447 ± 50 1515	.0959 ± 11 1545
A	Salmi, USSR: even- d>4.5	-grained ra 126.4	apakivi gra 26.39	nite, phase 161.6	e II .61519	17.963	39.654	.2413 ± 15 1393	3.129 ± 30 1429	.09406 ± 64 1509
В	4.3 <d<4.5 Ø&lt;160 abr</d<4.5 	199.4	44.63	384.3	.25618	13.049	25.451	.2587 ± 19 1483	3.385 ± 29 1500	.09489 ± 32 1526
С	4.2 <d<4.3 HF</d<4.3 	434.8	87.88	955	.10317	10.917	18.356	.2336 ± 14 1353	3.054 ± 28 1421	.09484 ± 58 1524
D	4.0 <d<4.2 HF</d<4.2 	732.6	153.24	1674	.05883	10.332	17.136	.2418 ± 13 1395	3.172 ± 22 1450	.09515 ± 37 1531

Table 11. U-Pb isotopic data on the rapakivi granites of the Salmi pluton in the USSR.

For symbols, see Table 3.

# SVECOFENNIAN FORMATIONS

The Svecofennian formations, which comprise postorogenic granitoids, huge areas of late orogenic migmatite-forming granites and synorogenic granitoids and gabbros, have traditionally been divided into these groups in relation to the Svecofennian orogeny. Pyroxene granodiorites over a relatively large area proved to be of intraorogenic age. As the study proceeded it became increasingly clear that some of the Svecofennian intrusive formations in southwestern Finland, which are often in contact with the Subjotnian formations would have to be dated. Owing to the lack of radiometric age determinations, similarities in composition and mode of occurrence caused problems with correlations. As the number of radiometric ages grew, it became obvious that even more would be needed before a chronostratigraphic correlation could be worked out.

# The postorogenic granitoids of Åland: the Lemland and Åva intrusions

The granitoid complexes of Lemland, Mosshaga, Seglinge and Åva in the Åland islands represent the group III granitoids of Sederholm (1934). These granitoid plutons are close to the Åland rapakivi batholith, and those of Lemland and Mosshaga are known to be in direct contact with it (see Figs. 1 and 62). Contact relations and radiometric age determinations show that these granitoid plutons are older than the rapakivi intrusions of Åland.

## The Lemland intrusion

Sample A440, previously dated by Vaasjoki (1977), is from Ytterklobb, an island in Lemland, south of Mariehamn.

The Lemland granite is a coarse-grained, porphyritic potassium granite with weak parallel orientation of the microcline megacrysts. The accessory minerals of interest in the present context are zircon and titanite. Titanite is a common



Fig. 42. Concordia plot for U-Pb isotope ratios of zircon fractions from the Lemland granite (A440).

characteristic accessory mineral of the Lemland granite in contrast to the rapakivi granites. Galena was found in the zircon fractions during the refining processes. The lead isotope ratios measured for this galena are  ${}^{206}\text{Pb}/{}^{204}\text{Pb} = 15.78$ ,  ${}^{207}\text{Pb}/{}^{204}\text{Pb} = 15.36$ ,  ${}^{208}\text{Pb}/{}^{204}\text{Pb} = 35.32$ . This lead isotopic composition corresponds to the group F »Leads from the svecofennian supracrustal rocks» of Vaasjoki (1981) and is nearest to lead G 48 from Hästö, Perniö.

The zircon from sample A440 occurs as faint pinkish, transparent or translucent, long (L/B ratio 4—8) prisms. The crystal faces are partly corroded and contain some unidentified impurities.

The U-Pb isotope ratios of four zircon fractions plotted on a concordia diagram (see Fig. 42) yielded an age of  $1770 \pm 2$  Ma. For analytical results, see Table 12. The former analysis of A440A is omitted from the calculations. Had it been included a slightly younger age would have been obtained.

# The Åva intrusion

The Åva intrusion has been described by Sederholm (1924, 1934), Kaitaro (1953), Bergman (1973), Ehlers and Bergman (1984) and Bergman (1986), making it the best documented of the postorogenic granite intrusions in southwestern Finland. An age of about 1.8 Ga was previously reported for the intrusion by Neuvonen (1970), Vaasjoki (1977), Patchett et al. (1981) and Patchett and Kouvo (1986).

Zircon crystals from the Getören granodiorite (A334) are transparent and clear with a faint



Fig. 43. Summary concordia diagram for zircons and titanites from »monzonite» sample A334-Getören, Brändö and granite sample A335—81-va, Brändö from the postorogenic Åva stock. The lower intercept for the summary chord is  $237 \pm 37$  Ma.

brown-red tint or translucent and milky. The L/B ratio is 4—6. The pyramid faces often have an acute angle, and the crystal faces are glossy.

Zircon crystals from the Åva granite (A335) are transparent, pinkish or translucent, milky tetragonal prisms with L/B ratio 4—6. The crystal faces are glossy, and inclusions are few.

The isotope ratios for zircons from both samples yields a pooled age of  $1797 \pm 4$  Ma, with a lower intercept of  $217 \pm 24$  Ma (see Fig. 43). The

age obtained for the A335-Åva granite is  $1803 \pm 10$  Ma and for the A334-Getören granodiorite (earlier called monzonite)  $1799 \pm 13$  Ma. For analytical results, see Table 12, also published by Patchett and Kouvo (1986). The titanite of the Åva area yields a younger, probably regional, metamorphic age (see Fig. 43 and Table 12). The common lead content of titanite in sample A335 is too high for the age to be determined.

#### Late-orogenic granites in southwestern Finland

Extensive areas in the Åland archipelago and southwestern Finland are covered with red and grey microcline granites (see Fig. 1). Except in the most homogeneous parts of the plutons, they tend to be migmatite building and migmatitic in habit (cf. Härme 1965). Inclusions of older supracrustal and infracrustal rocks are common and often granitized into nebulous remnants. The age relations between the older igneous and sedimentogenous rocks and these granites and the younger cutting postorogenic granitoids have been understood since the beginning of this century, but the time of this major event had to be established with radiometric age determinations.

# The granite of Kumlinge

The grey, even-grained potassium granite, A901-Kumlinge, from the village of Kumlingeby, Åland, represents a typical group II granite in Sederholm's classification of granitoids in southern Finland. It forms migmatites with the supracrustal rocks and with the group I granitoids. The granite pluton of Kumlinge is homo-

Sample	Fraction <sup>1</sup>	Concentration µg/g		<sup>206</sup> Pb	Isotopic of lead,	composit <sup>206</sup> Pb =	ion 100	Atomic ratios and radiometric ages, Ma		
No.	d=density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>	000	000	204Pb				<sup>206</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb
	Ø=grain size, μm	<sup>238</sup> U	radiog.	measured	1 204	207	208	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>235</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb
A4 A440A <sup>2</sup>	40-Ytterklobb, Lem d>3.8; Ø>110	land: grani 557.2	te 115.78	319.4	.30137	14.958	24.731	.2402 ± 17 1387	3.592 ± 65 1547	.1085 ± 16 1774
В	4.3 <d<4.6 HF</d<4.6 	386.3	95.85	757.4	.13086	12.539	18.481	.2868 ± 21 1625	4.251 ± 37 1683	.10753 ± 42 1758
С	4.2 <d<4.3< td=""><td>678.8</td><td>140.97</td><td>281.0</td><td>.35500</td><td>15.469</td><td>26.575</td><td>.2400 ± 36 1386</td><td>3.513 ± 56 1530</td><td>.10614 ± 56 1734</td></d<4.3<>	678.8	140.97	281.0	.35500	15.469	26.575	.2400 ± 36 1386	3.513 ± 56 1530	.10614 ± 56 1734
D	4.3 <d<4.6 HF; cr</d<4.6 	330.2	84.23	1469	.06684	11.689	16.341	.2948 ± 20 1665	4.380 ± 55 1708	.1078 ± 10 1762
E	d>4.6	328.2	75.17	294.2	.33491	15.265	26.449	.2647 ± 16 1513	3.901 ± 54 1613	.1069 ± 12 1747
A3 A334A <sup>2</sup>	34–Getören, Brändö total borax	: granodior 216.7	ite (earlie 55.31	r called me 390.9	onzonite) .23631	14.158	21.911	.2949 ± 21 1666	4.448 ± 44 1721	.10939 ± 55 1789
В	titanite borax	104.6	26.99	173.3	.56170	18.364	65.463	.2981 ± 21 1681	4.393 ± 57 1710	.10689 ± 97 1747
В	titanite reanalysed dissolved in HF	103.0	27.75	210.8	.47198	17.149	64.537	.3114 ± 31 1747	4.595 ± 60 1748	.10701 ± 81 1749
С	d>4.6	177.2	44.47	1808	.04967	11.581	16.253	.2900 ± 15 1641	4.360 ± 28 1704	.10904 ± 35 1783
D	4.2 <d<4.6< td=""><td>295.1</td><td>71.40</td><td>2141</td><td>.04181</td><td>11.437</td><td>13.231</td><td>.2796 ± 15 1589</td><td>4.189 ± 25 1671</td><td>.10867 ± 24 1777</td></d<4.6<>	295.1	71.40	2141	.04181	11.437	13.231	.2796 ± 15 1589	4.189 ± 25 1671	.10867 ± 24 1777
E	d>4.6 HF	171.6	44.32	3473	.02531	11.254	15.645	.2986 ± 29 1684	4.491 ± 44 1729	.10909 ± 18 1784
A33 A335A <sup>2</sup>	35–Åva, Brändö: gra total borax	nite 428.5	88.78	568.1	.16295	12.955	21.072	.2395 ± 18 1384	3.543 ± 35 1536	.10729 ± 61 1754

Table 12. U-Pb isotopic data on the postorogenic granites of Åland.

A335 B	titanite total borax	91.7	21.79	96.6	1.0203	24.693	103.22	.2748 ± 20 1564	4.08 ± 12 1649	.1076 ± 26 1759
В	titanite total, reanalysed dissolved in HF	73.6	19.30	77.7	1.2793	28.270	126.78	.3029 ± 28 1705	4.52 ± 14 1734	.1082 ± 29 1768
В	titanite 3.5 <d<3.6 cr/HNO<sub>3</sub>; dissolve</d<3.6 	72.9 d in HF	20.07	70.2	1.4211	30.116	126.28	.3183 ± 33 1781	4.70 ± 13 1766	.1070 ± 24 1749
В	titanite 3.5 <d<3.6, reanaly<br="">dissolved in HF, al</d<3.6,>	72.5 ysed or	17.92	75.0	1.3298	29.025	121.29	.2857 ± 49 1620	4.29 ± 17 1691	.1090 ± 35 1782
С	d>4.6	323.7	71.94	1978	.04568	11.461	17.399	.2568 ± 14 1473	3.838 ± 22 1600	.10838 ± 14 1772
D	4.2 <d<4.6< td=""><td>880.7</td><td>159.41</td><td>1050</td><td>.09258</td><td>11.868</td><td>18.012</td><td>.2092 ± 11 1224</td><td>3.058 ± 19 1422</td><td>.10602 ± 30 1732</td></d<4.6<>	880.7	159.41	1050	.09258	11.868	18.012	.2092 ± 11 1224	3.058 ± 19 1422	.10602 ± 30 1732
E	d>4.6 HF	280.1	66.84	4093	.02216	11.178	16.554	.2758 ± 23 1570	4.136 ± 36 1661	.10876 ± 15 1778

For symbols, see Table 3.

Table 12. (continued)

geneous in its central parts, but becomes coarsegrained or often almost pegmatitic towards the margins, and occurs as veins or neosome in agmatitic migmatites (see Sederholm 1934 and



Fig. 44. Isotope ratios and radiometric age of zircon, monazite and uraninite from granite A901-Kumlingeby, Kumlinge, Åland islands. Ehlers and Ehlers 1978, 1981 for details, chemical analyses and modes).

The heavy accessory minerals include abundant monazite, some uraninite, molybdenite and very little zircon. The zircon occurs as small acicular crystals rich in uranium (see Table 13).

The U-Pb isotope ratios (see Table 13) of zircon, monazite and uraninite from sample A901 plotted on a concordia diagram (see Fig. 44) yield an age of  $1840 \pm 4$  Ma. The data points for zircon and uraninite are discordant, but with the more concordant monazite they yield a good chord.

## The granite of Mattnäs, Nauvo

Mattnäs in Nauvo (Nagu) is a type locality of the coarse-grained, red, porphyritic microcline granite so common in the archipelago of south-

Sample	Fraction <sup>1</sup>	Concentration $\mu g/g$		<sup>206</sup> Pb	Isotopic of lead,	Isotopic composition of lead, <sup>206</sup> Pb = 100			Atomic ratios and radiometric ages, Ma		
No.	d=density, g/cm	3		<sup>204</sup> Pb				<sup>206</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	
	Ø=grain size, $\mu$ r	n <sup>238</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb radiog.	measured	204	207	208	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>235</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb	
A901 A901A	- Kumlingeby, Ku d>4.0; Ø<70	mlinge: gra 1204	nite 220.35	882	.11193	12.190	47.085	.2115 ± 13 1236	3.109 ± 23 1434	.10660 ± 37 1742	
В	monazite	3292	851.8	1983	.04958	11.805	522.33	.2990 ± 21 1686	4.589 ± 39 1747	.11131 ± 47 1821	
С	uraninite	69.12%	9.69%	24753	.00379	10.192	1.749	.1620 ± 11 968	2.265 ± 16 1201	.10140 ± 17 1650	
A322 A322A	-Mattnäs, Nauvo: monazite	granite 3927	1120	7602	.008612	11.290	479.5	.3295 ± 25 1835	5.075 ± 41 1831	.11173 ± 26 1827	
В	d>4.2; Ø>45	1489	244.04	1047	.09290	12.177	9.113	.1894 ± 12 1118	2.849 ± 23 1368	.10911 ± 49 1784	
С	d>4.2 long crystals	1632	263.78	711.4	.13396	12.648	9.798	.1868 ± 12 1104	2.787 ± 24 1352	.10820 ± 58 1769	
D	4.0 <d<4.2< td=""><td>1524</td><td>274.24</td><td>730.5</td><td>.13611</td><td>12.786</td><td>22.150</td><td>.2079 ± 15 1217</td><td>3.134 ± 24 1440</td><td>.10931 ± 26 1788</td></d<4.2<>	1524	274.24	730.5	.13611	12.786	22.150	.2079 ± 15 1217	3.134 ± 24 1440	.10931 ± 26 1788	
E	total long crystals	2556	295.41	640.7	.15342	12.339	9.737	.1336 ± 11 808	1.884 ± 22 1075	.10231 ± 80 1666	
F	3.8 <d<4.0 Ø&lt;70</d<4.0 	2521	310.80	322.0	.3094	14.410	15.651	.1425 ± 10 858	1.995 ± 28 1113	.1016 ± 11 1653	
G	3.8 <d<4.0 abr</d<4.0 	2593	331.76	515.3	.19025	12.967	11.740	.1479 ± 9 889	2.112 ± 17 1152	.10357 ± 47 1689	
Н	3.6 <d<3.8 Ø&gt;130 cr</d<3.8 	2085	325.96	760.6	.13001	12.376	11.862	.1807 ± 13 1070	2.641 ± 22 1312	.10598 ± 43 1731	
I	3.6 <d<3.8 Ø&gt;130 abr</d<3.8 	2069	343.63	670.7	.14756	12.658	9.527	.1919 ± 13 1131	2.816 ± 22 1359	.1064 ± 4 1738	
J	large crystals HF; 0.56 mg	587.1	132.96	1050	.06837	12.409	9.801	.2617 ± 24 1498	4.144 ± 57 1663	.11485 ± 96 1877	

Table 13. U-Pb isotopic data on the late-orogenic granites of southwestern Finland.

Table 13. (continued)

A322K	3.6 <d<3.8 70&lt;Ø&lt;130 abr</d<3.8 	2028	333.17	521.7	.19008	13.235	11.700	.1899 ± 12 1120	2.785 ± 21 1351	.10636 ± 40 1738
A64a- A64aA	Kakola, Turku: g monazite abr cr	rey variety ol 4916	f granite 1388.4	26011	.003369	11.210	290.42	.3264 ± 25 1821	5.025 ± 45 1823	.11165 ± 47 1826
В	d>4.3 Ø>160	614.9	149.07	2379	.04090	11.544	11.836	.2802 ± 16 1592	4.245 ± 26 1682	.10987 ± 16 1797
С	d>4.3 70<Ø<160 long crystals rem	589.4 oved	151.04	3716	.02605	11.489	7.274	.2962 ± 19 1672	4.547 ± 30 1739	.11135 ± 18 1821
D	4.2 <d<4.3 Ø&gt;160</d<4.3 	1258	258.50	954	.10368	12.301	11.739	.2375 ± 18 1373	3.566 ± 45 1541	.1089 ± 10 1780
E	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;160</d<4.2 	1569	302.44	857	.11497	12.485	9.762	.2228 ± 17 1296	3.354 ± 32 1493	.10918 ± 57 1785
F	4.2 <d<4.3 70&lt;Ø&lt;160 cr</d<4.3 	1067	274.91	2961	.03284	11.612	4.281	.2977 ± 19 1680	4.583 ± 29 1746	.11165 ± 11 1826
G	d>4.2 70<Ø<160 long crystals	1106	264.50	2348	.04161	11.532	7.388	.2763 ± 16 1572	4.177 ± 26 1669	.10966 ± 12 1793
Н	d>4.3 abr	627.2	158.63	3056	.03135	11.500	9.208	.2923 ± 19 1652	4.462 ± 31 1724	.11073 ± 22 1811
Ι	4.2 <d<4.3 abr</d<4.3 	1009	275.61	6471	.01442	11.446	3.237	.3158 ± 19 1769	4.898 ± 30 1801	.11251 ± 13 1840
J	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&lt;160</d<4.2 	1494	232.63	1581	.06248	11.795	5.180	.2504 ± 15 1440	3.777 ± 24 1587	.10944 ± 22 1790
	1 + 200 10 + 1	Martin								
A55- A055A	and A399–Kistol 4.0 <d<4.2< td=""><td>a, Muurla: g 1266</td><td>210.05</td><td>259.4</td><td>.38505</td><td>16.120</td><td>24.912</td><td>.1917 ± 10 1130</td><td>2.873 ± 16 1374</td><td>.10869 ± 4 1777</td></d<4.2<>	a, Muurla: g 1266	210.05	259.4	.38505	16.120	24.912	.1917 ± 10 1130	2.873 ± 16 1374	.10869 ± 4 1777
В	3.8 <d<4.0< td=""><td>1533</td><td>202.30</td><td>248.1</td><td>.40181</td><td>16.075</td><td>26.550</td><td>.1525 ± 8 915</td><td>2.225 ± 12 1188</td><td>.10577 ± 12 1727</td></d<4.0<>	1533	202.30	248.1	.40181	16.075	26.550	.1525 ± 8 915	2.225 ± 12 1188	.10577 ± 12 1727
A399A	monazite	2866	807.4	10563	.008955	11.319	689.16	.3256 ± 21 1816	5.026 ± 35 1823	.11197 ± 29 1831
В	d>4.2	1020	228.71	2697	.03620	11.475	18.528	.2593 ± 22 1485	3.926 ± 34 1618	.10982 ± 17 1796

CT 1 1	1 3	
lable	2 13. (	continued

A399C	4.0 <d<4.2 HF</d<4.2 	1323	249.71	2000	.04884	11.546	7.306	.2181 ± 13 1271	3.271 ± 21 1474	.10880 ± 19 1779
A389 A389A	-Haarla, Perniö: graa monazite	nite 6718	1909	12652	.007592	11.264	289.36	.3285 ± 31 1830	5.054 ± 55 1828	.11161 ± 58 1825
В	d>4.2	868.7	167.42	340.2	.29169	14.486	45.200	.2228 ± 13 1296	3.222 ± 49 1462	.1049 ± 13 1713
С	3.8 <d<4.0 abr</d<4.0 	1520	350.97	418.4	.23626	13.910	15.700	.2669 ± 15 1525	3.931 ± 35 1620	.10681 ± 66 1745
A390- A390A	-Pungböle, Kemiö: g 4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;160</d<4.2 	ranite 1641	292.92	2894	.03315	11.207	12.585	.2063 ± 12 1208	3.058 ± 18 1422	.10755 ± 14 1758
В	4.0 <d<4.2 70&lt;Ø&lt;160</d<4.2 	1707	295.86	1530	.06408	11.572	17.766	.2004 ± 13 1177	2.955 ± 25 1396	.10697 ± 51 1748
С	monazite	4996	1425	28440	.00296	11.264	370.89	.3296 ± 23 1836	5.100 ± 38 1836	.11224 ± 21 1836
D	4.2 <d<4.6 Ø&gt;160</d<4.6 	994.7	198.21	2823	.03262	11.373	23.538	.2303 ± 20 1336	3.470 ± 33 1520	.10929 ± 35 1787
E	4.2 <d<4.6 Ø&lt;160</d<4.6 	944.8	200.92	2878	.03230	11.444	30.961	.2458 ± 22 1416	3.729 ± 35 1577	.11004 ± 21 1800
F	4.0 <d<4.2 70&lt;Ø&lt;160</d<4.2 	1748	352.82	603.4	.16405	13.137	56.528	.2332 ± 21 1351	3.505 ± 35 1528	.10901 ± 37 1783
G	4.0 <d<4.2 70&lt;Ø&lt;160 cr</d<4.2 	1528	298.37	3627	.02611	11.237	8.958	.2257 ± 13 1311	3.385 ± 20 1500	.10881 ± 18 1779
Н	4.2 <d<4.6 HF</d<4.6 	434.3	126.22	8943	.00744	11.354	40.464	.3359 ± 18 1866	5.211 ± 30 1854	.11253 ± 17 1840
I	3.8 <d<4.0 abr</d<4.0 	2236	392.60	2191	.04465	11.321	6.613	.2029 ± 13 1191	2.997 ± 19 1406	.10711 ± 13 1750
J	galena	-	-	5380 ± 70	.01859	10.837	2.264	-	-	.10583 ± 16 1729
A997- A997A	Tammo, Parainen: g 3.8 <d<4.0 Ø&gt;160</d<4.0 	ranite 1373	352.73	3923	.02503	11.427	4.404	.2969 ± 15 1676	4.538 ± 24 1738	.11086 ± 10 1813

A997	В	3.8 <d<4.0 Ø&lt;160</d<4.0 	1413	355.30	5057	.01918	11.347	4.919	.2906 ± 16 1644	4.441 ± 24 1720
	С	3.6 <d<3.8< td=""><td>2094</td><td>375.91</td><td>2362</td><td>.04086</td><td>11.255</td><td>5.013</td><td>.2075 ± 11 1215</td><td>3.060 ± 19 1422</td></d<3.8<>	2094	375.91	2362	.04086	11.255	5.013	.2075 ± 11 1215	3.060 ± 19 1422
	D	monazite	1675	478.02	3931	.01994	11.456	1375	.3299 ± 49 1837	5.088 ± 78 1834
	A87	5-Märaskär, Hanko	Hanko gra	anite (rec	alculated f	rom Huhm	a 1986)			
A875	A	d>4.0	1064	220.16	1584	.06031	11.830	35.616	.2392 ± 20 1382	3.631 ± 30 1556
	В	3.8 <d<4.0< td=""><td>1786</td><td>238.12</td><td>1152</td><td>.08359</td><td>11.811</td><td>10.544</td><td>.1541 ± 9 923</td><td>2.266 ± 13 1201</td></d<4.0<>	1786	238.12	1152	.08359	11.811	10.544	.1541 ± 9 923	2.266 ± 13 1201
	С	monazite	2229	619.14	4918	.01644	11.405	567.06	.3210 ± 18 1794	4.949 ± 36 1810
	A87	6-Tulludden, Hanko	: Hanko gr	anite						
A876	A	3.8 <d<4.0 Ø&gt;160 HF</d<4.0 	1796	357.61	1071	.09215	11.879	11.661	.2301 ± 14 1334	3.369 ± 25 1497
	В	4.0 <d<4.2< td=""><td>1332</td><td>266.16</td><td>1204</td><td>.08053</td><td>11.947</td><td>11.531</td><td>.2310 ± 18 1339</td><td>3.455 ± 31 1517</td></d<4.2<>	1332	266.16	1204	.08053	11.947	11.531	.2310 ± 18 1339	3.455 ± 31 1517
	С	3.8 <d<4.0 Ø&gt;160</d<4.0 	1990	344.88	959	.10022	12.174	13.958	.2003 ± 12 1176	2.984 ± 18 1403
	D	3.8 <d<4.0 Ø&lt;160</d<4.0 	2243	366.53	666.0	.14633	12.409	15.648	.1888 ± 10 1115	2.709 ± 17 1330
	E	monazite abr	2618	735.65	8268	.009516	11.268	537.10	.3248 ± 22 1813	4.988 ± 36 1817

390.75 1296

418.51 2171

1381

357.24

For symbols, see Table 3.

3.8<d<4.0

4.0<d<4.2

4.0<d<4.2

Ø<160

abr

abr

abr

cr

F

G

H

1939

1859

1753

Table 13. (continued)

63

.11086

± 8

1813

.10697 ± 29

1748

.11185 ± 32

1829

.11009

± 10 1801

.10668

± 10

1743

.11182

± 44 1829

.10619

± 37

1735

.10849

± 38

1774

.10807

± 16 1767

.10403

± 28

1697 .11138

± 24

.10722

± 44

.10815

± 35

.11023

± 27

1803

1768

1752

1822

3.443

± 24

1514

3.313

± 24

1484

4.193

± 28

1672

11.761

11.792

11.637

.07612

.07159

.04510

10.492

9.935

8.088

.2329

± 13

1349

.2222

± 14

1293

.2759

± 17

64



Fig. 45. Concordia diagram for U-Pb isotope ratios of zircon and monazite fractions from granite A322-Mattnäs, Nauvo. The age of monazite is 1828 ± 6 Ma.

western Finland. It has been described by Hausen (1944a, 1944b) and Edelman (1972, 1973, 1985). Nebulous inclusions of older supracrustal and infracrustal rocks at different granitization stages are common in the granite. Sample A322-Mattnäs is from a homogeneous part (building stone quarry) where the palaeosome is nebulous, if visible at all.

The accessory minerals of interest in the present context are monazite, zircon, rutile and apatite. The zircon fraction can be divided into three types: large euhedral crystals or fragments of crystals, long euhedral acicular crystals with L/B ratio 3—4; and rounded, glassy, drop like crystals with clear interfaces due to recrystallization. Even the milky apatite crystals have glassy faces and a rounded form.

The U-Pb ratios of the zircon fractions and monazite on a concordia plot yield an upper intercept age of  $1842 \pm 31$  Ma and a lower intercept of  $219 \pm 50$  Ma (see Fig. 45). Fraction J, which consists of 0.56 mg of large zircon crystals preleached in hydrofluoric acid, was omitted from the calculations. For the nine remaining zircon fractions the intersections give  $1859 \pm$ 47 Ma and  $244 \pm 68$  Ma, respectively. If fraction J is included, the ten zircon fractions, without monazite, yield a synorogenic age of  $1877 \pm 47$  Ma and with monazite (all fractions analysed)  $1853 \pm 35$  Ma and  $235 \pm 56$  Ma. For analytical results, see Table 13.

The Mattnäs granite was formed through ultrametamorphic processes (Edelman 1985). The ages determined from the zircon fractions are too discordant to be used for establishing the age of the leucosome at the time of migmatization; this age is most probably indicated by monazite. Archaean zircons have not been found in the country rocks of the Svecofennian granitoids except as detrital material (Huhma et al. 1991). Thus, even the slightest impact of Archaean material on zircon isotopic systematics might be significant. In this case, the excluded high age of the large zircon crystals (fraction J) may have been the synorogenic age mentioned above. The diffusion model age for fraction J is 1932 Ma.

## The granite of Kakola, Turku

One of the migmatite-building granites in southwestern Finland, the Kakola granite (sample A64), represents the garnet-cordierite-bearing type that occurs together with strongly migmatized metapelites over large areas of southwestern Finland.

The Kakola granite has been described by Hie-

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356

tanen (1943, 1947), Metzger (1945) and Härme (1960).

Sample A64a represents the most common type, the grey Kakola granite. A medium to coarse-grained variety, it has microcline, quartz, plagioclase, biotite, garnet and cordierite as main constituents. The accessory minerals of interest are monazite, zircon, rutile and apatite.

A reddish, medium-grained type of Kakola granite with the same main constituents and accessory minerals as the grey type is also common. There is even a reddish, coarse-grained, almost pegmatitic type of Kakola granite that is frequently encountered. The colour and grain size of the different types vary without clear contacts between them. The texture of all of them is granoblastic.

The heavy accessory minerals of the Kakola granite have been studied by A. Laitakari (1934), who, starting from 500 kg of rock powder, identified almandine, ilmenite, sillimanite, anatase, monazite, zircon and spinel. Apatite is abundant but only a few crystals of dumortierite, tourmaline and andalusite have been found. Ilmenite is altered to anatase.

The zircon crystals (see Figs. 46 and 47a) from sample A64a (d=4.2-4.3 g/cm<sup>3</sup>) can be divided into four main morphological types:

 a short, transparent variety with L/B ratio 1—1.5 and numerous crystal faces. The crys-



Fig. 46. Microphotographs of zircon and monazite grains from sample A64a-Kakola. The lowest crystal aggregates showing zircons growing on monazite. Largest grain is 0.6 mm long. For details and discussion, see text. Photo Veli Suominen.



Fig. 47a. SEM microphotographs of zircon crystals from A64a-Kakola. Lengths of zircons are: A. 750 μm, B. 415 μm, C. 690 μm, D. 540 μm, E. 310 μm, F. 390 μm, G. 460 μm, H. 375 μm, and I. 405 μm. Photo Ragnar Törnroos.

- tals exhibit growth shells, the innermost of which are often rounded, some of them even showing crystal faces;
- unusually large prisms with L/B ratio 2—4. They are transparent but have a brownish tint,
- long acicular transparent prisms with L/B ratio 8—12. A core is visible. Most of the crystals have rounded ends although some have sharp-edged pyramids;
- 4. rounded, drop like transparent crystals with a distinct core. Much of this fraction is com-

posed of fragments of larger zircons. A thin brown zircon shell is visible in some of the tetragonal pyramid fragments. Some of the grains have joined up into crystal aggregates.

In fraction d > 4.3 g/cm<sup>3</sup>, most of the zircon crystals are transparent, short (L/B ratio is 1—2), microgem-like and rich in crystal faces. A core is often visible. A second common type is a short (L/B ratio 2—4), transparent prism with a narrow, transparent, acicular core. Some of the zir-



Fig. 47b. SEM microphotographs of crystal aggregates of sample A399-Kistola showing zircons and monazites. For discussion, see text. Photo Bo Johansson.

cons have a reddish tint. Only a few of the prisms have an L/B ratio exceeding 4.

Intergrowths of the heavy accessory minerals - zircon in monazite, and monazite in zircon show that these minerals crystallized simultaneously (see Fig. 46). The indentification of the intergrown minerals in Fig. 46 was verified with microsonde analyses made by Mr L. Pakkanen. Though the monazite-zircon aggregates in Figs. 46 and 47a demonstrate that monazite was the first to crystallize, in one case zircon was found as inclusion in monazite. Intergrowths of zircon and monazite are also common in other lateorogenic granites in southwestern Finland, as seen in Fig. 47b of sample A399 Kistola. The multi-faced zircon crystals are morphologically similar to the zircon crystals of granulites in Finland (Dr O. Kouvo, pers. communication) and elsewhere in shield areas (Bibikova 1984). All the details visible in the zircon morphology show that the Kakola granite crystallized in several phases and has a complex history.

The U-Pb isotope ratios plotted on a concordia diagram (see Fig. 48) yield an age of  $1832 \pm$ 11 Ma for the Kakola granite. For analytical data, see Table 13. Note that the zircon crystals of different habit seem to have the same age within the limits of error (e.g. fractions C and G). Long needles are absent from fraction C whereas fraction G is composed of them alone. All the zircon fractions are rich in uranium. The coarse fraction,  $\emptyset > 160 \mu m$ , indicates that the zircon crystals had time to grow. Fraction E contains almost 1600 µg/g of uranium, and the <sup>206</sup>Pb/ <sup>204</sup>Pb ratio is the lowest. If this fraction were omitted, the upper intercept of the best-fit line for the eight zircon fractions would be  $1840 \pm$ 14 Ma, but the lower intercept would be as high as  $319 \pm 114$  Ma. The age  $1832 \pm 11$  Ma obtained is, within the limits of error, the same as that of the other late-orogenic granites in southwestern Finland.



Fig. 48. Concordia plot for zircon and monazite fractions from Kakola granite (A64a), Turku. Fraction D is the original, F crushed and washed in HNO<sub>3</sub>, I air abraded.

# The Perniö granite: Kistola, Haarla and Pungböle

The Perniö microcline granite has been described by Eskola (1914), Lehijärvi (1955, 1957), Salli (1955) and Seitsaari (1955). The Perniö granite cuts the surrounding infracrustal and supracrustal rocks and forms migmatites with them. In its most homogeneous parts, the pluton is a coarse-grained, homogeneous, red microcline granite with weak parallel orientation of the microcline megacrysts. It is represented by samples A55 and A399 from Kistola, A389 from Haarla and A390 from Pungböle. Inclusions of supracrustal rocks are common and different types of migmatite within the pluton are the rule. Over large areas the Perniö granite is nebulitic and garnetiferous.

The first age of the Perniö granite,  $1800 \pm 80$  Ma, was determined by Gast (1960) with the Rb-Sr whole-rock method. A Rb-Sr age of 1780 Ma for biotite fractions from the same sample was reported by Wetherill et al. (1962). If calculated with new decay constants (Steiger and Jäger 1977), the corresponding ages are  $1762 \pm 80$  Ma and 1742 Ma.

The accessory minerals of samples A55 and A399 are monazite, zircon and rutile. Monazite and zircon grew simultaneously as shown by the intergrown crystal aggregates (see Fig. 47b). The

zircon crystals are reddish brown and the L/B ratio is up to 10. The crystals are rich in faces and have sharp edges. There are many exceptionally large zircon crystals. The bulk of density fraction 3.6 < d < 3.8 g/cm<sup>3</sup> is composed of grey rutile.

Plotted on a concordia diagram, the U-Pb isotope ratios of the zircon fractions from the Kistola samples (A55 and A399) yield an age of  $1829 \pm 14$  Ma and  $1830 \pm 10$  Ma, if fractions from only one sample (A399) were used (see Fig. 49). The data point of the monazite analysis fits the chord. For analytical results, see Table 13.

The zircon grains of A389-Haarla, Perniö are red and reddish-brown translucent fragments of larger zircon crystals with corroded surfaces.

The U-Pb data points of the zircon fractions of sample A389-Haarla (see Fig. 50) do not fit the same chord as the data points of sample A390-Pungböle, Kemiö. For analytical data, see Table 13. The monazites from the three samples of Perniö granite (Kistola, Haarla, Pungböle) yield the same age (about 1830—1840 Ma) within the limits of error.

The zircon crystals of sample A390-Pungböle are transparent, small, pinkish, tetragonal needles (L/B ratio 4—6) or, more frequently, fragments of red or yellow transparent or translucent crystals with many, often corroded, crystal faces.



Fig. 49. Concordia plot for zircon and monazite fractions from samples A55 and A399, Kistola granite, Muurla.



Fig. 50. Concordia diagram for U-Pb isotope ratios of zircon and monazite fractions from the Perniö granite (A390-Pungböle and A389-Haarla).

The U-Pb isotope ratios of the eight zircon fractions from sample A390-Pungböle, in the western part of the pluton, do not fall on the best-fit line of Kistola, but give a chord of their own (see Fig. 50). The chord yields an upper intercept age of  $1840 \pm 8$  Ma and a lower intercept of  $248 \pm 22$  Ma (data point H above the concordia line was omitted from the calculations). The zircons are highly radioactive and hence heavily damaged. All the data points except H (preleached in hydrofluoric acid) are discordant. The common-lead content is high. For analytical data, see Table 13.

The lead in the Pungböle galena is highly radiogenic ( $^{206}Pb/^{204}Pb = 5380 \pm 70$ ; see Table 13) and corresponds to an age of 1729 Ma if corrected for common lead with a model age of about 1.8 Ga. This lead is distinguished by the conspicuously low  $^{208}Pb/^{206}Pb$  radiogenic ratio of 0.0161, which points to a source with a high U/Th ratio.

# The granite of Tammo, Parainen

The small round granite stock of Tammo is composed of a coarse-grained microcline granite showing sharp-cutting contacts with adjacent rocks (see Edelman 1973). The microcline grains are surrounded by orthoclase, and both euhedral and anhedral quartz are present (Edelman 1949). There are inclusions of country rock, and granite veins intrude the country rock. These features clearly distinguish the Tammo granite from the other granites of the region, as pointed out by Edelman (1960), who postulated a postorogenic age for the Tammo granite.

Sample A997 is from the southern part of the intrusion, on the northern shore of the island of Bockholm.

The heavy accessory minerals of interest in the present context are monazite and zircon. The zircon crystals are large and transparent with glossy faces, L/B ratio 4—6, but even short reddish crystals occur in fraction d>4.0 g/cm<sup>3</sup> (L/B ratio 2). The monazite is reddish-brown and dull.

The data points for the three zircon fractions and one monazite fraction plotted on a concordia diagram yield an age of  $1829 \pm 3$  Ma, the lower intercept being  $251 \pm 14$  Ma (see Fig. 51). The data point of the monazite analysis falls slightly above the concordia curve. If monazite were omitted, the age would be  $1829 \pm 4$  Ma, and the lower intercept  $252 \pm 21$  Ma. For analytical results, see Table 13. The age is typical of lateorogenic intrusions in Finland.


Fig. 51. Concordia plot showing U-Pb isotope ratios of zircon and monazite fractions from A997-Tammo granite, Parainen.

## The granite of Tulludden and Märaskär, Hanko

The Hanko granite is similar to that of Perniö in many respects. A red, medium to coarsegrained porphyritic microcline granite, it cuts the older infracrustal and supracrustal rocks, building with them migmatites of different textural types near its contacts. On the islands south of the town of Hanko the granite is homogeneous, porphyritic and pinkish, with only sparse remnants and inclusions of older supracrustal rocks (see Laitala 1970).

The Hanko granite has been dated with the U-Pb method. Sample A875-Märaskär yielded an age of  $1830 \pm 10$  Ma on both zircons and monazite (published by Huhma 1986). An aplogranite has been dated from Trekobb, immediately east of Hanko (Hopgood et al. 1983). The zircon and monazite fractions yielded an age of  $1790 \pm 3$  Ma. Another aplogranite from Innerskär gives a zircon chord of  $1841 \pm 5$  Ma and a single monazite yields an age of 1807 Ma. The Innerskär aplogranite is cut by thin pegmatite veins in places (Hopgood et al. 1983). The initial Nd isotope ratio of the Märaskär sample of Hanko granite has been studied by Huhma (1986).

The Hanko granite contains abundant honey yellow monazite, some zircon and some garnet

as accessory minerals. Bastnaesite was also identified.

The zircon crystals in the Märaskär sample, fraction  $3.8 < d < 4.0 \text{ g/cm}^3$ , can be divided into three groups by habit: a) acicular, clear, transparent prisms with L/B ratio 8—10 and sharpangled pyramid faces; b) brownish-grey, transparent prisms with L/B ratio 4—5, and less sharply angled pyramid faces than the crystals of group a; a growth nucleus is often visible; c) short, brownish multifaceted or droplike crystals with L/B ratio 1—3. In fraction 4.0 < d < 4.2g/cm<sup>3</sup>, pinkish crystals with an L/B ratio of 3—5 are clear. They are rich in crystal faces, and the pyramid faces have an obtuse angle.

In the Tulludden sample the zircon crystals in fraction 3.8 < d < 4.0 g/cm<sup>3</sup>, finer than 100 mesh, are reddish, transparent or translucent simple prisms. The L/B ratio is 3—5 and the pyramid faces have an obtuse angle. In some of the short crystals a zircon crystal forms the nucleus. In the same density fractions, crystals coarser than 100 mesh often have L/B ratios of up to 10, mostly 6—8. The pyramid faces have an obtuse angle. The colour of the transparent crystals is greyish brown, and a zircon crystal is often encountered as an inclusion. In fraction 4.0 < d < 4.2 g/cm<sup>3</sup> the zircon crystals are clear, pinkish prisms with L/B ratio 4—5. Some of the grains have a growth nucleus.

The seven zircon fractions analysed and monazite can be compared (see Fig. 52) with the fractions from Märaskär. The ages of the highly concordant monazite fractions are:

A875-Märaskär	$1829 \pm 9$ Ma	1
A876-Tulludden	$1822 \pm 6$ Ma	1.

The zircon fractions combined with the monazite fractions yield the following upper and lower intercepts:

A876-Tulludden $1824 \pm 38$  Ma ( $263 \pm 112$  Ma)A875-Märaskär $1830 \pm 10$  Ma ( $142 \pm 20$  Ma).

Within the limits of error the results are the same, but the role of the monazites is dominant.





The age of the zircon of the Tulludden sample is  $1826 \pm 61$  Ma ( $266 \pm 162$  Ma).

Within the zircon population of the Tulludden sample fractions A and C, consisting of large crystals (>160  $\mu$ m) may be anomalous. If they are omitted from calculations, the age of the five zircon fractions and monazite is 1832±21 Ma (303±65 Ma) and that of the five zircon fractions alone  $1842 \pm 34$  Ma  $(328 \pm 87$  Ma).

For analytical results, see Table 13. The ages are typical of late-orogenic rocks in southern Finland and, within the limits of error, are the same as the age of the above monazite-bearing granites. The scatter shows that the zircon population must be mixed.

#### Intraorogenic intrusions in southwestern Finland

In the Turku district, pyroxene granodiorites occur as large plutons (see Hackman 1923, Hietanen 1947) among migmatites composed of garnet-cordierite-sillimanite-bearing metapelites and granites of the Kakola and Mattnäs types. Garnet-bearing tonalite dykes of the same age occur in the northernmost part of the Brändö archipelago in the Gulf of Bothnia.

# The pyroxene granodiorite of Kakskerta, Turku

The pyroxene granodiorite of Kakskerta has been described by Hackman (1923) and Hietanen (1947). The various textural types are



Fig. 53. Concordia diagram and radiometric age of zircon fractions from pyroxene granodiorite A498-Kakskerta, Turku and A920-Kittuis, Houtskär. The upper intercept age ( $1862 \pm 6$  Ma) is for the Kittuis sample.

Samj	ole	Fraction <sup>1</sup>	Concentr µg/g	ation	<sup>206</sup> Pb	Isotopic of lead,	compositi206Pb = 1	on 00	Atomic radiome	ratios and etric ages,	Ma
No.	d=d	lensity, g/cm <sup>3</sup>			<sup>204</sup> Pb				<sup>206</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb
	Ø=	grain size, µm	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb radiog.	measured	204	207	208	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>235</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb
A A49	498- 8A	-Naula-ahde, Kaks d>4.1; Ø>130	kerta, Turk 930.9	u: pyroxen 248.80	e granodic 1986	.03099	11.667	5.239	.3089 ± 19 1735	4.790 ± 44 1783	.11247 ± 58 1839
	В	d>4.1; Ø<130	984.9	259.39	3245	.02258	11.521	10.312	.3044 ± 18 1713	4.706 ± 31 1768	.11215 ± 23 1834
	С	3.3 <d<3.5< td=""><td>1266</td><td>312.96</td><td>1502</td><td>.05313</td><td>11.824</td><td>11.899</td><td>.2858 ± 17 1620</td><td>4.375 ± 34 1707</td><td>.11102 ± 43 1816</td></d<3.5<>	1266	312.96	1502	.05313	11.824	11.899	.2858 ± 17 1620	4.375 ± 34 1707	.11102 ± 43 1816
	D	3.5 <d<3.6< td=""><td>1304</td><td>317.52</td><td>1440</td><td>.05631</td><td>11.876</td><td>16.202</td><td>.2814 ± 17 1598</td><td>4.310 ± 35 1695</td><td>.11110 ± 47 1817</td></d<3.6<>	1304	317.52	1440	.05631	11.876	16.202	.2814 ± 17 1598	4.310 ± 35 1695	.11110 ± 47 1817
	E	3.6 <d<4.1< td=""><td>1458</td><td>347.39</td><td>1507</td><td>.05348</td><td>11.771</td><td>6.605</td><td>.2755 ± 17 1568</td><td>4.194 ± 33 1672</td><td>.11044 ± 41 1806</td></d<4.1<>	1458	347.39	1507	.05348	11.771	6.605	.2755 ± 17 1568	4.194 ± 33 1672	.11044 ± 41 1806
A	920-	Kittuis, Houtskär:	pyroxene gra	anodiorite							
A92	0A	4.3 <d<4.6< td=""><td>474.6</td><td>133.40</td><td>10191</td><td>.00869</td><td>11.463</td><td>6.600</td><td>.3248 ± 21 1813</td><td>5.081 ± 36 1832</td><td>.11345 ± 29 1855</td></d<4.6<>	474.6	133.40	10191	.00869	11.463	6.600	.3248 ± 21 1813	5.081 ± 36 1832	.11345 ± 29 1855
	В	4.2 <d<4.3< td=""><td>655.5</td><td>174.50</td><td>6433</td><td>.01480</td><td>11.457</td><td>6.349</td><td>.3077 ± 17 1729</td><td>4.775 ± 27 1780</td><td>.11256 ± 10 1841</td></d<4.3<>	655.5	174.50	6433	.01480	11.457	6.349	.3077 ± 17 1729	4.775 ± 27 1780	.11256 ± 10 1841
A	822-	Västerhamnen, Brå	indö: granet	-bearing	tonalite dy	ke					
A82	2A	d>4.3 abr	434.4	123.00	2250	.02507	11.687	8.003	.3273 ± 26 1825	5.120 ± 52 1839	.11347 ± 53 1855
	В	4.2 <d<4.3 abr</d<4.3 	902.9	257.66	7900	.01161	11.542	10.051	.3298 ± 20 1837	5.177 ± 32 1848	.11385 ± 11 1861
	С	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;70 abr</d<4.2 	1352	374.57	6071	.01512	11.550	10.884	.3203 ± 19 1790	5.009 ± 31 1820	.11345 ± 7 1855
	D	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&lt;70 abr</d<4.2 	1419	396.12	4922	.01947	11.580	12.097	.3226 ± 17 1802	5.033 ± 27 1824	.11316 ± 7 1850
	E	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&lt;70 abr</d<4.2 	1520	427.34	4960	.01907	11.587	12.386	.3250 ± 17 1814	5.076 ± 27 1832	.11328 ± 5 1852
	F	3.8 <d<4.0 Ø&gt;70; abr long crystals</d<4.0 	1645	396.71	2887	.03320	11.539	12.130	.2788 ± 15 1585	4.262 ± 23 1685	.11088 ± 7 1814

Table 14. U-Pb isotopic data on the intraorogenic intrusions in southwestern Finland.

For symbols, see Table 3.

Additional data for samples A498 and A920, see Appendix 5.

represented in the present study by sample A498-Naula-ahde, Kakskerta, Turku.

The pyroxene granodiorites are interpreted as having crystallized from a dry magma under PT conditions close to those of the granulite facies. Garnet-cordierite thermometry demonstrates that such conditions did in fact prevail over large areas of southwestern Finland (Schellekens 1980, Hölttä 1986). The presence of rutile in the monazite granites refers to granulite facies conditions (Bohlen et al. 1983).

Plotted on a concordia diagram, the seven data points for different zircon fractions of sample A498-Kakskerta yield an age interval of 1842— 1879 Ma (see Fig. 53). For analytical data, see Table 14.

#### The pyroxe granodiorite of Kittuis, Houtskär

The pyroxene granodiorite (sample A920) of Kittuis, Houtskär was found recently in the course of regional mapping for map sheet 1034 Korpo (Suominen 1987b). The granodiorite is coarse-grained, and in places porphyritic with microcline megacrysts. The hypersthene granodiorite is surrounded by porphyritic microcline granite of the same type as the Mattnäs granite.

The accessory minerals in the Houtskär pyroxene granodiorite include zircon, monazite, appreciable apatite of two different generations and some titanite (no rutile). Molybdenite was found in the heavy mineral fractions.

The four zircon fractions analysed fit the chord of  $1862 \pm 6$  Ma (see Fig. 53). For analytical data, see Table 14.

### The garnet-bearing tonalite dyke of Västerhamnen, Brändö

In the northeasternmost part of the Åland archipelago, some 4—5 km east of the Åland rapakivi batholith (Suominen, in prep.) and some 17—18 km west of the Vehmaa rapakivi pluton, a complex brecciated, banded, gabbro-anortho-



Fig. 54. Garnet-bearing tonalite dyke cross cutting the diorite and a more mafic dyke on Västerhamnen, Brändö, Åland. Photo Markus Torssonen.

site-diorite to tonalite intrusion is cut by a set of garnet-bearing dykes on the island of Västerhamnen. The dykes are plagioclase and hornblende porphyritic, quartz dioritic and tonalitic in composition. Similar dykes are met with on nearby islands and skerries. To test whether the gabbro with its anorthositic portions could be related to



Fig. 55. Concordia diagram showing the isotope ratios of zircon fractions from the garnet-bearing tonalite dyke, Västerhamnen.

the Subjotnian formations in age a sample of the garnet-bearing tonalitic dyke was dated. A crosscutting dyke would give a minimum age.

The tonalite dyke is 30-60 cm wide. It is medium to fine-grained with garnet aggregates 1-2cm in diameter. The contacts with the adjacent rocks are intrusive but not linear (see Fig. 54). The garnet-bearing dykes of different types crosscut each other, thus rendering their mutual age relations obscure. They seem to have intruded an existing joint system almost contemporaneously.

The heavy accessory mineral fraction contains zircon, abundant apatite, some anatase and a few dark coloured titanite grains. In the homogeneous zircon fractions with d > 4.0, the zircons crystals are acicular and clear. The lighter fractions ( $3.8 < d < 4.0 \text{ g/cm}^3$ ) contain abundant crystals with corroded prisms, and crystal aggregates with parallel overgrowth. Some drop-like crystals were observed and some grains were without crystal faces. The anatase was encountered in this weight fraction.

For analytical results, see Table 14. Note the usual variation in uranium content. Despite the differences in uranium content, the data points of fractions A — E are very concordant; only fraction F with the above anomalous and long grains is more discordant (see Fig. 55). The age obtained for fractions A—E is  $1864 \pm 16$  Ma, with a lower intercept of  $474 \pm 482$  Ma. The corresponding intercepts for all fractions are  $1862 \pm 3$  Ma and  $425 \pm 58$  Ma. The lower intercept is slightly higher than normal, suggesting later disturbance.

The age is very close to that of the pyroxene granodiorites dated in this study and to those dated by J. van Duin in Amsterdam, The Netherlands (pers. communication).

#### Synorogenic plutonic rocks in the Åland islands

Some of the granitoid intrusions in different parts of the Åland archipelago, are very alike in composition and mode of occurrence. Some are older than the post- and late-orogenic granites dated in this study, but the temporal comparison was made (Hausen 1960) with the postorogenic granites because of the similarities in field relations, compositions and textures. A few of the gabbros close to the rapakivi plutons had to be dated to reveal the age relations between these rocks. Samples of some of these intrusions were included in the Hf and Nd isotope studies reported by Patchett et al. (1981), and Patchett and Kouvo (1986).

#### The granite of Håkonsnäs, Kökar

The Kökar granite sample, A879-Håkonsnäs, was taken from a granite quarry in the southern part of the island of Karlby, Kökar. The rock is a coarse, porphyritic, red microcline granite with weak parallel orientation. At the contacts the pluton cuts the surrounding infracrustal and supracrustal rocks. Hausen (1960) included this granite in the Lemland, Mosshaga, Åva and Fjälskär group of granites. The Kökarsfjärden rapakivi pluton starts from the western contact of the Kökar granite.



Fig. 56. Concordia plot of isotope ratios of zircon fractions from granite A879-Håkonsnäs, Karlby, Kökar. If fraction A is omitted, the age is  $1883 \pm 9$  Ma ( $253 \pm 26$  Ma), see text.

The zircon crystals are euhedral, sharp-edged, transparent and short in habit with L/B ratio 2-4, although longer needles also occur.

The U-Pb isotope ratios plotted on a concordia diagram yield an age of  $1878 \pm 13$  Ma for the five zircon fractions (see Fig. 56). Data point A does not fit the chord, and the common lead content is exceptionally high. If this fraction is omitted, the age from the upper intercept is  $1883 \pm$ 9 Ma and from the lower intercept  $253 \pm 26$  Ma.

For analytical results, see Table 15.

The age obtained assigns the rock to the synorogenic age group.

#### The granite of Mörskär, Kökar

The granite pluton of Mörskär, in the outermost archipelago of Kökar, is a homogeneous, coarse, porphyritic microcline granite. The foliation along the regional trend is due to parallel orientation of microcline megacrysts (see Suominen 1983). The pluton contains only a few, albeit quite large, angular or subangular fragments of the same type of granodiorite as that surrounding it. The pluton is cut by amphibolite and uralite-plagioclase porphyrite dykes.

Sample A880 is from Käringen, a skerry lying south of Mörskär.



Fig. 57. Concordia diagram for U-Pb isotope ratios of zircon and titanite fractions from granite A880-Käringen, Mörskär, Kökar.

The U-Pb isotopic ratios of the three zircon fractions plotted on a concordia diagram yield a synorogenic age of  $1881 \pm 8$  Ma (see Fig. 57). The titanite fraction gives a younger age, 1804 Ma, probably indicating a metamorphic event during that time or marking the end of a metamorphic event.

For analytical data, see Table 15.

The Hf and Nd isotopic compositions of the Mörskär zircon and whole-rock sample have been reported by Patchett et al. (1981) and Patchett and Kouvo (1986).

#### The gabbro of Alvik, Karlby, Kökar

The gabbro pegmatoid, A998-Alvik, Kökar, is part of a gabbro lens (100x300 m<sup>2</sup>) in granodiorite on the western shore of the island of Karlby. Alvik lies some 3.5 km north of Håkonsnäs and 2.5 km northeast of the island of Söderharun (rapakivi granite sample A441, see Suominen 1981 and Fig. 14).

The zircon crystals of fraction d > 4.2 g/cm<sup>3</sup> are mostly transparent, euhedral, sharp- edged prisms with L/B ratio 3—4. Some of the crystals are round and rich in crystal faces. The crystallization history seems to be complicated. Some zircon crystals have a dull core in a transparent shell. Fraction d = 4.0-4.2 g/cm<sup>3</sup> contains



Fig. 58. U-Pb isotope ratios of zircon fractions from gabbro pegmatoid A998-Alvik, Karlby, Kökar.

Sample	Fraction <sup>1</sup>	Concent µg/§	ration	<sup>206</sup> Pb	Isotopic of lead,	c composit <sup>206</sup> Pb =	ion = 100	Atomic radiom	e ratios and etric ages,	i Ma
No.	d=density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>			<sup>204</sup> Pb				<sup>206</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb
	Ø=grain size, µm	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb radiog.	measured	1 204	207	208	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>235</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb
A879 A879A	9–Håkonsnäs, Karlby, d>4.6	Kökar: g 281.0	ranite 75.18	698.1	.13833	13.175	13.961	.3092 ± 20 1736	4.817 ± 61 1787	.1130 ± 11 1848
В	4.2 <d<4.6< td=""><td>535.5</td><td>134.74</td><td>1369</td><td>.07250</td><td>12.339</td><td>10.251</td><td>.2908 ± 16 1645</td><td>4.554 ± 29 1740</td><td>.11358 ± 33 1857</td></d<4.6<>	535.5	134.74	1369	.07250	12.339	10.251	.2908 ± 16 1645	4.554 ± 29 1740	.11358 ± 33 1857
С	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;70</d<4.2 	1169	221.57	2346	.04216	11.657	8.937	.2191 ± 12 1277	3.349 ± 19 1492	.11084 ± 10 1813
D	3.8 <d<4.0 Ø&gt;70</d<4.0 	1943	299.46	1522	.06516	11.616	9.665	.1781 ± 11 1056	2.635 ± 18 1310	.10728 ± 27 1753
E	4.2 <d<4.6 cr</d<4.6 	377.1	96.89	2080	.04667	12.037	9.278	.2970 ± 19 1676	4.670 ± 31 1761	.11406 ± 20 1865
A880 A880A	–Mörskär, Kökar: gr d>4.6	anite 497.0	127.55	4605	.01739	11.623	8.158	.2966 ± 17 1674	4.656 ± 28 1759	.11387 ± 15 1862
В	4.2 <d<4.6< td=""><td>593.8</td><td>148.05</td><td>3534</td><td>.02476</td><td>11.666</td><td>7.956</td><td>.2882 ± 21 1632</td><td>4.501 ± 33 1731</td><td>.11331 ± 10 1853</td></d<4.6<>	593.8	148.05	3534	.02476	11.666	7.956	.2882 ± 21 1632	4.501 ± 33 1731	.11331 ± 10 1853
С	4.0 <d<4.2< td=""><td>1182</td><td>254.73</td><td>3149</td><td>.02971</td><td>11.582</td><td>8.324</td><td>.2491 ± 14 1433</td><td>3.839 ± 22 1600</td><td>.11179 ± 8 1828</td></d<4.2<>	1182	254.73	3149	.02971	11.582	8.324	.2491 ± 14 1433	3.839 ± 22 1600	.11179 ± 8 1828
D	titanite 3.4 <d<3.5< td=""><td>193.2</td><td>54.69</td><td>452.9</td><td>.21954</td><td>14.060</td><td>37.804</td><td>.3271 ± 24 1824</td><td>4.994 ± 78 1818</td><td>.1107 ± 14 1811</td></d<3.5<>	193.2	54.69	452.9	.21954	14.060	37.804	.3271 ± 24 1824	4.994 ± 78 1818	.1107 ± 14 1811
A998– A998A	Alvik, Karlby, Kökar d>4.6	: gabbro p 362.5	egmatoid 100.71	2371	.03528	11.906	7.142	.3210 ± 17 1794	5.059 ± 30 1829	.11428 ± 20 1868
В	4.2 <d<4.6< td=""><td>573.1</td><td>161.19</td><td>2911</td><td>.03147</td><td>11.830</td><td>7.533</td><td>.3251 ± 17 1814</td><td>5.112 ± 28 1838</td><td>.11405 ± 12 1865</td></d<4.6<>	573.1	161.19	2911	.03147	11.830	7.533	.3251 ± 17 1814	5.112 ± 28 1838	.11405 ± 12 1865
С	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&lt;160</d<4.2 	869.6	226.01	2584	.03819	11.774	8.767	.3004 ± 18 1693	4.662 ± 31 1760	.11257 ± 32 1841
D	4.0 <d<4.2 Ø&gt;160</d<4.2 	960.7	242.95	2044	.04832	11.836	9.251	.2923 ± 16 1652	4.506 ± 25 1731	.11180 ± 16 1829

Table 15. U-Pb isotopic data on the synorogenic granites, granodiorites and gabbro pegmatoids of Åland.

Table 15	o. (continued)									
A998F	4.2 <d<4.6< th=""><th>565.1</th><th>158.46</th><th>6263</th><th>.01544</th><th>11.617</th><th>6.934</th><th>.3241 ± 17 1809</th><th>5.097 ± 27 1835</th><th>.11408 ± 5 1865</th></d<4.6<>	565.1	158.46	6263	.01544	11.617	6.934	.3241 ± 17 1809	5.097 ± 27 1835	.11408 ± 5 1865
A877 A877A	'-Svartgrund, Föglö: d>4.2; Ø>160	gabbro peg 567.5	matoid 157.34	4142	.02162	11.735	10.764	.3204 ± 19	5.055 ± 31	.11442 ± 9
								1791	1828	1871
В	4.0 <d<4.2< td=""><td>846.9</td><td>221.66</td><td>3130</td><td>.02958</td><td>11.666</td><td>11.904</td><td>.3025 ± 17 1703</td><td>4.698 ± 27 1766</td><td>.11265 ± 14 1842</td></d<4.2<>	846.9	221.66	3130	.02958	11.666	11.904	.3025 ± 17 1703	4.698 ± 27 1766	.11265 ± 14 1842
С	titanite	144.5	39.25	597.6	.16104	13.562	7.940	.3139 ± 17 1759	4.926 ± 30 1806	.11382 ± 20 1861
D	3.8 <d<4.0< td=""><td>1510</td><td>342.53</td><td>2605</td><td>.03682</td><td>11.219</td><td>10.634</td><td>.2622 ± 19 1501</td><td>3.875 ± 28 1608</td><td>.10717 ± 11 1751</td></d<4.0<>	1510	342.53	2605	.03682	11.219	10.634	.2622 ± 19 1501	3.875 ± 28 1608	.10717 ± 11 1751
E	3.6 <d<3.8< td=""><td>2549</td><td>441.40</td><td>1429</td><td>.06833</td><td>10.743</td><td>11.114</td><td>.2002 ± 10 1176</td><td>2.705 ± 15 1329</td><td>.09801 ± 18 1586</td></d<3.8<>	2549	441.40	1429	.06833	10.743	11.114	.2002 ± 10 1176	2.705 ± 15 1329	.09801 ± 18 1586
F	3.6 <d<3.8< td=""><td>2408</td><td>416.62</td><td>1642</td><td>.05825</td><td>10.636</td><td>10.526</td><td>.2000 ± 10 1175</td><td>2.711 ± 15 1331</td><td>.09834 ± 10 1593</td></d<3.8<>	2408	416.62	1642	.05825	10.636	10.526	.2000 ± 10 1175	2.711 ± 15 1331	.09834 ± 10 1593
G	3.8 <d<4.0< td=""><td>1531</td><td>342.32</td><td>2045</td><td>.04664</td><td>11.377</td><td>10.869</td><td>.2585 ± 16 1481</td><td>3.828 ± 24 1598</td><td>.10741 ± 7 1756</td></d<4.0<>	1531	342.32	2045	.04664	11.377	10.869	.2585 ± 16 1481	3.828 ± 24 1598	.10741 ± 7 1756
A 560	)-Bockholm Kumlin	oe: granodi	orite							
A560A	3.8 <d<4.1 Ø&lt;110</d<4.1 	1151	267.37	3326	.02909	11.490	10.417	.2686 ± 16 1533	4.108 ± 26 1655	.11095 ± 15 1815
В	4.1 <d<4.2< td=""><td>840.5</td><td>203.67</td><td>3107</td><td>.02753</td><td>11.609</td><td>10.062</td><td>.2801 ± 14 1591</td><td>4.339 ± 24 1700</td><td>.11236 ± 13 1838</td></d<4.2<>	840.5	203.67	3107	.02753	11.609	10.062	.2801 ± 14 1591	4.339 ± 24 1700	.11236 ± 13 1838
С	3.6 <d<3.8< td=""><td>1832</td><td>386.27</td><td>1708</td><td>.05687</td><td>11.723</td><td>14.132</td><td>.2437 ± 13 1405</td><td>3.679 ± 20 1566</td><td>.10949 ± 8 1791</td></d<3.8<>	1832	386.27	1708	.05687	11.723	14.132	.2437 ± 13 1405	3.679 ± 20 1566	.10949 ± 8 1791
D	3.8 <d<4.1< td=""><td>990.4</td><td>264.27</td><td>8396</td><td>.01093</td><td>11.508</td><td>9.847</td><td>.3084</td><td>4.830 ± 30</td><td>.11360 ± 12</td></d<4.1<>	990.4	264.27	8396	.01093	11.508	9.847	.3084	4.830 ± 30	.11360 ± 12

Tabl	e l	5. (	cont	inued	)

A560- A560A	-Bockholm, Kumling 3.8 <d<4.1 Ø&lt;110</d<4.1 	e: granodio 1151	rite 267.37	3326	.02909	11.490	10.417	.2686 ± 16 1533	4.108 ± 26 1655	.11095 ± 15 1815
В	4.1 <d<4.2< td=""><td>840.5</td><td>203.67</td><td>3107</td><td>.02753</td><td>11.609</td><td>10.062</td><td>.2801 ± 14 1591</td><td>4.339 ± 24 1700</td><td>.11236 ± 13 1838</td></d<4.2<>	840.5	203.67	3107	.02753	11.609	10.062	.2801 ± 14 1591	4.339 ± 24 1700	.11236 ± 13 1838
С	3.6 <d<3.8< td=""><td>1832</td><td>386.27</td><td>1708</td><td>.05687</td><td>11.723</td><td>14.132</td><td>.2437 ± 13 1405</td><td>3.679 ± 20 1566</td><td>.10949 ± 8 1791</td></d<3.8<>	1832	386.27	1708	.05687	11.723	14.132	.2437 ± 13 1405	3.679 ± 20 1566	.10949 ± 8 1791
D	3.8 <d<4.1 abr</d<4.1 	990.4	264.27	8396	.01093	11.508	9.847	.3084 ± 18 1732	4.830 ± 30 1790	.11360 ± 12 1858
1563	Algerçö Föglö: gran	odiorite								
A563A	d>4.1; Ø>70	316.1	86.11	3282	.02850	11.910	11.021	.3148 ± 18 1764	5.002 ± 31 1819	.11525 ± 16 1883
В	d>4.6	249.2	70.11	3128	.02760	11.900	11.246	.3251 ± 17 1814	5.167 ± 28 1847	.11527 ± 12 1884
С	4.2 <d<4.6< td=""><td>337.2</td><td>92.47</td><td>2780</td><td>.03267</td><td>11.943</td><td>11.266</td><td>.3169 ± 16 1774</td><td>5.026 ± 27 1823</td><td>.11502 ± 9 1880</td></d<4.6<>	337.2	92.47	2780	.03267	11.943	11.266	.3169 ± 16 1774	5.026 ± 27 1823	.11502 ± 9 1880

Geologieur buriej of rimana, banetin 55		Geological	Survey	of	Finland,	Bulletin	35	6
---	--	------------	--------	----	----------	----------	----	---

Table 15	. (continued)									
A563 D	4.1 <d<4.2< th=""><th>715.2</th><th>173.08</th><th>1180</th><th>.08209</th><th>12.401</th><th>13.198</th><th>.2797 ± 15 1589</th><th>4.353 ± 24 1703</th><th>.11288 ± 16 1846</th></d<4.2<>	715.2	173.08	1180	.08209	12.401	13.198	.2797 ± 15 1589	4.353 ± 24 1703	.11288 ± 16 1846
Е	titanite	55.0	15.89	329.3	.29007	15.324	18.141	.3338 ± 29 1856	5.247 ± 62 1860	.11402 ± 76 1864

For symbols, see Table 3.

more brownish crystals, some with a transparent shell; the L/B ratio is 4. Fraction d = 3.8-4.0 g/cm<sup>3</sup> is different, most of the zircons being dark brown, round and corroded. The zircon morphology shows that the gabbro has recrystal-lized to some degree.

The isotope ratios from the U-Pb analyses of five zircon fractions plotted on a concordia diagram yield an age of  $1881 \pm 6$  Ma (Fig. 58). The lower intercept,  $552 \pm 95$  Ma, is high compared with the  $177 \pm 141$  Ma for the Hyvinkää gabbro of the same age (Suominen 1988).

The age is typically synorogenic, and shows that the gabbro is not a Subjotnian formation.

For analytical data, see Table 15. Increasing uranium content causes increasing discordance (see concordia diagram Fig. 58).



Fig. 59. Concordia plot for zircon and titanite fractions from gabbro pegmatoid A877-Svartgrund, Föglö, Åland.



Fig. 60. Microphotographs of zircon crystals from granodiorite A563-Algersö. Zonal growth on a growth nucleus is present in all crystals, although the habit varies markedly. Some zircon crystals are rounded. Photo Erkki Halme.

The gabbro island of Svartgrund lies about 4 km south of the Åland rapakivi batholith, close to its known southwesternmost contact (see Suominen 1978). The gabbro penetrates a granodiorite with cutting amphibolite dykes. The normal type is a medium-grained hornblende gabbro. Ophitic pegmatoidic varieties constitute small, unevenly distributed patches in the rock.

Initial Hf isotopic ratios of zircons have been reported by Patchett et al. (1981) and initial Nd isotopic data on whole-rock by Patchett and Kouvo (1986).

The zircons of A877 are euhedral, long, acicular and sharp-edged crystals. They are reddish brown in colour due to pigment. The crystals also contain lath-shaped inclusions, often parallel to the c-axis. The L/B ratio is up to 6.

The U-Pb isotope ratios of the six zircon frac-

tions and one titanite (see Table 15) plotted on a concordia diagram yield an age of  $1891 \pm 11$  Ma (see Fig. 59). The density fractions, 3.8-4.0 and 3.6-3.8 g/cm<sup>3</sup>, were analysed twice (data points G, D and E, F). The age obtained is almost as high as that for Algersö, see later in this study. The age on the zircon fractions is equal to that on titanite. There are no signs of later recrystallization. However, as the high lower intercept (663 Ma) indicates later disturbance, the Svartgrund gabbro is not genetically related to the anorthosite and rapakivi of Åland.

# The granodiorites of Algersö, Föglö and of Bockholm, Kumlinge

The granodiorites of Algersö, Föglö (see Fig. 14) and of Bockholm, Kumlinge (see Fig 1 and 62) were dated at the same time as the diabases



Fig. 61. Summary plot for U-Pb isotope ratios of zircon and titanite fractions from granodiorites A560-Bockholm and A563-Algersö (dot in circle titanite), granite A440-Lemland, rapakivi A762-Godby and diabases A658- and A793-Föglö and A562-Märket Åland islands. For details see the corresponding diagrams. N.B. A29 is from the Wiborg rapakivi area.

Table	16	. Rb	-Sr	isotope	data.
Analys	t: (	Otto	van	Breem	en

Sample No.	Phase	Rb ppm	Sr ppm	<sup>87</sup> Rb/ <sup>86</sup> Sr atomic r.	<sup>87</sup> Sr/ <sup>86</sup> Sr atomic r.	Age ( <sup>87</sup> Sr/ <sup>86</sup> Sr)i M S W D
Diabases in	southern Finlar	nd				M.S. W.D.
1212	Sorkka, olivin	e diabase				
	w.r.	17	449	0.1075	0.70578	
		17	447	0.1086	0.70582	1430±46Ma
	3F	17	709	0.0681	0.70518	0.7037±2
	8F	59	544	0.3128	0.70982	0.7
	9F	94	494	0.5525	0.71481	
	10F	99	495	0.5780	0.71535	
	pyroxene	1.9	47	0.1155	0.70518	
	biotite	307	42	21.94	1.0921	1263±18 MA
1215	Sorkka, hybrid	1				
	4F	61	101	1.761	0.74559	
	5F	99	125	2.317	0.75419	1184±26 Ma
	6F	150	116	3.773	0.77886	0.7162±11
	8F	209	87	7.056	0.83217	2.2
	9F	174	87	5.848	0.81431	
1217	Kiperinoja, oli	ivine diabase				
	biotite	408	43	28.73	1.2074	1251±18 Ma
1231	Vaasa, olivine	diabase				
	biotite	290	61	14.21	0.95310	1253±18 Ma
		283	69	12.04	0.91447	1249±18 Ma
1208	Föglö, pyroxer	ne diabase				
	w.r.	12.8	419	0.0886	0.70563	
	4F	25.6	562	0.1317	0.70616	
	8F	6.5	520	0.0362	0.70428	1556±34 Ma
	10F	38.1	240	0.4591	0.71365	0.7035±2
		38.2	240	0.4613	0.71371	1.2
	11F	69.4	300	0.6708	0.71814	
	13F	99.4	307	0.9367	0.72396	
1198	Kumlinge, hor	nblende dial	base			
	w.r.	10	297	0.0981	0.70575	
	6F	13	439	0.0837	0.70524	1599±26 Ma
	7F	70	363	0.5577	0.71633	0.7036±3
	8F	216	393	1.597	0.73995	
	9F	318	373	2.485	0.75890	
	10F	374	340	3.208	0.77502	
1222	Ansio, olivine	diabase				
	w.r.	33	433	0.2195	0.70870	
	6F	23	685	0.0952	0.70590	
	9F	100	559	0.5180	0.71583	1661±26 Ma
	12F	270	482	1.628	0.74127	0.7036±3
		270	482	1.625	0.74117	2.5
	13F	329	498	1.917	0.74870	
		298	447	1.935	0.74800	
	14F	302	420	2.088	0.75345	
	biotite	493	36	43.29	1.7115	1656±24 Ma
		463	63	22.23	1.2173	1643±24 Ma

1221	Tuomasvuori	, rheomorph	ic dyke.			
	4F	48	156	0.8881	0 72554	
	8F	30	145	0.6026	0.72002	1580+62 Ma
	9F	19	111	0.4873	0.71700	0.7063+7
	10F	31	157	0.5724	0.71930	4.5
	11F	143	153	2 709	0.76672	4.5
		143	154	2 702	0.76671	
				2.702	0.70071	
1228	Heinola, oliv	ine diabase				
	biotite	392	104	11.14	0.95879	1630±24 Ma
1220	T and the d	1.1.1				
1229	Lovasjarvi, o	livine diabase	0.10	100.7	2 524	
	Diotite	212	8.12	123.7	3.524	1622±24 Ma
Rapakivi gra	anites of the Å	land islands				
					DC 87D1 1 42	I.R. 0.706±3
2	Höghargen	Jammarland		and non-shiri	DC * RD=1,42	x 10 - a -
2	Hogbergen, I	ammariand:	even-grai		0.00711	1504.06.14
	w.r.	234	380	12.85	0.98/11	1524±26 Ma
5	Böle, Eckerö	: pyterlite				
	w.r.	183	111	4.822	0.81048	1509±48 Ma
12	Prästö I, Sun	d: wiborgite				
	w.r.	188	125	4.375	0.80227	1533±52 Ma
	w.r.	187	125	4.363	0.80149	1524±52 Ma
17	T 8			1 1		
17	Langnas, Lur	nparland: Dic	otite rich, p	orphyritic rapakivi	1 2207	1510.00 16
	w.r.	55/	45.5	23.98	1.2287	1518±23 Ma
	Diotite	954	15.8	276.4	6.7042	1511±21 Ma
	biotite	1014	15.7	309.1	7.3672	1502±21 Ma

m 11	11	
Table	16.	(continued

and their country rocks in the Åland area.

The granodiorite A563-Algersö is coarsegrained and partly gneissose in texture. The main minerals are plagioclase, quartz, K-feldspar, hornblende and biotite. In the present context the accessory minerals zircon and titanite are of interest. The rock is rich in zircon.

The zircons in sample A563 are small, euhedral, tetragonal acicular crystals with L/B ratio 1-3. They are clear and transparent but small. Small cores can be found in the zonally grown zircons (see Fig. 60 for microphotographs).

The Bockholm granodiorite, sample A560 (see Sederholm 1934, p. 32 and Ehlers 1979), has been referred to as a gneissose granite. The sample was taken from a site 30 m east of the »Bockholm conglomerate».

The composition is much the same as that of sample A563-Algersö but the rock is less coarsegrained. The Bockholm granodiorite, too, is rich in zircon. The habit of the translucent zircon crystals is the same as that of the Algersö zircon crystals, but the size varies and the crystals are smaller than those of the Algersö granodiorite. The L/B ratio is 1—4. The crystals are slightly rounded and not always clear. A growth nucleus and zoning are characteristic features.

A concordia plot yields an age of  $1899 \pm 8$  Ma for the Algersö zircon fractions. The more discordant zircon fractions from the Bockholm

81

granodiorite yield a chord of  $1882 \pm 15$  Ma age (see Fig. 61). Titanite from A563-Algersö is concordant with an age of  $1864 \pm 14$  Ma. These are slightly higher than the typical ages of synorogenic granitoids in southern Finland (cf. Simonen 1980b, Kähkönen et al. 1989). For isotope data, see Table 15.

# **Rb-Sr DATING OF DIABASES AND ÅLAND RAPAKIVI**

Samples of postmetamorphic diabase dykes were collected by Dr Otto van Breemen for dating with the Rb-Sr method at the Scottish Universities Reactor and Research Centre. Some of the samples were from the same localities as the samples dated with U-Pb on zircons for this study. Patchett (1978) has referred to these Rb-Sr results with van Breemen and Halliday (in prep.).

Later, some of the rapakivi granites of Åland were sampled and dated by Dr O. van Breemen to be used as a reference for the Subjotnian diabases. The Rb-Sr isotopic data are listed in Table 16, and the sampling sites are given in Appendix 4.

The biotite ages of diabase dykes fit those dated with the U-Pb method on zircon fractions

and also most of the whole-rock determinations (see Table 16). The Rb-Sr ages on biotite of the Åland rapakivi are lower than the U-Pb ages on zircon fractions. The same feature was noticed by Kouvo (1958) for biotite from sample A29 (rapakivi) and for biotite from the Bodom granite dated with Rb-Sr and K-Ar methods. The whole-rock Rb-Sr ages for rapakivi are the same as those for biotite fractions from the same samples. This might be due to later disturbances or later chemical processes, as thoroughly discussed by Welin et al. (1983) with reference to the Mosshaga granite stock in the Åland islands and by Kähkönen et al. (1989) to the Hämeenkyrö batholith near Tampere.

#### **ISOTOPE GEOCHEMICAL STUDIES IN SOUTHWESTERN FINLAND**

To unravel the genetic aspects, Hf and Nd isotope geochemical studies were made on zircon and whole-rocks from some of the samples from southwestern Finland dated during this study. The Hf initial ratios measured lie slightly above the CHUR curve and the Nd initial ratios are close to the CHUR curve, thus precluding the likelihood of a significant amount of Archaean material in southwestern Finland (Patchett et al. 1981, Patchett and Kouvo 1986 and Huhma 1986). Haapala and Rämö (1990) and Rämö (1990, 1991) studied the petrogenesis of the rapakivi granites in southern Finland by means of Nd isotopic analyses and verified that the magmas were derived from the lower crust of probably a Svecofennian granodiorite in composition, but the Salmi rapakivi magma, however, has a mixture of more or less equal amounts of juvenile (1.9 Ga) and Archaean lower crustal materials.

The high <sup>208</sup>Pb (Bibikova 1984) content shown by the zircon from the Postjotnian diabase dykes and from the Föglö diabase was not seen in the granitoids of this study. The high <sup>208</sup>Pb/<sup>206</sup>Pb ratio was also observed in the Ansio and Lovasjärvi dykes (Siivola 1987).

#### DISCUSSION

The rock formations dated from southwestern Finland are listed in Table 17. The bulk of the crust cropping out in southwesternmost Finland was created during the Subjotnian, Jotnian and Postjotnian sub-eras (see Fig. 62). The radiometric ages of the samples dated in this study are summarized in Fig. 63. The samples are divided into distinct age groups representing synorogenic and late- and postorogenic Svecofennian intrusions, and Subjotnian and Postjotnian magmatic events. The Subjotnian, with its intrusions, constitutes a coherent time span (see Fig. 63) and the Postjotnian diabases are the youngest intrusive rocks in southwestern Finland. The synorogenic intrusions form a coherent age group within the limits of error. The age relations of the intrusions will have to be established through field observations on the contact relations.

The pyroxene granodiorites of Naula-ahde, Kakskerta and of Kittuis, Houtskär seem to be intraorogenic as postulated by Simonen (1980b). The other pyroxene granodiorites in southwestern Finland are of the same age (J. van Duin, pers. communication). The intraorogenic event is also shown by the garnet-bearing tonalite dykes of Västerhamnen in Brändö, Åland. Titanite of A563-Algersö, Föglö of this age is one more marker of the event. Mafic dyke swarms cutting the synorogenic intrusions in the southernmost Åland archipelago might be of this age.

The late-orogenic intrusions in southwestern Finland constitute a very distinctive age group with a high uranium content in zircons. They are time markers for a thermal pulse at the peak of the regional metamorphism imprinted in their accessory minerals: monazite and rutile. Monazites of the nine late-orogenic granite samples give an age of 1826—1836 Ma. The same, or a slightly older, thermal pulse is also evidenced by the existence of the younger titanites and monazites  $(1837 \pm 6 - 1845 \pm 10 \text{ Ma})$  of the trondhjemites of the Uusikaupunki area (Patchett and Kouvo 1986). The same peak of metamorphism has been reported from southern Finland by Korsman (1977) and Hölttä (1986) and from southern central Sweden by Stålhös and Björk (1984). However, the ages on monazites from the Tammisaari area are synorogenic around 1.88 Ga or, in the case of the Dynerskär aplogranite, still lower at 1807 Ma (Hopgood et al. 1983).

The ages on monazite and titanite may be younger than those on zircons and may indicate the time of metamorphism, as discussed by Aho (1979) and other workers. In the Kakola granite, monazite and zircon grew simultaneously. This mineral association is common to all S-type granites (Sawka et al. 1986). The U-Pb ages of monazite, zircon and titanite can be the same, as demonstrated by the A877-Svartgrund sample (Fig. 59), by the Hämeenkyrö (Patchett and Kouvo 1986), Vaaraslahti (Salli 1983) and other batholiths, and even by those within the Archaean in Ilomantsi (Tilton and Grünenfelder 1968). Mattinson (1982) reports blocking temperatures of over 600°C for zircon, 450-500°C for titanite and ca. 400°C for apatite.

The inherited zircon in S-type granites can be reset isotopically during the formation of a granite as a result of high temperatures during the generation of the granitic magma (Wielens 1979, cf. Halliday 1983). Moreover, two zircon generations of different ages and different habit can exist side by side within the same rock as reported by Meriläinen (1976) from a quartz dioritic orthogneiss in the granulite belt of Lapland. The late- orogenic (1.83 Ga) Mattnäs and Hanko granites bear evidence of inherited zircon, showing that the silicate melt of granitic composition was not completely homogenized, whereas granites from Tammo, Kistola and Kakola do not show isotopic ratios indicating inherited zircons.

A regional metamorphic event is marked by the postorogenic granites of Lemland, Mosshaga and Åva, and by the younger titanite age of the Mör-

Age, Ma	Method	GSF No.	Formations and processes	Ref.
PALAEOZOIC				
480	Palaeont.		Ordovician limestone, Lumparn	(2)
550	Palaeont.		Cambrian sandstone dykes	(2)
POSTJOTNIAN	V			
1265±6	U-Pb z	A562	Olivine diabase, Märket	(1,7)
1264±12	U-Pb z, bd	A784	Olivine diabase, Säppi	(1)
		A785		
		A786		14.10101
1258±13	U-Pb z, bd	A975	Olivine diabase, Hankkila	(1)
IOTNIAN				
>1260			Jotnian sandstone, Satakunta	(1)
SUBJOTNIAN	(anorogenic)			
1523±34	Rb-Sr wr		Pyroxene diabase, Vidskär, Föglö	(6)
1550±35	Rb–Sr b		Quartz porphyry dyke, Källholm, Åva	(6)
1565±26	Rb-Sr wr		Hornblende diabase, Börsskär, Kumlinge	(6)
1540±12	U-Pb z, bd	A658	Pyroxene diabase, Bergskär, Föglö	(1)
1577±12	U-Pb z, bd	A793	Pyroxene diabase, Källsholm, Föglö	(1)
1560	U-Pb z, bd	A792	Anorthosite, Västersten, Hammarland	(1)
1562±14	U–Pb z	A373	Rapakivi, Supyy	(13)
1571±9	U-Pb z	A/16	Quartz porphyry, Hammarudda, Hammarland	(1)
1574±6	U-Pb z	A/15	Quartz porphyry, Blaklobb, Eckero	(1,4)
15/1±20	U-Pb z	A/1/	Quartz porphyry dyke, Jyddo, Foglo	(1)
15/0±13	U-PD Z	A/14	Quartz porphyry dyke, Kalinolin, Ava	(1)
1572+20	U-FUZ	A120	Rapakivi granite Peinobia	(1, 4)
(1 4 5)	0-102	A12)	Kapakivi grainte, Teiponja	
1573+8	U-Ph z		Rapakivi, Euraioki and Laitila, pooled	
101020	0 102		isochron of A255, A606, A608, A689, A690	(4)
1575±6	U-Pb z	A762	Rapakivi, Godby, Finström	(1)
1574±14	U-Pb z	A441	Rapakivi, Söderharun, Kökarsfjärden	(1,4)
1584±9	U-Pb z	A1020	Rapakivi, Reposaari, Pori	(12)
1560±14	U-Pb z	A467	Rapakivi, Böle, Eckerö	(1, 4)
1575±11	U-Pb z	A295	Rapakivi, Vabbängarna, Eckerö	(1)
1576±9	U-Pb z	A764	Rapakivi, Getabergen, Geta	(1, 4)
1579±13	U-Pb z	A287	Rapakivi, Fjärdskär, Houtskär	(1)
1590±15	U-Pb z	A710	Rapakivi, Kustavi-Vehmaa	(4)
1600±30	Rb-Sr wr		Pyroxene diabase, Korsö, Brändö	(6)
POSTOROGEN	NIC			
1730	Rb-Sr b	A095	Trondhjemite, Heinänen, Uusikaupunki	(5,9)
$1742 \pm 34$	Rb-Sr wr		Granite, Mosshaga, Högskär, Sottunga	(10)
1750	U-Pb t	A334	Granodiorite ("Monzonite"), Åva	(1, 9)
1770±2	U-Pb z	A440	Granite, Ytterklobb, Lemland,	(1, 4)
1788±11	U-Pb z	A442	Granite, Mosshaga, Sälskär, Sottunga	(10)
1799±13	U-Pb z	A334	Granodiorite ("Monzonite") of Ava	(1,9)
1803±10	U-Pb z	A335	Granite, Ava, Brändö	(1,9)
1804	U-Pb t	A880	Granite, Käringen, Mörskär, Kökar	(1)
1810	U-Pb t	A174	Pyroxene trondhjemite, Putsaari	(9)
1815	U-Pb z	A308	Granite, Seglinge, Kummelskar	(4)
1815±12	U-PD Z, I	АЗОба	Gabbro pegmatite, Tynki, Kalanti	(9)

Table 17. Ages of events and rock formations in Åland and adjacent areas in southwestern Finland.

#### Table 17. (continued)

LATE-OROG	ENIC			
1824±38	U-Pb z, m	A876	Granite, Tulludden, Hanko	(1)
1829±3	U-Pb z, m	A997	Granite, Tammo, Parainen	(1)
1830±10	U-Pb z, m	A875	Granite, Märaskär, Hanko	(1.11)
1830±10	U-Pb z, m	A399	Granite, Kistola, Muurla	(1.5)
1830	U-Pb m	A389	Granite, Haarla, Perniö	(1)
1832±11	U-Pb z, m	A64	Granite, Kakola, Turku	(1)
1840±8	U-Pb z, m	A390	Granite, Pungböle, Kemiö	(1)
1840±4	U-Pb m, z, u	A901	Granite, Kumlingeby, Kumlinge	(1)
1842±31	U-Pb z, m	A322	Granite, Mattnäs, Nauvo	(1)
INTRAOROG	ENIC			
1842-1879	U-Pb z	A498	Pyroxene granodiorite, Kakskerta, Turku	(1)
1862±6	U-Pb z	A920	Pyroxene granodiorite, Kittuis, Houtskär	(1)
1862±3	U-Pb z	A822	Garnet tonalite dyke, Västerhamnen, Brändö	(1)
SYNOROGEN	IC			
1864±14	U-Pb t	A563	Granodiorite, Algersö, Föglö	(1)
1872±11	U-Pb z	A554	Diorite/tonalite, Ruokola, Uusikaupunki	(9)
1874±2	U-Pb z	A552	Diorite/tonalite, Kaleva, Kalanti	(9)
1878±13	U-Pb z	A879	Granite, Håkonsnäs, Kökar	(1)
1878	U-Pb z	A568b	Gabbro, Tynki, Kalanti	(9)
1881±6	U-Pb z	A998	Gabbro pegmatoid, Alvik, Kökar	(1)
1881±8	U-Pb z	A880	Granite, Käringen, Mörskär, Kökar	(1,9)
1882±15	U-Pb z	A560	Granodiorite, Bockholm, Kumlinge	(1)
1891±10	U-Pb z	A832	Granodiorite, V. Rödgrund, Sottunga	(10)
1891±11	U-Pb z, t	A877	Gabbro pegmatoid, Svartgrund, Föglö	
(1,8,9)				
1892±5	U-Pb z	A174	Pyroxene trondhjemite, Putsaari	(9)
1899±8	U-Pb z	A563	Granodiorite, Algersö, Föglö	(1)
1. This study			z zircon	
2. Tynni 1982			t titanite	
3. Simonen 19	980		m monazite	
4. Vaasjoki 19	977		u uraninite	
5. Kouvo 195	8		b biotite	
6. Otto van Bi	reemen, pers. comm.		wr whole rock	
7. Patchett 19	78		bd baddeleyite	
8. Patchett et	al. 1981			
9. Patchett &	Kouvo 1986			
10. Welin et al	. 1983			
11. Huhma 19	86			
12. Vaasjoki et	t al. 1988			
13. Idman 198	9			

skär granite. In the Mörskär area the younger titanite may be associated with the formation of the mafic dykes of at least two generations that cut the granite. In Tynki (Uusikaupunki trondhjemite area) the formation of a coarse-grained gabbro pegmatite with zircon and titanite of  $1815 \pm 12$  Ma age (Patchett and Kouvo 1986) in

a gabbro with a synorogenic age of 1878 Ma is evidence of mobilization at that time.

There seems to be a spatial and, to some extent, temporal connection between rapakivi and quartz porphyry dykes, and anorthosites and pyroxene diabases. This is the case in the Åland area, in Satakunta and in the Wiborg rapakivi Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356



Fig. 62. (1) Post-orogenic granites in southwestern Finland, (2) rapakivi granites, (3) Subjotnian quartz porphyry dykes, (4) Subjotnian pyroxene diabase dykes, (5) Jotnian sandstone, (6) Postjotnian olivine diabases. Because of the scale, the narrow but numerous Subjotnian hornblende diabase dykes parallel to the pyroxene diabases in the area between the Åland, Kökarsfjärden and Vehmaa rapakivi plutons (more than 300 known dykes) are omitted. Sampling sites marked with letters refer to: R = Reposaari, P = Peipohja, Vä = Västerhamnen, K = Kakskerta, Ta = Tammo, Ma = Mattnäs, Ki = Kittuis, Bo = Bockholm, Bö = Börsskär, Ku = Kumlinge, Mö = Mörskär, S = Svartgrund, H = Hammarudda, M = Märket, Hö = Höggrund, B = Blåklobb, V = Vabbängarna, Ge = Geta, Å = Åsbacka, Go = Godby, L = Långnäs. The map is simplified after Simonen (1980a), and the Jotnian in Satakunta is drawn after Hämäläinen (1985).

86



Fig. 63. Chronogram for the rock formations in southwestern Finland dated in this study.

area. The same rock type association is found in the Nordingrå and Rödö areas in Sweden. As suggested by observations on erratic blocks, there is a rapakivi area on the bottom of the Bothnian Sea near Vaasa (Eskola 1928, 1934, von Eckerman 1937, Veltheim 1962, Flodén and Winterhalter 1981). A similar rock association and rifting have been reported from North America by Geijer (1922) and Emslie (1978). Jotnian sandstone and Postjotnian diabases are often found close to rapakivi, implying that sedimentation from cratonized areas to grabens and continuous rifting continued until the basaltic intrusions associated with the movements were emplaced.

The Jotnian sediments form a series of sediments covering a long time span and large areas of Fennoscandia (see von Eckermann 1937). In Soviet Karelia the red sandstone on the western shore of Lake Onega is older because it is cut by diabase dykes of 1670 Ma (K-Ar) age (Kratz and Mitrofanov 1980). Back in 1938, Väyrynen suggested that, »it would thus seem more natural to consider the sandstone series, too, older than the Rapakivi granite, ....» Younger formations are those of the Salmian series of Lake Ladoga, which transgressively overlie rapakivi granite in Karelia, and the sandstones of the Tersky coast of the White Sea with 1450-1000 Ma ages (Kratz et al. 1968). K-Ar ages of 1280-1318 Ma for argillaceous Jotnian facies (Muhos siltstone formation) and of between 1130 Ma (Leistilänjärvi, Nakkila) and 1300 Ma (Lammastenkoski, Harjavalta) for Satakunta sandstones have been reported by Simonen (1960) and by Polkanov and

87

88

Gerling (1961a). The Leistilänjärvi specimen, taken from close to a Postjotnian diabase dyke, gives too low an age (Simonen 1960).

The lithological association rapakivi granite, quartz porphyry, labrador porphyrite - gabbro anorthosite (and pyroxene diabase) occurs in the Åland and Wiborg rapakivi areas. Kranck (1929, 1968) pointed out the cratonic origin of this rock association, in which the anorthositic members are older than the granitic ones. According to Borgström (1947), the diabase dykes must be older than the rapakivi batholith. But there are some younger diabase dykes, e.g. the Kungsholm dyke, that cut the rapakivi within the Åland rapakivi area. The similarities in the contact zones are obvious, as pointed out by Wahl (1936, 1938) with reference to the island of Someri (Sommarö) in the Gulf of Finland, at the southern margin of the Wiborg rapakivi area, where two different generations of quartz porphyry occur. This may be true in the Aland area as well, even though the quartz porphyry dykes dated in the present study are of the same age within the limits of error. However, not all quartz porphyry dykes in southwestern Finland are of Subjotnian age, as demonstrated by the Sara, Karvia dyke dated to  $1883 \pm 3$  Ma (Suominen et al. in prep.).

The Salmian series in Soviet Karelia is subdivided into a lower and an upper subseries. The lower series, which is 37.2 m thick, deposited on the erosional surface of the rapakivi granites, with an angular unconformity on the rocks of the Ladogian series. It is composed of conglomerates, gravellites, arkose and quartz-feldspathic sandstones, subgreywackes, tuff sandstones, tuffites and clay slates. The upper Salmian subseries, which is up to 137.5 m thick, is composed of alternating diabasic, basaltic andesite-basaltic porphyrites and their tuffs. The lower Salmian subseries is correlated with coarse-clastic Jotnian rocks of the Satakunta region, but on the whole the Salmian series is correlated with the lower sedimentary-volcanogenic cycle of the Nordingrå region, Sweden. According to preliminary information, the porphyrites of the Salmian series are 1100—1300 Ma old (Kairyak and Khazov 1967). Thus formations of this series are dated as Jotnian. Popov et al. (1977), however, report a Pb-Pb isochron age of 1400 Ma for the basalt on Mantsinsaari of the Salmian series and refer to the K-Ar age of 1350—1450 Ma obtained by Rozanov et al. 1975.

The rapakivi magma was generated in the lower crust (Vorma 1976, Emslie 1978, Andersson 1983, Nurmi and Haapala 1986, Haapala and Rämö 1990 and Rämö 1991). The zircons started to crystallize during the residence of the magma in the crust and, owing to oscillating PT conditions (Grigorev 1965), their growth was often zonal, as demonstrated by photographs of etched zircon crystals from the Wiborg and Åland areas. The final emplacement was associated with a distensional phase of movements contemporaneous with the intrusion of basaltic dykes (Vorma 1976, Vaasjoki 1977, Laitakari and Leino 1989, Rämö 1991) in the cratonic crust. Caused by isostatic uplift, these events resulted in faults and grabens in the Riphean crust (Kahma 1978).

In the Föglö diabase the autolithic portions started to crystallize while the magma was still mobile. This resulted in the rounded and corroded corners shown by some of the labradorite laths. The same happened to the anorthositic variety of pyroxene diabase in Västersten and Höggrund.

The Subjotnian Föglö dyke set, the anorthositic variety of pyroxene diabase on Västersten, the quartz porphyry dykes of Blåklobb, Hammarudda, Jyddö and Källholm, and the rapakivi of Kökarsfjärden and the Åland area are all very close in age to the Laitila — Eurajoki rapakivi stock dated to  $1573 \pm 11$  Ma (Vaasjoki 1977), the Kustavi—Vehmaa rapakivi stock dated to  $1590 \pm 15$  Ma (Vaasjoki 1977), the Reposaari satellite body of the Laitila stock dated to  $1584 \pm 9$  Ma (Vaasjoki et al. 1988) and the Peipohja rapakivi stock dated to  $1573 \pm 20$  Ma. The Siipyy rapakivi granite in northern Satakunta was dated to  $1562 \pm 14$  (Idman 1989). The Nordingrå rapakivi granite and anorthosite in northern central Sweden are  $1578 \pm 19$  Ma in age (Welin and Lundqvist 1984). The Ragunda rapakivi in Sweden has been dated with the Rb/Sr method to  $1320 \pm 30$  Ma (Kornfält 1976), but this age is not unambiguous (Lundqvist 1990). The Berdiaush rapakivi pluton in the Soviet Union is 1340-1350Ma old (Rb-Sr isochron) (Keller and Krasnobaev 1983). The Wolf River rapakivi batholith in the U.S.A. has been dated with the U/Pb method on zircons to  $1485 \pm 15$  Ma (Van Schmus et al. 1975). Anderson (1983) reports anorogenic granite intrusions in North America with age intervals of 1.41-1.49 Ga, 1.34-1.41 Ga and 1.03-1.08 Ga.

The Subjotnian formations in southwestern Finland (see Fig. 61) are, within the limits of error, very close to each other in age (see Fig. 63). It would seem that the diabase and rapakivi magmas existed contemporaneously and that these rocks were emplaced concomitantly within the limits of dating error. As in the Wiborg rapakivi area, the age relations between rapakivi, gabbroanorthosite and diabases (Siivola 1987, I. Laitakari 1987) will ultimately have to be based on field observations. The mafic members of the rock association were the first to intrude and the quartz porphyry dykes the last. All the ages given are interpreted as crystallization ages.

The Breven and Hällefors dykes in Sweden correspond to the Föglö dyke set in age (Patchett 1978) but their east-west trend is subparallel to the Subjotnian Häme olivine diabase dyke swarm in southern Finland described by I. Laitakari (1969). Zircons from the Lovasjärvi diabase, cut by the Wiborg and Suomenniemi rapakivis, have been dated to  $1643 \pm 5$  Ma (Siivola 1987). The Rb-Sr age on biotite from the Lovasjärvi diabase is  $1622 \pm 24$  Ma (Table 16). The Ansio and Heinola dykes of the Häme swarm have been dated with the U-Pb method on zircons to  $1646 \pm 6$  Ma (I. Laitakari 1987). For the Ansio dyke the Rb-Sr biotite ages are  $1656 \pm 24$  Ma and  $1643 \pm 24$ Ma, and for the Heinola diabase dyke the Rb-Sr biotite age is  $1630 \pm 24$  Ma (Table 16).

The pulse of the Post- and Subjotnian diabases

demonstrates a major widening of the stable cratonic crust due to rifting or parting under tension caused by a shearing couple. The Föglö diabase dyke set probably intruded tension fractures opened by a shearing couple, when the eastern block moved south relative to the western block. This movement was similar to those that opened the tension joints filled with quartz porphyry on Jyddö. The same feature is also seen in the many hornblende diabases in the eastern Åland archipelago.

The five olivine diabases — Märket, Säppi, Hankkila, Ämmänpelto and Moikipää — are regarded as Postjotnian from field observations and on petrographic criteria. They are some 300 Ma younger than the Subjotnian diabases of Åland. The results of palaeomagnetic measurements by Neuvonen (1965, 1966) and by Neuvonen and Grundström (1969) support the above concept.

Despite the obvious petrographic similarities between the olivine diabases studied, there are also some differences. For instance the megaophitic pegmatoidic varieties on Säppi and Moikipää have no counterparts in the Märket diabase.

The presence of baddeleyite does not prove the subsilicic character of these diabases, as is demonstrated by the free quartz in the Föglö diabase occurring together with baddeleyite.

The olivine diabases were emplaced at the same time as the similar olivine basalts in Sweden (CSDG = Central Scandinavian Dolerite Group) (Gorbatschev et al. 1979, 1985, 1987), in the Nordingrå area (Welin and Lundqvist 1975, 1984) and in other areas in northern central Sweden (Patchett 1978). The openings that extended to the mantle during this world-wide thermal pulse also resulted in the formation of the Gardar dykes in Greenland, and the Mackenzie and Sudbury dyke swarms in Canada (Van Schmus 1975, Patchett et al. 1978, LeCheminant and Heaman 1989).

The various diabase dyke swarms in the Aland area have a subparallel trend of N  $20-40^{\circ}$  E.

The Fennoscandian shield had dilated repeatedly in the directions in which the diabases of different ages now trend. The dilation in this direction was also active at the time the feeding channels of the granitic intrusions opened, as interpreted by Hausen (1964), at the eastern contact of the Åland rapakivi. In the course of gravimetric studies, Laurén (1970) was able to establish the same direction for the feeding channels of the Åland rapakivi. Edelman (1960) had already pointed out that the almost straight line on which the postorogenic granites lie is subparallel to the eastern contact of the Åland rapakivi area. Further to the north-northeast the two rapakivi granites of Vehmaa and Laitila lie close to this line. The hornblende diabase dykes in the eastern archipelago of Åland and the pyroxene diabase dykes of Föglö and Korsö trend in the same direction (see Fig. 62).

The Siipyy rapakivi granite intrusion lies close to the junction of the extensions of the NNEtrending Åland and WNW-trending Häme diabase swarms. Although there seems to be spatial tectonic control, there is a temporal difference of about 100 Ma between Häme and Åland diabase swarms.

The aeromagnetic map of Finland reveals a clear magnetic anomaly line trending in the same direction as the dykes discussed here. It can be followed southwestwards for 250 km as a smoothly curving line from west of the city of Tampere to east of the Fjälskär rapakivi stock and to the Kökarsfjärden rapakivi pluton. The Subjotnian intrusions are bounded by a major deep crustal fracture, and the anomaly line lies parallel to the strike of most of the Subjotnian diabase dykes in southwestern Finland. The rapakivi intrusions of Kökarsfjärden, Fjälskär, Peipohja, Kustavi-Vehmaa and Laitila-Eurajoki lie on a line parallel to the same aeromagnetic anomaly. The postorogenic granite intrusions in the Åland islands lie close to it, too. Parkkinen and Huomo (1978) verified deep early or syntectonic fractures trending in this same direction in the Wiborg rapakivi area.

The repeated dilation caused by tension or a shearing couple in the cratonic crust took place pulsewise over a long period, activating the same zone, as demonstrated by the diabase intrusions of different ages. However, according to the results of palaeomagnetic measurements, the Subjotnian poles from Finland and Sweden lie close to each other, indicating that there has been no major lateral displacement between these blocks since Subjotnian time (Neuvonen 1986). The contemporaneous intrusions of diabase, quartz porphyry and other rocks are now more readily attributed to repeated dilations in the same directions and zones. The magmas could have developed, and probably did so, at different depths.

Some of the fracture lines are known to continue through the Fennoscandian shield (e.g. Strömberg 1978). The repeated crushing and solidification of fault gouge in crushed zones of bedrock in the walls of the Päijänne tunnel in southern Finland is one more manifestation of movements in the same directions and zones (Suominen 1985). Ploegsma (1989) reports a  $1533 \pm 23$  Ma biotite age for the Suomusjärvi ultramylonite. E. Jäger and F. Pipping (in prep.) have compiled a Rb-Sr mineral isochron of  $1318 \pm 54$  Ma for a hydrothermally altered rock (biotite, zeolite and authigenic K-feldspar) from one of these fracture lines north of Helsinki.

The lower intercept ages listed in Table 18 are divided into groups. Whether by accident or not, the gabbros show high lower intercept ages corresponding to the Eocambrian; the coherent age group for the synorogenic granodiorites would be Silurian and the »normal» 250 Ma for the granites would be Permian. The coherent Cretaceous group for the rocks of the Wiborg rapakivi area is worthy of note. The lower intercept ages listed by Vaasjoki et al. (1989) from the Wiborg rapakivi show that the most mafic rapakivi variety, tirilite, has the highest lower intercept; two of the listed rapakivis have values similar to the normal ones in the western Finnish rapakivis, but most of the values are close to zero.

Sample	Location	Rock type	N	Fig	Linner	Lower
A562	Märket Eckerö	diabase	4	A	1265+6	324+87
A784	Sänni I. Luvia	diabase	3	10	1264+12	317+103
A785	Säppi II. Luvia	diabase	3	10	1264+12	$317 \pm 193$ $317 \pm 193$
A786	Säppi III. Luvia	diabase	3	10	1264+12	317+193
A975	Hankkila, Eurajoki	diabase	5	11	1258+13	384+307
A974	Ämmänpelto, Kauttua	diabase	1	11	-	-
A731	Svall Korsnäs	diabase	2	13	_	
A732	Norrgrynnan I. Korsnäs	diabase	7	13	1268+13	190+118
A733	Norrgrynnan II. Korsnäs	diabase	1	13	-	-
A658	Berøskär Föglö	diabase	11	17	1540+12	436+47
A793	Källsholm Föglö	diabase	8	17	1577+12	384+85
A371	Vidskär Föglö	diabase	1	17	-	504105
A792	Västersten Hammarland	anorthosite	1	17	_	
A796	Höggrund Eckerö	anorthosite	1	17	_	_
A714	Källholm Åva Brändö	quartz porphyry	7	23	1576+13	291+155
A715	Blåklobb, Eckerö	quartz porphyry	11	20	1574+6	106+81
A716	Hammarudda, Hammarland	quartz porphyry	6	21	1571+9	186+150
A717	Jyddö, Föglö	quartz porphyry	7	22	1571+20	-
A467	Böle, Eckerö	rapakivi	11	25	1560+14	23+74
A295	Vabbängarna, Eckerö	rapakivi	5	25	1575+11	198+113
A762	Godby, Finström	rapakivi	11	27	1575+6	121+53
A764	Getabergen, Geta	rapakivi	7	29	1576±9	203+101
A763	Åsbacka, Saltvik	rapakivi	2	27	-	-
A468	Långnäs, Lumparland	rapakivi	9	31	1568±10	253±111
A441	Söderharun, Kökar	rapakivi	6	32	1574+14	156+44
A287	Fjärdskär, Houtskär	rapakivi	6	34	1579±13	229+83
A129	Peipohia, Kokemäki	rapakivi	7	35	$1573 \pm 20$	$119 \pm 104$
A029	Muurikkala, Miehikkälä	rapakivi	7	38	1633±5	75±56
A791	Ylijärvi, Ylämaa	rapakivi	2	38	_	-
A119	Ylijärvi, Ylämaa	anorthosite	3	38		-
A323	Hamina	quartz porphyry	10	39	1617±3	51±35
-	Salmi I, USSR	rapakivi	5	41	1539±11	109±183
-	Salmi II, USSR	rapakivi	4	41	1539±11	109±183
A440	Ytterklobb, Lemland	granite	5	42	1770±2	208±14
A334	Getören, Brändö	granodiorite	6	43	1799±13	258±158
A335	Åva, Brändö	granite	5	43	1803±10	237±37
A901	Kumlingeby, Kumlinge	granite	3	44	1840±4	313±8
A322	Mattnäs, Nauvo	granite	11	45	1842±31	219±50
A064a	Kakola, Turku	granite	10	48	1832±11	242±92
A055	Kistola, Muurla	granite	2	49	1829±14	158±32
A399	Kistola, Muurla	granite	3	49	1829±14	158±32
A389	Haarla, Perniö	granite	3	50	1840±8	248±22
A390	Pungböle, Kemiö	granite	9	50	1840±8	248±22
A997	Tammo, Parainen	granite	4	51	1829±3	251±14
A875	Märaskär, Hanko	granite	3	52	1830±10	142±20
A876	Tulludden, Hanko	granite	8	52	1824±38	263±112
A498	Kakskerta, Turku	granodiorite	7	53	-	-
A920	Kittuis, Houtskär	granodiorite	4	53	1862±6	431±106
A822	Västerhamnen, Brändö	tonalite	6	55	1862±3	425±58
A879	Håkonsnäs, Kökar	granite	5	56	1878±13	243±41
A880	Mörskär, Kökar	granite	4	57	1881±8	271±52
A998	Alvik, Karlby, Kökar	gabbro	5	58	1881±6	552±95
A877	Svartgrund, Föglö	gabbro	7	59	1891±11	663±22
A560	Bockholm, Kumlinge	granodiorite	4	61	1882±15	412±74
A563	Algersö, Föglö	granodiorite	5	61	1899±8	415±86

Table 18. Upper and lower intercept ages (Ma), number of mineral fractions analysed (N), and reference to the Figure No. of rock formations in this study.

One explanation for these ages might be that given by the interpretation model of Wielens (1979) for the lower intercept ages of Proterozoic formations in southwestern Norway, which were affected by a moderate increase in temperature due to the Caledonian orogenesis. The uplift dilation model of Goldich and Mudrey (1975), however appears to offer an even better explanation, namely, that the episodic loss of lead from zircons is due to movements in the cratonic crust, in this case, at the times shown by the lower intercept ages. Pidgeon (1990) points out that if the lower intercept is significantly greater than zero (in this study all but Böle) it could indicate an isotopic disturbance at that time. In one case, he could verify with fission track dating that the lower intercept age had a corresponding geological event. Alternatively the positive lower intercepts could be due to a number of small disturbances in the zircon U-Pb isotopic systems at different times and thus have no geological significance (Pidgeon 1990). Gebauer and Grünenfelder (1976) could verify with the Rb-Sr whole rock method of low-grade metamorphic rocks that metamict zircons anneal at temperatures as low as 300°C, or even lower. They discuss the phenomena even for old shield areas where discordant lower intercepts might date a geological event, ending the discussion with »in any case, strongly metamict zircons seem to be able to respond to events wich cannot be detected by other standard minerals used in geochronology».

Although only tentative, the lower intercept ages in Table 18 could support the assumption of Hausen (1948) and Edelman (1949) that the long, continuous fracture lines in the Finnish archipelago mark the boundaries of blocks tilted and lifted to different levels during several episodes from the Eocambrian to the Quaternary. Ordovician limestone on the bottom of the bay of Lumparn has been preserved in a graben postdating sedimentation. Dating these events would give us a more detailed picture of the evolution of the crust in southwestern Finland.

# CONCLUSIONS

The results of this study can be summarized as follows:

1. During Middle Proterozoic time the crust in southwestern Finland was under tension in repeated pulses as shown by the Subjotnian and Postjotnian intrusions and opening of the graben for Jotnian sediments. The age difference between the Postjotnian and Subjotnian diabases is ca. 300 Ma.

2. The olivine diabases in western Finland are all of the same Postjotnian age  $(1260 \pm 10 \text{ Ma})$  within the limits of error.

3. The Subjotnian formations in the Åland area are close to each other in age  $(1575 \pm 10 \text{ Ma})$ . The pyroxene diabases and anorthosite seem to be contemporaneous with the rapakivi and quartz porphyry dykes of Åland.

4. Sample A295-Vabbängarna represents the hornblende-bearing, oldest phase and the A468-Långnäs the biotite-rich porphyritic youngest phase of the Åland rapakivi complex (cf. Vaasjoki 1977, Bergman 1986). The corresponding radiometric ages given in this study are  $1576 \pm 9$  Ma (A295) and  $1568 \pm 10$ Ma (A468).

5. The western Finnish rapakivi intrusions are of the same age and coeval with the Swedish Nordingrå rapakivi. They are younger than the Wiborg rapakivi ( $1640 \pm 10$  Ma). The Salmi rapakivi ( $1540 \pm 10$  Ma) is younger than the western Finnish rapakivi intrusions, but the Ragunda rapakivi ( $1320 \pm 30$  Ma) is the youngest of all the Fennoscandian rapakivis.

6. No inherited Archaean zircons have been found in the rapakivi granites studied.

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356

7. The postorogenic granite intrusions in the Åland islands clearly differ from the rapakivi granites in age, but the minor rapakivi granites of Bodom, Onas and Obbnäs are of the same age as the Wiborg rapakivi intrusions.

8. The late-orogenic granites in southwestern Finland are characterized by their monazite content and lack of titanite. They form a coherent age group of  $1830 \pm 10$  Ma.

9. Pyroxene granodiorites are time markers  $(1862 \pm 6 \text{ Ma})$  of the intraorogenic intrusions of the study area.

10. The synorogenic intrusions in southwestern Finland form an age group of  $1880 \pm 20$  Ma within the limits of error.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank Professor Kauko Korpela, acting director of the Geological Survey of Finland, for permission to use the age data from my map sheet areas and from geological observations I made in 1966–1990.

I am indebted to Dr Olavi Kouvo for his constructive criticism throughout the long course of this work. The isotopic analyses were made at the laboratories of the Unit for Isotope Geology, Department of Petrology, Geological Survey of Finland. I am deeply grateful to Dr Olavi Kouvo, Matti Sakko and Dr Matti Vaasjoki for these analyses and to Marita Niemelä, Tuula Hokkanen and Arto Pulkkinen for their skilled technical assistance. The mineralogical division carried out the separation of the analysed fractions, for which thanks are due to Mirja Saarinen, Leena Järvinen, Anneli Rinne and Matti Karhunen.

I am grateful to Dr Otto van Breemen for kindly permitting me to use his Rb-Sr data and J. Hutchinson, who assisted with the Rb-Sr analyses. I am also grateful to Osmo Nykänen for information about the Moikipää area, to Kristiina Aro and Mirja Saarinen for the XRD identification of the minerals, to Dr Ragnar Törnroos, Anu Karessuo, Bo Johansson and Lassi Pakkanen for the electron microprobe analyses and SEM pictures, to the late Erkki Halme and Mrs Helena Halme for the photographs, to Jukka Keskinen for help in taking the microphotographs, and Liisa Sirén and Ritva Forsman for drawing the maps and diagrams. Particular thanks are due to the Finnish Coast Guard for transporting me safely in the trecherous waters of the Moikipää area.

The manuscript profited from the critical comments and kind advice of Professor Ilmari Haapala, Dr Hannu Huhma and Professor Atso Vorma.

Gillian Häkli corrected the English of the manuscript.

Finally I thank all the persons not mentioned who helped me in so many different ways at different stages of the work. Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356

#### REFERENCES

- Åhman, E., 1947. Der Diabas von der Schäre Halsaren und Hybriden desselben mit jotnischen Sedimenten. Bull. Geol. Inst. Univ. Uppsala 32, 29–63.
- Aho, L., 1979. Petrogenetic and geochronological studies of metavolcanic rocks and associated granitoids in the Pihtipudas area, Central Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 300, 22 p.
- Anderson, J.L., 1983. Proterozoic anorogenic granite plutonism of North America. Geol. Soc. America, Mem. 161, 133–154.
- Aro, K., 1987. Vaasan saariston ja Petolahden diabaasit. Abstract: Diabases in the Vaasa archipelago and Petolahti, western Finland. In: K. Aro and I. Laitakari (Editors), Suomen diabaasit ja muut emäksiset juonikivilajit (Diabases and other mafic dyke rocks in Finland). Geologian tutkimuskeskus Geological Survey of Finland, Tutkimusraportti Report of Investigation 76, 179—184.
- Bergman, L., 1973. Två granitplutoners inverkan på den omgivande berggrundens tektonik, Åva- och Fjälskärsgraniterna, SW-Finland. Manuscript, Åbo Akademi, Dept. Geol. Min. 69 p.
- Bergman, L., 1978a. Pre-Quaternary rocks. Sheet 0034 + 0043 Signilskär, Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000.
- Bergman, L., 1978b. Pre-Quaternary rocks. Sheet 1021 Geta. Geological map of Finland 1: 100 000.
- Bergman, L., 1979. Pre-Quaternary rocks. Sheet 1012 Mariehamn, Geological map of Finland 1: 100 000.
- Bergman, L., 1981. Berggrunden inom Signilskär, Mariehamn och Geta kartblad. Signilskärin, Maarianhaminan ja Getan kartta-alueiden kallioperä. Summary: Pre-Quaternary rocks of the Signilskär, Mariehamn and Geta mapsheet areas. Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000. Explanation to the maps of Pre-Quaternary rocks, Sheets 0034 + 0043, 1012 and 1021. 72 p.
- Bergman, L., 1986. Structure and mechanism of intrusion of postorogenic granites in the archipelago of southwestern Finland. Acta Acad. Aboensis, Ser. B Math. Phys. 46 (5), 1-74.
- Berzelius, J., 1818. Undersökning af några i trakten kring Falun funna fossilier, och af deras lagerställen. In: Afhandlingar i Fysik, Kemi och Mineralogi Stockholm, 1-93.
- Bibikova, E.V., 1984. The most ancient rocks in the USSR territory by U-Pb data on accessory zircons. In: A. Kröner et al. (Editor), Archaean Geochemistry. Springer-Verlag Berlin. 235—250.
- **Bohlen, S.R., Wall, V.J. & Boettcher, A.L., 1983.** Experimental investigations and geological applications of equilibria in the system Feo-TiO<sub>2</sub>-Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>-SiO<sub>2</sub>-H<sub>2</sub>O. American Mineralogist 68, 1049–1058.

- Borgström, L.H., 1947. Granite-porphyry from Östersundom. II. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 140, 121–128.
- Bylund, G. & Pesonen, L.J., 1987. Paleomagnetism of mafic dykes with special reference to Fennoscandia. Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper 34, 201–219.
- Dalrymple, G.B., 1979. Critical tables for conversion of K-Ar ages from old to new constants. Geology 7, 558—560.
- Doe, B.R. & Stacey, J.S., 1974. The application of lead isotopes to the problems of ore genesis and ore prospect evaluation: A review. Econ. Geol. 69, 757-776.
- von Eckermann, H., 1937. The Jotnian formation and the Sub-Jotnian unconformity. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 59, 19—58.
- Edelman, N., 1949. Structural history of the eastern part of the Gullkrona basin, SW-Finland. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 148, 48 p.
- Edelman, N., 1960. Gullkrona region, SW-Finland. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 187, 87 p.
- Edelman, N., 1972. A porphyroblastic Granite with Preserved Bedding. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 94, 193—211.
- Edelman, N., 1973. Pre-Quaternary rocks. Sheet 1034 Nauvo (Nagu). Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000.
- Edelman, N., 1985. Nauvon (Nagu) kartta-alueen kallioperä. Berggrunden inom Nagu (Nauvo) kartblad. Summary: Pre-Quaternary rocks of the Nauvo (Nagu) map-sheet area. Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000, Explanation to the map of Pre-Quaternary rocks, Sheet 1034, 47 p.
- Ehlers, C., 1979. The »Bockholm conglomerate» an intrusive breccia in Åland, SW-Finland. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 51, 17—25.
- Ehlers, C. & Ehlers, M., 1977. Shearing and multiple intrusion in the diabases of Åland archipelago, SW Finland. Bull. Geol. Surv. Finland 289. 31 p.
- Ehlers, C. & Ehlers, M., 1978. Pre-Quaternary rocks. Sheet 1023 Kumlinge, Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000.
- Ehlers, C. & Ehlers, M., 1981. Berggrunden inom Kumlinge kartblad. Kumlingen kartta-alueen kallioperä. Summary: Pre-Quaternary rocks of the Kumlinge map-sheet area. Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000, Explanation to the maps of Pre-Quaternary rocks, Sheet 1023, 60 p.
- Ehlers, C. & Bergman, L., 1984. Structure and mechanism of intrusion of two postorogenic granite massifs, southwestern Finland. In: A. Kröner and R.E. Greiling (Editors), Precambrian tectonics illustrated. Schweitzerbartsche Verlagsbuchhandl. Stuttgart, 173–190.
- Emslie, R.F., 1978. Anorthosite massifs, rapakivi granites, and Late Proterozoic rifting of North America. Precambrian Research 7, 61–98.
- Eskola, P., 1914. On Petrology of the Orijärvi Region in Southwestern Finland. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 40, 277 p.

94

- Eskola, P., 1928. On rapakivi rocks from the bottom of the Gulf of Bothnia. Fennia 50 (20), 1–29.
- Eskola, P., 1934. Über die Bottenmeerporphyre. Compt. Rend. Soc. géol. Finlande 8, 111—127. Also: Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 104.
- Eskola, P., 1936. Om diabaspegmatiterna på ön Säppi. Nordiska Naturforskarmötet i Helsingfors 1936, 401–403.
- Eskola, P., 1963. The Precambrian of Finland. In: K. Rankama (Editor), The Geologic Systems 1, The Precambrian. J. Wiley and Sons, New York. 145–263.
- Flodén, T. & Winterhalter, B., 1981. Pre-Quaternary geology of the Baltic Sea. In: A. Voipio (Editor), The Baltic Sea. Elsevier Oceanography Series 30, 1—54.
- Frosterus, B., 1892. Beskrivning till kartblad No 21 Mariehamn. [Explanation to geological map of Finland 1 : 200 000]. Finlands Geologiska Undersökning. 65 p.
- Frosterus, B., 1893. Om en diabas i den åländska skärgården. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 15, 275–290.
- Frosterus, B. & Sederholm, J.J., 1890. Beskrifning till kartbladet N:0 17. Finström. [Explanation to geological map of Finland 1 : 200 000]. Finlands Geologiska Undersökning. 48 p.
- Gast, P. W., 1960. Limitations on the Composition of the Upper Mantle. J. Geophys. Research 65, 1287–1297.
- Gebauer, D. & Grünenfelder, M., 1976. U-Pb zircon and Rb-Sr whole-rock dating of low-grade metasediments. Example: Montagne Noire (Southern France). Contr. Mineral. Petrol. 59, 13—32.
- Geijer, P., 1921a. On Fluocerite and Tysonite. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 43, 19–23.
- Geijer, P., 1921b. The cerium minerals of Bastnäs at Riddarhyttan. Sveriges Geol. Undersökning Ser. C 304, 24 p.
- Geijer, P., 1922. Problems Suggested by the Igneous Rocks of Jotnian and sub-Jotnian Age. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 44, 411–443.
- Gerling, E.K. & Polkanov, A.A., 1958. The absolute age determination of the Precambrian of the Baltic shield. Geochemistry 8, 867—896.
- Goddard, E.N. & Glass, J.J., 1940. Deposits of radioactive cerite near Jamestown, Colorado. American Mineralogist 25, 381–404.
- Goldich, S.S. & Mudrey, M.G. Jr., 1975. Dilatancy model for discordant U-Pb zircon ages. In: A.I. Tugarinov (Editor), Recent contributions to Geochemistry and analytical chemistry. (A.P. Vinogradov volume), John Wiley & Sons, New York, 466–470.
- Gorbatschev, R., 1962. Dolerite intrusions and cementation of the Jotnian sandstone in the Mälaren area, Central Sweden. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 84, 65–87.
- Gorbatschev, R., 1967. Petrology of Jotnian rocks in the Gävle area, east Central Sweden. Sveriges Geol. Undersökning, Ser. C 621, 50 p.
- Gorbatschev, R., Solyom, Z. & Johansson I., 1979. The Central Scandinavian Dolerite Group in Jämtland, Central Sweden: Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 101, 177–190.
- Gorbatschev, R., Laitakari, I., Bryhni, I., Solyom, Z., Andreasson, P.G., Aro, K., Lindh, A., & von Knorring, M., 1985. Mafic dyke swarms in Fennoscandia. In: International Conference on Mafic Dyke Swarms, University of Toronto, Erindale Campus, Canada, June 4-7

1985. (abstract) 56-58.

- Gorbatschev, R., Lindh, A., Solyom, Z., Laitakari, I., Aro, K., Lobach-Zhuchenko, S.B., Markov, M.S., Ivliev, A.I.
  & Bryhni, I., 1987. Mafic dyke swarms of the Baltic shield. Geological Association of Canada, Special Paper 34, 361-372.
- (Grigorev, D.P., 1965. Ontogeny of minerals. Israel Program for Scientific Translations Ltd. Jerusalem. 250 p.
- Haapala, I., 1977. Petrography and geochemistry of the Eurajoki stock, a rapakivi-granite complex with greisen-type mineralization in southwestern Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 286, 128 p.
- Haapala, I., 1985. Metallogeny of the Proterozoic rapakivi granites in Finland. In: R.P. Taylor and D.F. Strong (Editors), Recent Advances in the Geology of Granite-Related Mineral Deposits. Geology Division of CIM Special vol. 39, 124–132.
- Haapala, I. & Rämö, T., 1990. Petrogenesis of the Proterozoic rapakivi granites of Finland. In: H.J. Stein and J.L. Hannah, (Editors), Ore-bearing granite systems; Petrogenesis and mineralizing processes: Geological Society of America Special Paper 246, 275–286.
- Hackman, V., 1923. Der Pyroxen-Granodiorit von Kakskerta bei Åbo und seine Modifikationen. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 61. 22 p.
- Hackman, V., 1933. Kivilajikartan selitys. Lehti D2 Savonlinna. [Explanation to The General geological map of Finland 1: 400 000]. 175 p.
- Halliday, A.N., 1983. Crustal Melting and the Genesis of Isotopically and Chemically Zoned Plutons in the Southern Uplands of Scotland. In: M.P. Atherton and C.D. Gribble (Editors), Migmatites, melting and metamorphism. Shiva, Nantwich. 54—61.
- Hämäläinen, A., 1985. Satakunnan jotunialueen geologisen karttakuvan historiallinen kehitys sekä uuteen tutkimusaineistoon perustuva kallioperäkarttaluonnos. Unpublished M.Sc. thesis. Dept. Geol. University of Helsinki. 104 p.
- Hämäläinen, A., 1987. Satakunnan postjotuniset diabaasit. Abstract: The Postjotnian diabases of Satakunta. In: K. Aro and I. Laitakari (Editors), Suomen diabaasit ja muut emäksiset juonikivilajit (Diabases and other mafic dyke rocks in Finland). Geologian tutkimuskeskus — Geological Survey of Finland. Tutkimusraportti — Report of Investigation 76, 173—178.
- Harland, W.B., Cox, A.V., Llewellyn, P.G., Pickton, C.A.G., Smith, A.G. & Walters, R., 1982. A geologic time scale. Cambridge university press, Cambridge. 131 p.
- Härme, M., 1960. Kivilajikartan selitys. Lehti B 1 Turku. With an English Summary. The General geological map of Finland 1 : 400 000. 78 p.
- Härme, M., 1965. On the potassium migmatites of southern Finland. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 219, 43 p.
- Hausen, H., 1944a. Geologische Beobachtungen im Schärenhof von Korpo-Nagu, Südwest-Finnland. Acta Acad. Aboensis, Math.-Phys. 14 (12), 92 p.
- Hausen, H., 1944b. Die Grobgranite des südwestfinnischen Schärenhofes und ihre morphologische Rolle. Geol. Rundschau 34 (2—6), 162—170.
- Hausen, H., 1948. Ytgestaltningen i Åbolands-Ålands skär-

gård och dess orsaker. In: Skärgårdsboken. Nordenskiöld-samfundet i Finland, Helsingfors. 30-73.

- Hausen, H., 1960. Berggrunden Kallioperä Ancient rocks. Atlas över Skärgårds-Finland — Saaristo-Suomen kartasto — Atlas of the archipelago of southwestern Finland, karta — kartta — map 1. Nordenskiöld-samfundet, Helsingfors.
- Hausen, H., 1964. Geologisk beskrivning över landskapet Åland. Skrifter utgivna av Ålands Kulturstiftelse IV. 196 p.
- Hietanen, A., 1943. Über das Grundgebirge des Kalantigebietes im südwestlichen Finnland. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 130, 106 p.
- Hietanen, A., 1947. Archean geology of the Turku district in southwestern Finland. Bull. Geol. Soc. Am. 58, 1019– 1084.
- Högbom, A., 1910. Pre-Cambrian geology of Sweden. Bull. Geol. Inst. Upsala 10, 1—80.
- Hölttä, P., 1986. Observations on the metamorphic reactions and PT conditions in the Turku granulite area. In: K. Korsman (Editor), Development of deformation, metamorphism and metamorphic blocks in eastern and southern Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 339, 43–58.
- Hopgood, A.M., Bowes, D.R., Kouvo, O. & Halliday A.N., 1983. U-Pb and Rb-Sr Isotopic Study of Polyphase Deformed Migmatites in the Svecokarelides, Southern Finland. In: M.P. Atherton and C.D. Gribble (Editos), Migmatites, melting and metamorphism. Shiva, Nantwich. 80—92.
- Huhma, H., 1986. Sm-Nd, U-Pb and Pb-Pb isotopic evidence for the origin of the Early Proterozoic Svecokarelian crust in Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 337, 48 p.
- Huhma, H., Claesson, S., Kinny, P.D. & Williams, I.S., 1991. The growth of Early Proterozoic crust: new evidence from Svecofennian detrital zircons. Terra Nova 3, 175–179.
- Idman, H., 1989. The Siipyy granite a new rapakivi occurrence in Finland. Bull. Soc. Geol. Finland 61, 123— 127.
- Inkinen, O., 1963. Säpin diabaasi. Unpublished M.Sc. thesis. Dept. Geol. and Min. University of Turku. 78 p.
- Kahma, A., 1951. On the contact phenomena of the Satakunta diabase. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 152, 84 p.
- Kahma, A., 1978. The main sulphide ore belt of Finland between Lake Ladoga and the Bothnian Bay. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 50, 39—43.
- Kairyak, A.I. & Khazov, R.A., 1967. Iotniiskiye obrazovaniya severo-vostochnogo priladozhya. (Summary in English) Vestnik Leningralskogo universiteta 12, 62–72.
- Kaitaro, S., 1953. Geologic structure of the late Pre-cambrian intrusives in the Åva area, Åland islands. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 162, 71 p.
- Keller, B.M. & Krasnobaev, A.A., 1983. Late Precambrian geochronology of the European U.S.S.R. Geol. Mag. 120, 381–389.
- Kornfält, K.-A., 1976. Petrology of the Ragunda rapakivi massif, central Sweden. Sveriges geologiska undersökning, Ser. C 725, 111 p.
- Korsman, K., 1977. Progressive metamorphism of the metapelites in the Rantasalmi — Sulkava area, southeastern Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 290. 82 p.

- Kouvo, O., 1958. Radioactive ages of some Finnish Precambrian minerals. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 182, 70 p.
- Kranck, E.H., 1929. Hoglands berggrund. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 51, 173—198.
- Kranck, E.H., 1968. Anorthosites and rapakivi, magmas from the lower crust. In: Yngvar W. Isachsen (Editor), Origin of anorthosite and related rocks. New York State Museum and Science Service — Memoir 18, 93—97.
- Kratz, K.O., Gerling, E.K. & Lobach-Zhuchenko, S.B., 1968. The isotope geology of the Precambrian of the Baltic Shield. Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences 5, 657–660.
- Kratz, K.O. & Mitrofanov, F., 1980. Main Type Reference Sequences of the Early Precambrian in the U.S.S.R. Earth-Sci. Reviews 16, 295–301.
- Krogh, T.E., 1973. A low-contamination method for hydrothermal decomposition of zircon and extraction of U and Pb for isotopic age determinations. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 37, 485–494.
- Krogh, T.E., 1982. Improved accuracy of U-Pb zircon ages by the creation of more concordant systems using an air abrasion technique. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 46, 637—649.
- Kähkönen, Y., Huhma, H. & Aro, K., 1989. U-Pb zircon ages and Rb — Sr whole-rock isotope studies of early Proterozoic volcanic and plutonic rocks near Tampere, southern Finland. Precambrian Res. 45, 27–43.
- Lahti, S.I. & Suominen, V., 1988. Occurrence, crystallography and chemistry of the fluocerite-bastnaesite-cerianite intergrowth from the Fjälskär granite, SW Finland. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 60, 45–53.
- Laitakari, A., 1925. Über das jotnische Gebiet von Satakunta. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 73, 43 p.
- Laitakari, A., 1928. Palingenese am Kontakt des postjotnischen Olivindiabases. Fennia 50, (35), 25 p.
- Laitakari, A., 1934. Suomen kivien raskaista mineraaleista. III. Kakolan graniitin raskaat mineraalit. Summary: Heavy minerals in Kakola granite. Tekn. aikakausl. 24, 399-402.
- Laitakari, A., 1942. Kivilajikartan selitys B3, Vaasa. Explanation to the General geological map of Finland 1:400 000, 52 p.
- Laitakari, I., 1969. On the set of olivine diabase dikes in Häme, Finland. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 241. 65 p.
- Laitakari, I., 1987. Hämeen subjotuninen diabaasijuoniparvi. Abstract: The Subjotnian diabase dyke swarm of Häme. In: K. Aro and I. Laitakari (Editors), Suomen diabaasit ja muut emäksiset juonikivilajit (Diabases and other mafic dyke rocks in Finland). Geologian tutkimuskeskus — Geological Survey of Finland, Tutkimusraportti — Report of Investigation 76, 99—116.
- Laitakari, I. & Leino, H., 1989. A New model for the emplacement of the Häme diabase dyke swarm, Central Finland. In: S. Autio (Editor), Current Research 1988, Geol. Surv. Finland Spec. Pap. 10, 7–8.
- Laitala, M., 1970. Pre-Quaternary rocks. Sheet 2011 Hanko, Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000.
- Laitala, M., 1984. Pellingin ja Porvoon kartta-alueiden kallioperä. Summary: Pre-Quaternary rocks of the Pellinki and Porvoo map-sheet areas. Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000. Explanation to the maps of Pre-Quaternary

rocks, sheets 3012 and 3021. Geological Survey of Finland, 53 p.

- Larson, S.Å., 1973. Igneous layering in the Ulvö dolerite. Ångermanland, central Sweden. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 95, 407—409.
- Larson, S.A., 1980. Layered intrusion of the Ulvö dolerite complex, Ångermanland, Sweden. Diss. Univ. Göteborg, Geologiska Inst. Publ. A 36, 213 p.
- Laurén, L., 1970. An interpretation of the negative gravity anomalies associated with the Rapakivi granites and the Jotnian sandstone in southern Finland. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 92, 21–34.
- LeCheminant, A.N. & Heaman, L.M., 1989. Mackenzie igneous events, Canada: Middle Proterozoic hotspot magmatism assosiated with ocean opening. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 96, 38—48.
- Lehijärvi, M., 1955. Pre-Quaternary rocks. Sheet 2012 Salo. Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000.
- Lehijärvi, M., 1957. Explanation to the map of rocks, Sheet 2012 Salo. Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000. 31 p.
- Lindqvist, K. & Suominen, V., 1988. Cerussite from evengrained rapakivi, Saltvik, Åland, SW-Finland. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 60, 71—75.
- Lundqvist, Th., 1979. The Precambrian of Sweden. Sveriges Geol. Undersökning Ser. C 768, 87 p.
- Lundqvist, Th., 1990. Beskrivning till bergrundskartan över Västernorrlands län. Sveriges Geol. Undersökning Ser. Ba 31, 429 p.
- Lundqvist, Th. & Samuelsson, L., 1973. The differentiation of a dolerite at Nordingrå, central Sweden. Sveriges Geol. Undersökning Ser. C No 692, 62 p.
- Magnusson, K.-Å., 1983. A geophysical study of the Subjotnian and Jotnian rocks in the Nordingrå area, Sweden. Diss. Univ. Göteborg. Geologiska Inst. Publ. A46. 70 p.
- Magnusson, K.-Å. & Larson, S.Å., 1977. A paleomagnetic investigation of the Ulvö dolerite, Ångermanland, central Sweden. Lithos 10, 205–211.
- Mäkipää, H., 1979. Crystallization history of some postmetamorphic diabases in Åland, Häme and Satakunta, Finland. A theoretical and experimental study. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 51, 93—124.
- Mattinson, J.M., 1982. U-Pb »blocking temperatures» and Pb loss characteristics in young zircon, sphene and apatite. Geol. Soc. America, Abstracts with Programs 14, 558.
- Meriläinen, K., 1976. The granulite complex and adjacent rocks in Lapland, northern Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 281, 129 p.
- Metzger, A., 1945. Zur Geologie der Inseln Ålö und Kyrklandet in Pargas – Parainen SW-Finnland. Acta Acad. Aboensis, Math. et Phys. 15 (3), 103 p.
- Neuvonen, K.J., 1965. Paleomagnetism of the dike systems in Finland I. Remanent magnetization of Jotnian dolerites in southwestern Finland. C. R. Soc. géol. Finlande 37, 153—168.
- Neuvonen, K.J., 1966. Paleomagnetism of the dike systems in Finland II. Remanent magnetization of dolerites in the Vaasa archipelago. C. R. Soc. géol. Finlande 38, 275– 281.

Neuvonen, K.J., 1970. Paleomagnetism of the dike systems

in Finland V. Remanent magnetization of the Åva intrusives. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 41, 57–63.

- Neuvonen, K.J., 1978. Remanent magnetization of two intrusive bodies in southeastern Finland. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 50, 31–37.
- Neuvonen, K.J., 1986. On the direction of remanent magnetization of the quartz porphyry dikes in SE Finland. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 58, 195–201.
- Neuvonen, K.J. & Grundström, L., 1969. Paleomagnetism of the dike systems in Finland IV. Remanent magnetization of the dolerite and related rocks in the Åland archipelago. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 41, 57—63.
- Neymark, L., Amelin, Yu & Larin, A., 1991a. Geochronology of the rocks of the Salmi batholith. In: I. Haapala, O.T. Rämö and P.T. Salonsaari (Editors), Excursion Salmi batholith and Pitkäranta ore field in Soviet Karelia. Geological Survey of Finland, Guide 33, 34—36
- Neymark, L.A., Amelin, Ju.V., Larin, A.M. & Yakovleva, S.Z., 1991b. Geochronology and isotope geochemistry of the 1.54—1.57 Ga old Salmi anorthosite rapakivi granite batholith (North Ladoga Region, Soviet Karelia). In: I. Haapala and O.T. Rämö (Editors), Symposium on Rapakivi Granites and Related Rocks, Helsinki, Finland, Abstract Volume, Geological Survey of Finland, Guide 34, 36 p.
- Nurmi, P.A. & Haapala, I., 1986. The Proterozoic granitoids of Finland: Granite types, metallogeny and relation to crustal evolution. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 58 (1), 203– 233.
- Nykänen, O., 1960a. Pre-Quaternary rocks, Sheet Korsnäs 1242. Geological map of Finland, 1:100 000.
- Nykänen, O., 1960b. Explanation to the map of rocks, Sheet 1242 Korsnäs. Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000. 34 p.
- Parkkinen, J. & Huomo, P., 1978. Viipurin massiivi, rakennetulkinta. Geologi 30, 57—62.
- Patchett, P.J., 1978. Rb-Sr ages by mineral and whole-rock methods of Pre-Cambrian dolerites and syenites in southern and central Sweden. Sveriges Geol. Undersökning. Ser. C 747, 63 p.
- Patchett, J. & Kouvo, O., 1986. Origin of continental crust of 1.9—1.7 Ga age: Nd isotopes and U-Pb zircon ages in the Svecokarelian terrain of South Finland. Contrib. Mineral. Petrol. 92, 1—12.
- Patchett, P.J., Bylund, G. & Upton, B.G.J., 1978. Palaeomagnetism and the Grenville orogeny: new Rb-Sr ages from dolerites in Canada and Greenland. Earth Planet. Sci Lett. 40, 349–364.
- Patchett, P.J., Kouvo, O., Hedge, C.E. & Tatsumoto, M., 1981. Evolution of Continental Crust and Mantle Heterogeneity: Evidence from Hf Isotopes. Contr. Miner. Petrol. 78, 279–297.
- Pesonen, L., Suominen, V.O. & Noras, P., 1985. Palaeomagnetism of the Subjotnian diabase dyke swarm of the Åland archipelago, SW-Finland. In: International Conference on Mafic Dyke Swarms, University of Toronto, Erindale Campus, Canada, 4—7 June 1985. (abstract) 129—130.
- Pidgeon, R.T., 1990. Timing of plutonism in the Proterozoic Albany Mobile Belt, southwestern Australia. Precambrian

Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356

Res. 47, 157-167.

- Pihlaja, P., 1987. Porin seudun subjotuniset diabaasit. Abstract: The Subjotnian diabases of the Pori region, southwestern Finland. In: K. Aro and I. Laitakari (Editors), Suomen diabaasit ja muut emäksiset juonikivilajit (Diabases and other mafic dyke rocks in Finland). Geologian tutkimuskeskus Geological Survey of Finland, Tutkimusraportti Report of Investigation 76, 133—150.
- Ploegsma, M., 1989. Shear zones in the West Uusimaa area, SW Finland. Ph.D. thesis, Free University, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 122 p.
- Polkanov, A.A. & Gerling, E.K., 1961a. Geokhronologiya i geologichekaya evolyutsiya Baltiysskogo shchita i ego skladchatogo obramleniya. Akademiya Nauk S.S.S.R., Trudy laboratorii geologii dokembriya 12, 7–102.
- Polkanov, A.A. & Gerling, E.K., 1961b. The pre-Cambrian geochronology of the Baltic shield. Annales New York Academy of Sciences 91, 492—499.
- Popov, V.Ye., Sobotovich, E.V., Iskanderova, A.D., Lebedeva, V.A., Suslov, M.N. & Ts'on', O.V., 1977. Geochronologic boundaries of the Sava-Ladoga geosynclinal zone. Doklady Akad. Sci. U.S.S.R. Earth Sci.Sections 237, 90—94.
- Rämö, O. T., 1990. Diabase dyke swarms and silicic magmatism — Evidence from the Proterozoic of Finland. In: A.J. Parker, P.C. Rickwood and D.H. Tucker (Editors), Mafic Dykes and Emplacement Mechanisms. Balkema, Rotterdam, 185—199.
- Rämö, O.T., 1991. Petrogenesis of the Proterozoic rapakivi granites and related basic rocks of southeastern Fennoscandia: Nd and Pb isotopic and general geochemical constraints. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 355, 161 p.
- Sahama, Th. G., 1945. On the chemistry of the east Fennoscandian rapakivi granites. C. R. Soc. géol. Finlande 18, 15–67. Also: Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 136.
- Saksela, M., 1933. Kivilajikartta B3, Vaasa. The General geological map of Finland 1: 400 000.
- Salli, I., 1955. Explanation to the map of rocks, Sheet 2033 Suomusjärvi. Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000. 39 p.
- Salli, I., 1983. Kallioperäkarttojen selitykset, 3314 Pielavesi. English summary: Pre-Quaternary rocks of the Pielavesi map-sheet area. Geological map of Finland 1:100 000. 28 p.
- Savolahti, A., 1956. The Ahvenisto massif in Finland. The age of the surrounding gabbro-anorthosite complex and the crystallization of rapakivi. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 174, 96 p.
- Savolahti, A., 1964. Olivine diabase dike of Ansio in Padasjoki, Finland. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 215, 99–111.
- Savolahti, A., 1966. The differentiation of gabbro-anorthosite intrusions and the formation of anorthosites. C. R. Soc. géol. Finlande 38, 173—197. Also: Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 222.
- Sawka, W.N., Banfield, J.F. & Chappell, B.W., 1986. A weathering-related origin of widespread monazite in S-type granites. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 50, 171– 175.
- Schellekens, J.H., 1980. Application of the garnet-cordierite geothermometer and geobarometer to gneisses of Attu, SW-Finland; an indication of P and T conditions of the

lower granulite facies. N. Jb. Miner. Mh H 1, 11-19.

- Sederholm, J.J., 1897. Om indelningen af de prekambriska formationerna i Sverige och Finland och om nomenklaturen för dessa äldsta bildningar. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 19, 20–53.
- Sederholm, J.J., 1924. Granit-gneisproblemen belysta genom iakttagelser i Åbo—Ålands skärgård. I. Nya rön om rapakivigraniterna och med dem genetiskt förbundna bergarter. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 46, 129—153.
- Sederholm, J.J., 1927. Om de jotniska och de s.k. subjotniska bergarterna. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 49, 397-426.
- Sederholm, J.J., 1932. On the geology of Fennoscandia, with special reference to the Pre-Cambrian. Explanatory notes to accompany a general geological map of Fennoscandia. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 98, 30 p.
- Sederholm, J.J., 1934. On migmatites and associated pre-Cambrian rocks of southwestern Finland III. The Åland islands. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 107, 68 p.
- Seitsaari, J., 1955. Pre-Quaternary rocks. Sheet 2012 Perniö, Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000.
- Siivola, J., 1977. Baddeleyite ZrO<sub>2</sub> from Lovasjärvi diabase, south-eastern Finland. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 49, 59—64.
- Siivola, J., 1987. Lovasjärven mafinen intrusio. Abstract: The mafic intrusion of Lovasjärvi. In: K. Aro and I. Laitakari (Editors), Suomen diabaasit ja muut emäksiset juonikivilajit (Diabases and other mafic dyke rocks in Finland). Geologian tutkimuskeskus — Geological Survey of Finland. Tutkimusraportti — Report of investigation 76, 121–128.
- Simonen, A., 1960. Pre-Quaternary rocks in Finland. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 191, 49 p.
- Simonen, A., 1973. Pre-Quaternary rocks. Sheet 3042 Hamina. Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000.
- Simonen, A., 1980a. Suomen kallioperä 1 : 1 000 000, Pre-Quaternary rocks of Finland, Finlands berggrund. Geological Survey of Finland, Espoo.
- Simonen, A., 1980b. The Precambrian in Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 304, 58 p.
- Simonen, A., 1987. Kaakkois-Suomen rapakivimassiivin kartta-alueiden kallioperä. Summary: Pre-Quaternary rocks of the map-sheet areas of the rapakivi massif in SE Finland. Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000. Explanation to the maps of Pre-Quaternary rocks 3023 + 3014, 3024, 3041, 3042, 3044, 3113, 3131, 3133. 49 p.
- Simonen, A. & Kouvo, O., 1955. Sandstones in Finland. C. R. Soc. géol. Finlande 27, 57—87. Also: Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 168.
- Springert, H., 1951. Berggrunden på Koskenpää Brändö, Åland med skärskild hänsyn till diabasen därstädes. Unpublished M.Sc. thesis, Åbo Akademi. Dept. Geol. Min. 43 p.
- Steiger, R.H. & Jäger, E., 1977. Subcommision on geochronology: Convention on the use of decay constants in geo- and cosmochronology. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 36, 359—362.
- Stålhös, G. & Björk, L., 1984. Interpretation of late Svecokarelian metadiabases associated with eruptive breccias in south central Sweden. Geol. Fören. Stockholm

Förh. 105, 321-333.

- Strömberg, A., 1978. Early tectonic zones in the Baltic shield. Precambrian Res. 6, 217–222.
- Suominen, V., 1978. Pre-Quaternary rocks, Sheet 1011 Lågskär, Geological map of Finland, 1 : 100 000.
- Suominen, V., 1980. Pre-Quaternary rocks, Sheet 1014 Föglö, Geological map of Finland, 1: 100 000.
- Suominen, V., 1981. Pre-Quaternary rocks, Sheet 1013 Kökar, Geological map of Finland, 1 : 100 000.
- Suominen, V., 1983. Pre-Quaternary rocks, Sheet 1031 Utö, Geological map of Finland, 1:100 000.
- Suominen, V., 1985. Repeated crushing and solidification along joints in the Finnish Proterozoic bedrock, as observed in the Päijänne tunnel. In: O. Stephansson (Editor), Proceedings of the International Symposium on Fundamentals of Rock Joints/Björkliden/15—20 September 1985, 65—69.
- Suominen, V., 1987a. Luonais-Suomen emäksiset juonikivet. Abstract: Mafic dyke rocks in SW-Finland. In: K. Aro and I. Laitakari (Editors), Suomen diabaasit ja muut emäksiset juonikivilajit (Diabases and other mafic dyke rocks in Finland). Geologian tutkimuskeskus Geological Survey of Finland, Tutkimusraportti Report of investigation 76, 151—172.
- Suominen, V., 1987b. Pre-Quaternary rocks, Sheet 1032 Korpo, Geological map of Finland, 1 : 100 000.
- Suominen, V., 1988. Radiometric ages on zircons from a cogenetic gabbro and plagioclase porphyrite suite in Hyvinkää, southern Finland. Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 60, 135–140.
- Suominen, V., Pre-Quaternary rocks, Sheet 1022 + 1024 Hullberga, Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000, (in prep.).
- Suominen, V., Fagerström, P. & Torssonen, M., The 1883±3 Ma old quartz porphyry dyke of Sara, Karvia, southern Finland, (in prep.).
- Tilton, G.R. & Grünenfelder, M., 1968. Sphene, uraniumlead ages. Science 159, 1458—1461.
- Törnroos, R., 1984. Petrography, mineral chemistry and petrochemistry of granite porphyry dykes from Sibbo, southern Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 326, 43 p.
- Tynni, R., 1982. On Paleozoic microfossils in clastic dykes in the Åland Islands and in the core samples of Lumparn. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 317, 35–94.
- Tynni, R. & Uutela, A., 1984. Microfossils from the Precambrian Muhos formation in Western Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 330, 38 p.
- Tyrväinen, A., 1986. Vuohijärven kartta-alueen kallioperä. Summary: Pre-Quaternary rocks of the Vuohijärvi mapsheet area. Geological map of Finland 1 : 100 000, Explanation to the maps of Pre-Quaternary rocks, Sheet 3114. 35 p.
- Vaasjoki, M., 1977. Rapakivi granites and other postorogenic rocks in Finland: their age and the lead isotopic composition of certain associated mineralizations. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 294, 64 p.
- Vaasjoki, M., 1981. The lead isotopic composition of some Finnish galenas. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 316, 25 p.
- Vaasjoki, M., Pihlaja, P. & Sakko, M., 1988. The radiometric age of the Reposaari granite and its bearing on the extent of the Laitila rapakivi batholith in western Finland.

Bull. Geol. Soc. Finland 60, 129-134.

- Vaasjoki, M., Sakko, M. & Rämö, T., 1989. New zircon age determinations from the Wiborg rapakivi batholith, southeastern Finland. In: S. Autio (Editor), Current Research 1988, Geol. Surv. Finland Spec. Pap. 10, 41–42.
- Vaasjoki, M. & Sakko, M., 1989. The radiometric age of the Virmaila diabase dyke: evidence for 20 Ma of continental rifting in Padasjoki, southern Finland. In: S. Autio (Editor), Current Research 1988, Geol. Surv. Finland Spec. Pap. 10, 43-44.
- Vaasjoki, M., Rämö, T. & Sakko, M., 1991. New U-Pb ages from the Wiborg rapakivi area: constraints on the temporal evolution of the rapakivi-anorthosite-diabase dyke association of southeastern Finland. Precambrian Res. 51, 227–243.
- Van Schmus, W.R., 1975. On the age of the Sudbury dike swarm. Can. J. Earth Sci. 12, 1690–1692.
- Van Schmus, W.R., Medaris, L.G. & Banks, P.O., 1975. Geology and Age of the Wolf River Batholith, Wisconsin. Geol. Soc. Am. Bull. 86, 907–914.
- Väyrynen, H., 1938. Notes on the geology of Karelia and the Onega region in the summer of 1937. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 123, 65—80.
- Velikoslavinski, D.A., 1978. Salminski pluton. In: F.P. Mitrofanov (Editor), Anortozit-rapakivigranitnaja formatsija Vostotsno-Evropeiskoj platformy, Leningrad, Nauka. 45-63.
- Veltheim, V., 1962. On the pre-Quaternary geology of the bottom of the Bothnian Sea. Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 200, 166 p.
- Vorma, A., 1976. On the petrochemistry of rapakivi granites with special reference to Laitila massif, southwestern Finland. Geol. Surv. Finland, Bull. 285, 98 p.
- Wahl, W., 1925. Die Gesteine des Wiborger Rapakivigebietes. Fennia 45 (20), 1—127.
- Wahl, W., 1936. The granites of the Finnish part of the Sveco-Fennian Archaean mountain chain. C. R. Soc. géol. Finlande 9, 489—505. Also: Bull. Comm. géol. Finlande 115.
- Wahl, W., 1938. Några iakttagelser från Wiborg-rapakiviområdets södra gränsområde. Geol. Fören. Stockholm, Förh. 60, 88—96.
- Wasserburg, G.J., 1963. Diffusion processes in lead-uranium systems. J. Geophys. Res. 68, 4823—4846.
- Welin, E., 1980. Tabulation of recalculated radiometric ages published 1960—1979 for rocks and minerals in Sweden. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 101, 309—320.
- Welin, E. & Lundqvist, Th., 1975. K-Ar ages of Jotnian dolerites in Västernorrland county, central Sweden. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 97, 83—88.
- Welin, E. & Lundqvist, T., 1984. Isotopic investigations of the Nordingrå rapakivi massif, north-central Sweden. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 106, 41–49.
- Welin, E., Vaasjoki, M. & Suominen, V., 1983. Age differences between Rb-Sr whole rock and U-Pb zircon ages of syn- and postorogenic Svecokarelian granitoids in Sottunga, SW Finland. Lithos 16, 297–305.
- Wetherill, G. W., Kouvo, O., Tilton, G. R. & Gast, P.W., 1962. Age measurements on rocks from the Finnish Precambrian. J. Geol. 70, 74–88.
- Wielens, J.R.W., 1979. Morphology and U-Pb ages of zir-

100

cons from the high-grade metamorphic Precambrian in the Sirdal-Ørsdal area, SW Norway. Verh. 4. WO Laboratorium voor Isotopen-Geologie, Amsterdam, 94 p. Wikström, A., 1985. The Breven dolerite dike in south central Sweden and an eastward extension of dolerite granophyre breccia. Geol. Fören. Stockholm Förh. 107, 37–40. York, D., 1969. Least squares fitting of a straight line with

correlated errors. Earth Planet Sci Lett. 5, 320-324.

No.         Location         Rock type         Map Sheet         Grid Coord           A029         Falin, Muurikkala, Miehikkälä         rapakivi         3044 02         6725.40-354           A055         Kistola, Muurla         granite         2021 11         6693.30-245           A064a         Kakola, Turku         granite         1043 09         6774.28-156           A119         Ylijärvi, Ylämaa         anorthosite         3133 01         6740.20-354           A129         Peipohja, Kokemäki         rapakivi         1134 12         6793.82-157           A287         Fjärdskär, Houtskär         rapakivi         1041 07         6689.80-152           A295         Vabbängarna, Eckerö         rapakivi         1012 03         6677.97-142           A322         Mattnäs, Nauvo         granite         1034 03         6670.34-154           A323         Hamina         quartz porphyry         3042 04         6719.10-350           A334         Getören, Brändö         granite         1041 03         6758.00-150           A335         Åva, Brändö         granite         1041 03         6766.40-150	inates 7.60 8.55 8.74 6.50 ).04 ).86 1.86 4.20 9.80 2.70 3.30 4.09 ).96 4.34 8.55 5.81 ).00 [ 96
A029       Falin, Muurikkala, Miehikkälä       rapakivi       3044 02       6725.40-334         A055       Kistola, Muurla       granite       2021 11       6693.30-245         A064a       Kakola, Turku       granite       1043 09       6704.28-156         A119       Ylijärvi, Ylämaa       anorthosite       3133 01       6740.20-354         A129       Peipohja, Kokemäki       rapakivi       1134 12       6793.82-157         A287       Fjärdskär, Houtskär       rapakivi       1041 07       6689.80-152         A295       Vabbängarna, Eckerö       rapakivi       1012 03       6677.97-142         A322       Mattnäs, Nauvo       granite       1034 03       6670.34-154         A323       Hamina       quartz porphyry       3042 04       6719.10-350         A334       Getören, Brändö       granite       1041 03       6758.00-150         A335       Åva, Brändö       granite       1041 03       6766.40-150	7.60 8.55 8.74 6.50 0.04 0.86 0.86 4.20 9.80 2.70 3.30 4.09 0.96 4.34 8.55 5.81 0.00
A055       Kistola, Muurla       granite       2021 11       6693.30-245         A064a       Kakola, Turku       granite       1043 09       6704.28-156         A119       Ylijärvi, Ylämaa       anorthosite       3133 01       6740.20-354         A129       Peipohja, Kokemäki       rapakivi       1134 12       6793.32-157         A287       Fjärdskär, Houtskär       rapakivi       1041 07       6689.80-152         A295       Vabbängarna, Eckerö       rapakivi       1012 03       6677.97-142         A322       Mattnäs, Nauvo       granite       1034 03       6670.34-154         A323       Hamina       quartz porphyry       3042 04       6719.10-350         A334       Getören, Brändö       granite       1041 03       6758.00-150         A335       Åva, Brändö       granite       1041 03       6766.40-150	8.55 8.74 6.50 0.04 0.86 0.86 4.20 9.80 2.70 3.30 4.09 0.96 4.34 8.55 5.81 0.00 1.96
A064a         Kakola, Turku         granite         1043 09         6704.28-156           A119         Ylijärvi, Ylämaa         anorthosite         3133 01         6740.20-354           A129         Peipohja, Kokemäki         rapakivi         1134 12         6793.82-157           A287         Fjärdskär, Houtskär         rapakivi         1041 07         6689.80-152           A295         Vabbängarna, Eckerö         rapakivi         1012 03         6677.97-142           A322         Mattnäs, Nauvo         granite         1034 03         6670.34-154           A323         Hamina         quartz porphyry         3042 04         6719.10-350           A334         Getören, Brändö         granite         1041 03         6758.00-150           A335         Åva, Brändö         granite         1041 03         6706.40-150	8.74 6.50 0.04 0.86 0.86 0.86 1.20 0.80 2.70 3.30 4.09 0.96 4.34 3.55 5.81 0.00 1.96
A119       Ylijärvi, Ylämaa       anorthosite       3133 01       6740.20-354         A129       Peipohja, Kokemäki       rapakivi       1134 12       6793.82-157         A287       Fjärdskär, Houtskär       rapakivi       1041 07       6689.80-152         A295       Vabbängarna, Eckerö       rapakivi       1012 03       6677.97-142         A322       Mattnäs, Nauvo       granite       1034 03       6670.34-154         A323       Hamina       quartz porphyry       3042 04       6719.10-350         A334       Getören, Brändö       granite       1041 03       6758.00-150         A335       Åva, Brändö       granite       1041 03       6706.40-150	5.50 0.04 0.86 0.86 4.20 0.80 2.70 3.30 4.09 0.96 4.34 3.55 5.81 0.00 1.96
A129         Peipohja, Kokemäki         rapakivi         1134 12         6793.82-157           A287         Fjärdskär, Houtskär         rapakivi         1041 07         6689.80-152           A295         Vabbängarna, Eckerö         rapakivi         1012 03         6677.97-142           A322         Mattnäs, Nauvo         granite         1034 03         6670.34-154           A323         Hamina         quartz porphyry         3042 04         6719.10-350           A334         Getören, Brändö         granite         1041 03         678.00-150           A335         Åva, Brändö         granite         1041 03         6706.40-150	0.04 0.86 0.86 4.20 9.80 2.70 3.30 4.09 0.96 4.34 3.55 5.81 0.00
A287         Fjärdskär, Houtskär         rapakivi         1041 07         6689.80-152           A295         Vabbängarna, Eckerö         rapakivi         1012 03         6677.97-142           A322         Mattnäs, Nauvo         granite         1034 03         6670.34-154           A323         Hamina         quartz porphyry         3042 04         6719.10-350           A334         Getören, Brändö         granite         1041 03         678.00-150           A335         Åva, Brändö         granite         1041 03         6706.40-150           A371         Videkär Eräelä         diabase         1012 06         6646 55 147	0.86 0.86 4.20 9.80 2.70 3.30 4.09 0.96 4.34 8.55 5.81 0.00
A295         Vabbängarna, Eckerö         rapakivi         1012 03         6677.97-142           A322         Mattnäs, Nauvo         granite         1034 03         6670.34-154           A323         Hamina         quartz porphyry         3042 04         6719.10-350           A334         Getören, Brändö         granite         1041 03         6758.00-150           A335         Åva, Brändö         granite         1041 03         6706.40-150           A371         Videkär Eärlä         diabace         1012 06         6646 55 147	0.86 4.20 9.80 2.70 3.30 4.09 0.96 4.34 8.55 5.81 0.00
A322         Mattnäs, Nauvo         granite         1034 03         6670.34-154           A323         Hamina         quartz porphyry         3042 04         6719.10-350           A334         Getören, Brändö         granodiorite         1041 03         6758.00-150           A335         Åva, Brändö         granite         1041 03         6706.40-150           A371         Videliä         Getören, Grädi         1013 06         6646 55	4.20 9.80 2.70 3.30 4.09 0.96 4.34 8.55 5.81 ).00
A323         Hamina         quartz porphyry         3042 04         6719.10-350           A334         Getören, Brändö         granodiorite         1041 03         6758.00-150           A335         Åva, Brändö         granite         1041 03         6706.40-150           A371         Videlör Egelö         diabase         1012 06         6646 55 147	9.80 2.70 3.30 4.09 0.96 4.34 3.55 5.81 0.00
A334         Getören, Brändö         granodiorite         1041 03         6758.00-150           A335         Åva, Brändö         granite         1041 03         6706.40-150           A371         Videkäa Fäalä         diebeee         1012 06         6646 55 147	2.70 3.30 4.09 0.96 4.34 8.55 5.81 ).00
A335 Åva, Brändö granite 1041 03 6706.40-150	3.30 4.09 0.96 4.34 3.55 5.81 0.00
A271 Videbär Eadla diebose 1012.06 6646.55.147	4.09 0.96 4.34 3.55 5.81 ).00
A3/1 Vluskar, Fogio diabase 1015/00 0040.33-147	0.96 4.34 8.55 5.81 0.00
A389 Haarla, Perniö granite 2012 12 6677.40-245	4.34 3.55 5.81 0.00
A390 Pungböle, Kemiö granite 2012 03 6679.74-242	8.55 5.81 0.00
A399 Kistola, Muurla granite 2021 11 6693.30-245	5.81 ).00 1.96
A440 Ytterklobb, Lemland granite 1012 07 6655.52-144	0.00
A441 Söderharun, Kökar rapakivi 1013 12 6645.12-149	1.96
A467 Böle, Eckerö rapakivi 1021 01 6670.30-142	
A468 Långnäs, Lumparland rapakivi 1014 02 6667.34-146	1.21
A498 Naula-ahde, Kakskerta, Turku granodiorite 1043 08 6694.37-156	5.12
A560 Bockholm, Kumlinge granodiorite 1023 07 6689.96-148	3.38
A562 Märket, Eckerö diabase 0043 07 6688.20-056	2.80
A563 Algersö, Föglö granodiorite 1014 04 6657.35-147	).52
A658 Bergskär, Föglö diabase 1014 04 6657.31-147	3.85
A714 Källholm, Åva, Brändö guartz porphyry 1041 03 6702.65-150	0.30
A715 Blåklobb, Eckerö guartz porphyry 1012 15 6672.98-141	3.46
A716 Hammarudda, Hammarland quartz porphyry 1012 05 6665.07-143	1.68
A717 Jvddö, Föglö guartz porphyry 1014 05 6665,00-147	3.29
A731 Svall, Korsnäs diabase 1242 03 6978.07-150	).26
A732 Norrgrynnan I. Korsnäs diabase 1242 03 6978.47-150	).72
A733 Norrgrynnan II, Korsnäs diabase 1242 03 6978.50-150	).74
A762 Godby, Finström rapakivi 1021 07 6681.00-144	3.58
A763 Åsbacka, Saltvik rapakivi 1021 07 6686.73-144	2.18
A764 Getabergen, Geta rapakivi 1021 05 6697.65-143	5.55
A784 Säppi I, Luvia diabase 1141 05 6818.84-151	3.10
A785 Säppi II. Luvia diabase 1141.05 6818.85-151	3.14
A786 Säppi III. Luvia diabase 1141 05 6818.87-151	3.18
A791 Ylijärvi Ylämaa ranakivi 3133 01 6740 15-354	5.60
A792 Västersten Hammarland anorthosite 1012/02 6668/91-142	1 87
A793 Källsholm Föglö diabase 1012-02 6659-50-147	37
A796 Höggrund Eckerö anorthosite 0043 10 6683 05-057	1.80
A822 Västerhamnen Brändö tonalite 1024 11 6722 65-149	2 28
A875 Märaskär Hanko granite 2011 08 6634 27-244	2 50
A876 Tulludden Hanko granite 2011.05 6633.44-243	) 10
A877 Svartgrund Föglö gabbro 1011 09 6645 02-144	5.41
A879 Håkonsnäs Kökar granite 1013 12 6643 43.149	1.83
A880 Käringen Mörskär Kökar granite 1019 12 0045.45-149	2.61
A001 Kumlingehy Kumlinge granite 1031.01 0026.07-130	5.04
A020 Kittuis Houtskär granodiorita 1022-07 0083.04-148	2 15
A074 Ammännelto Kauttua diabase 1134.07 6776.72.156	2 10
$\Delta 075$ Hankkila Furgioki diabasa 1122 11 6707 70 152	2.19
A007 Bockholm Temmo Pareinen granite 1024.11 6660.20.157	2.20
A998 Alvik, Karlby, Kökar gabbro 1013 12 6646.44-149	5.10

Appendix 1. Location of samples. The grid coordinates refer to the Finnish national grid.

#### Appendix 2. Main minerals of the samples studied.

Pl=plagioclase, Kf=K-feldspar, Qu=quartz, Ol=olivine, cp=clinopyroxene, op=orthopyroxene, Bi=biotite, Hb=hornblende, Ma=magnetite, G=garnet, I=ilmenite, Co=cordierite. M major, m minor, s secondary, + accessory, - not present, tr traces.

No	Location	Rock type	Pl	Kf	Qu	Ol	cp	op	Bi	Hb	Ma	G	I	Co
A562	Märket	diabase	M	-	+	m	M	-	+	S	m	-	m	-
A784	Säppi I	diabase	Μ	-	+	-	Μ	-	+	S	m	-	m	-
A785	Säppi II	diabase	M	-	+	-	Μ	-	+	S	m	-	m	-
A786	Säppi III	diabase	Μ	-	+	-	M	-	+	S	m	-	m	-
A975	Hankkila	diabase	M	-	+	m	M	-	+	S	m	-	m	-
A974	Ämmänpelto	diabase	M	-	+	+	M	-	+	S	m	-	m	-
A731	Svall	diabase	Μ	-	+	-	Μ	m	+	S	m	-	m	-
A732	Norrgrynnan I	diabase	M	-	+	-	M	m	+	S	m	-	m	-
A733	Norrgrynnan II	diabase	M	-	+	-	M	m	+	S	m	-	m	-
A658	Bergskär	diabase	Μ	-	+	tr	Μ	-	+	S	m	-	m	-
A793	Källsholm	diabase	M	tr	+	tr	M	-	+	S	m	-	m	-
A371	Vidskär	diabase	M	-	+	tr	M	+	+	S	m	-	m	-
A792	Västersten	anorthosite	М	-	+	-	Μ	-	+	m	m	-	m	-
A796	Höggrund	anorthosite	M	-	+	-	M	-	+	m	m	-	m	-
A714	Källholm, Åva	quartz porphyry	m	M	M	-	-	-	m	-	+	-	-	-
A715	Blåklobb	quartz porphyry	m	M	M	-	-	-	m	-	+	-	-	-
A716	Hammarudda	quartz porphyry	m	M	M	-	-	-	m	-	+	-	-	-
A717	Jyddö	quartz porphyry	m	M	Μ	-	-	-	m	-	+	-	-	-
A467	Böle	rapakivi	m	М	M	-	-	-	Μ	m	+	-	-	-
A295	Vabbängarna	rapakivi	m	Μ	Μ	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-
A762	Godby	rapakivi	m	M	M	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-
A763	Åsbacka	rapakivi	m	Μ	M	-	-	-	m	+	+	-	-	-
A764	Getabergen	rapakivi	m	M	M	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-
A468	Långnäs	rapakivi	М	M	M	-	-	-	Μ	m	+	-	-	-
A441	Söderharun	rapakivi	M	M	M	-	-	-	M	m	+	-	-	
A287	Fjärdskär	rapakivi	m	M	M	-	-	-	+	-	+	-	-	-
A129	Peipohja	rapakivi	m	M	Μ	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-
A029	Falin	rapakivi	m	M	M	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-
A791	Ylijärvi	rapakivi	m	M	M	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-
A119	Ylijärvi	anorthosite	M	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-
A323	Hamina	quart porphyry	m	M	M	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-
-	Salmi I	rapakivi	m	M	M	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-
-	Salmi II	rapakivi	m	Μ	M	-	-	-	m	+	+	-	-	-
A440	Lemland	granite	M	M	M	-	-	-	M	-	+	-	-	-
A334	Getören, Åva	granodiorite	M	М	m	-	-	-	M	M	+	-	-	-
A335	Åva	granite	M	M	M	-	-	-	M	m	+	-	-	-
A901	Kumlingeby	granite	m	Μ	M	-	-	-	m	-	+	+	-	-
A322	Mattnäs	granite	m	M	M	-	-	-	m	-	+	+	-	-
A64a	Kakola	granite	M	M	M	-	-	-	m	-	+	m	+	m
A55	Kistola	granite	M	M	M	-	-	-	m	-	+	+	-	-
A399	Kistola	granite	M	M	M	-	-	-	m	-	+	+	-	-
A389	Haarla	granite	M	M	M	-	-	-	m	-	+	+	-	-
A390	Pungböle	granite	M	M	M	-	-	-	m	-	+	+	-	-
A997	Tammo	granite	M	M	M	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	-
A875	Märaskär	granite	M	M	M	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	-
A876	Tulludden	granite	M	M	M	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	-
A498	Kakskerta	granodiorite	M	M	M	-	+	m	m	+	+	-	-	-
A920	Kittuis	granodiorite	M	M	m	-	+	m	+	+	+	-	-	-
A822	Västerhamnen	tonalite	M	+	M	-	+	-	m	M	+	M	-	-
A879	Håkonsnäs	granite	M	M	M	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	
A880	Mörskär	granite	M	M	M	-	-	-	m	+	+	-	-	-
A998	Alvik	gabbro	M	-	+	-	tr	-	+	m	+	-	-	-
A877	Svartgrund	gabbro	M	-	+	-	tr	-	m	M	+	-	-	-
A560	Bockholm	granodiorite	M	M	Μ	-	-	-	+	m	+	-	-	-
A563	Algersö	granodiorite	Μ	M	Μ	-	-	-	+	m	+	-	-	-

# Appendix 3. Characteristic accessory minerals of the samples studied.

Z=zircon, B=baddeleyite, T=titanite, A=anatase, R=rutile, Mo=monazite, F=fluorite, Ml=molybdenite, G=galena, Fl=fluocerite, Ba=bastnaesite, C=columbite, Ap=apatite, To=topaz, U=uraninite, M major, m minor, + traces, - not present.

No.	Location	Rock type	Z	В	Т	A	R	Mo	F	Ml	G	FL	Ba	С	Ap	To	U
A562	Märket	diabase	M	m	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	M	-	-
A784	Säppi I	diabase	M	m	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	M	-	-
A785	Säppi II	diabase	M	m	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	M	-	-
A786	Säppi III	diabase	Μ	m	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	M	-	-
A975	Hankkila	diabase	M	m	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	M	-	-
A974	Ämmänpelto	diabase	m	М	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	M	-	-
A731	Svall	diabase	m	М	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	M	_	-
A732	Norrgrynnan I	diabase	M	m	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	M	-	-
A733	Norrgrynnan II	diabase	m	M	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	М	-	-
A658	Bergskär	diabase	M	m	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	M	-	-
A793	Källsholm	diabase	M	m	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	M	-	-
A371	Vidskär	diabase	+		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	M	-	-
A792	Västersten	anorthosite	m	m	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	M	-	-
A796	Höggrund	anorthosite	+		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	m	-	-
A714	Källholm, Åva	quartz porphyry	M	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A715	Blåklobb	quartz porphyry	M	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A716	Hammarudda	quartz porphyry	M	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A717	Jyddö	quartz porphyry	M	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A467	Böle	rapakivi	M	-	-	+	-	-	M	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-
A295	Vabbängarna	rapakivi	М	-	-	-	-	-	M	+	+	-	-	-	М	-	-
A762	Godby	rapakivi	M	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A763	Åsbacka	rapakivi	M	-	-	+	-	-	M	m	-	+	+	-	+	-	-
A764	Getabergen	rapakivi	M	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A468	Långnäs	rapakivi	M	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A441	Söderharun	rapakivi	M	-	-	-	-	-	m	+	+	-	-	-	+	-	-
A287	Fjärdskär	rapakivi	M	-	-	-	-	-	M	+	+	+	+	+	+	М	-
A129	Peipohia	rapakivi	M	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A029	Falin	rapakivi	M	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A791	Ylijärvi	rapakivi	M	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A119	Ylijärvi	anorthosite	М	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A323	Hamina	quartz porphyry	М	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
-	Salmi I	rapakivi	M	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
-	Salmi II	rapakivi	M	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-
A440	Lemland	granite	M	-	M	-	-	-	-	-	+	_	_	-	+	-	-
A334	Getören Åva	granodiorite	M	-	m	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-
A335	Åva	granite	M		m	-	-	_	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-
A901	Kumlingeby	granite	m		-	-	-	m	-	+	-	-	-	-		-	m
A 322	Mattnäs	granite	M		-	-	m	m	-		-	-	-	_	m	-	-
A64a	Kakola	granite	M		_	+	m	M	-	-	-	_	_	-	m	-	-
A 55	Kistola	granite	M	-	-	-	m	m	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	
A 399	Kistola	granite	M	-	-	+	+	m	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A389	Haarla	granite	M		-		2	m	-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-
A390	Pungböle	granite	M	-	-		-	m	-	-	m	-	-	-	+	-	-
A997	Tammo	granite	M		-		-	m	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-
A875	Märaskär	granite	M		-	-	_	m	-	-	-	-	_	-			-
4876	Tulludden	granite	M					m			+	_	_				
A 108	Kakskerta	grandiorite	M	0	-	2			-	-				-	+		_
A020	Kittnis	granodiorite	M	-	-			m	_	+	_		_		M		_
A920 A822	Västerhamnen	tonalite	M		+	+			-			-			M		
A 870	Håkonsnäs	granite	M		m					-		-			IVI	2	-
4880	Mörskär	granite	M		m			+	-	-	-	2	_	-	+	-	-
1000	Alvik	gabbro	M			-		-			-	<u> </u>	-	-		2	_
4877	Svartarund	gabbro	M	2	m							1		2	+	-	0
A560	Bockholm	granodiorite	M		m	2	1							-		2	-
A 563	Algorsö	granodiorite	M		m	2					-	2					
A303	Algerso	granoulorite	111	-	m	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

#### Geological Survey of Finland, Bulletin 356

Sample	Rock type	Location	Map sheet	Grid coordinates
	Diabase			
1212 1215 1217 1231 1208 1198 1222 1221 1228 1229	olivine diabase diabase hybrid olivine diabase olivine diabase pyroxene diabase hornblende diabase olivine diabase olivine diabase olivine diabase	Sorkka, Eurajoki Sorkka, Eurajoki Kiperinoja, Eura Vaasa archipelago Tvigoskär, Föglö Börsskär, Kumlinge Ansio, Padasjoki Tuomasvuori, Padasjoki Heinola Lovasjärvi, Hakosaari (A574)	1132 11 1132 11 1134 07 1313 10 - 1242 03* 1014 04 1023 10 2143 02 2143 02 2143 07 3112 12 3132.02	6787.8-1532.3 6787.8-1532.3 6774.6-1562.3 6654.6-1477.6 6686.4-1490.7 6815.0-1549.2 6806.7-2569.3 6794.4-3450.5 6783.0-3507.9
2 5 12 17	Rapakivi of Aland even-grained pyterlite wiborgite porphyritic	Högbergen, Hammarland Böle, Eckerö (A467) Prästö I, Sund Långnäs (A468)	1012 06 1021 01 1021 12 1014 02	6673.50-1432.90 6680.81-1421.86 6677.81-1459.82 6667.34-1461.21

Appendix 4. Locations of the Rb–Sr samples. The coordinates refer to the Finnish national g	inates refer to the Finnish national grid	coordinates refe	ples. The	-Sr sam	of the R	Locations	Appendix 4.
---	---	------------------	-----------	---------	----------	-----------	-------------

\* The Vaasa archipelago sample is composed of drill core samples, for sites see Neuvonen (1966).

#### Appendix 5. Additional data for samples A 489 and A920.

Table	14	. (continued)									
Samp	ole	Fraction <sup>1</sup>	Concent µg/g	ration	<sup>206</sup> Pb Isotopic composition of lead, <sup>206</sup> Pb = 100				Atomic radiome	Ma	
No.	d=c	density, g/cm <sup>3</sup>	000	200	10				<sup>206</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb	<sup>207</sup> Pb
	Ø=	grain size, $\mu$ m	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>200</sup> Pb radiog.	measure	d 204	207	208	<sup>238</sup> U	<sup>235</sup> U	<sup>206</sup> Pb
A4 A498	498 8F	-Naula-ahde, Kaksk 4.2 <d<4.6 abr clear, stubby</d<4.6 	terta, Turk 613.3	u: pyroxen 147.38	e granodio 1837	orite .05088	11.963	7.646	.2777 ± 15 1579	4.316 ± 24 1696	.11273 ± 10 1843
	G	4.2 <d<4.6; abr<br="">long, light brown</d<4.6;>	1051	284.51	3625	.02651	11.579	5.461	.3130 ± 16 1755	4.841 ± 26 1792	.11219 ± 6 1835
	H	d>4.2; abr long	985.7	265.71	2914	.03309	11.670	5.681	.3116 ± 17 1748	4.820 ± 26 1788	.11221 ± 11 1835
	I	d>4.2; abr clear, stubby	796.0	185.00	1594	.05442	11.981	7.259	.2686 ± 14 1533	4.163 ± 25 1666	.11242 ± 23 1839
A9	20-	Kittuis, Houtskär: p	yroxene gra	anodiorite							
A920	E	4.3 <d<4.6< td=""><td>472.8</td><td>132.89</td><td>9074</td><td>.007934</td><td>11.442</td><td>6.520</td><td>.3249 ± 18 1813</td><td>5.076 ± 28 1832</td><td>.11334 ± 9 1853</td></d<4.6<>	472.8	132.89	9074	.007934	11.442	6.520	.3249 ± 18 1813	5.076 ± 28 1832	.11334 ± 9 1853

For symbols, see Table 3.

#### Appendix 5. (continued)



Fig. 1. Microphotograph of polished mounts of zircons from the Kakskerta pyroxene granodiorite (Sample A498).
Zircons have been etched in HF vapour to highlight zoning. The longest zircons are about 200 μm. Reflected light.
Most zircons from this sample are light brown, clear, euhedral, elongate crystals. Several grains consist of metamict zircon cores surrounded by a owergrowth of clear zircon (fractions G and H on the concordia diagram (see Fig. 2 in Appendix 5). A minority of grains are colourless and stubby with somewhat rounded ends and show a high-U rim (fractions F and I on the concordia diagram). Some crystal are irregularly shaped.

Fig. 2. Simplified enlargement of U-Pb concordia diagram given in Fig. 53 (p. 71) with two additional points H and I. The discordance paths are diffusion trajectories (Wasserburg 1963) and give the same age results as parallels with chord along the fractions A-E (Fig. 53). Open symbols refer to long, brown zircons; closed symbols to stubby colourless zircons. A critical question is whether the zircons analysed were formed during primary igneous crystallization or were formed during recrystalization. The simplest interpretation of the approximate chord through the stubby, transparent zircon points is that it records the age of primary crystallization ca. 1880 Ma ago. In making this interpretation it is necessary to conclude that the rock underwent high-grade metamorphism at 1843 Ma, indicated by abundance of long brown zircon.

0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.25 A 498 1843 1843 H G H G A LONG DARK A LONG DARK A SHORT CLEAR 4.0 207 Pb / 235 U 5.5


## Tätä julkaisua myy

## GEOLOGIAN TUTKIMUSKESKUS (GTK) Julkaisumyynti 02150 Espoo 20 90-46931

Teleksi: 123 185 geolo sf Telekopio: 90-462 205

GTK, Väli-Suomen aluetoimisto Kirjasto PL 1237 70701 Kuopio 20 971-205 111 Telekopio: 971-205 215

GTK, Pohjois-Suomen aluetoimisto Kirjasto PL 77 96101 Rovaniemi © 960-297 219 Teleksi: 37 295 geolo sf Telekopio: 960-297 289 Denna publikation säljes av

GEOLOGISKA FORSKNINGSCENTRALEN (GFC) Publikationsförsäljning 02150 Esbo 22 90-46931 Telex: 123 185 geolo sf

Telefax: 90-462 205

GFC, Mellersta Finlands distriktsbyrå Biblioteket PB 1237 70701 Kuopio 22 971-205 111 Telefax: 971-205 215

GFC, Norra Finlands distriktsbyrå Biblioteket PB 77 96101 Rovaniemi © 960-297 219 Telex: 37 295 geolo sf Telefax: 960-297 289 This publication can be obtained from GEOLOGICAL SURVEY OF FINLAND (GSF) Publication sales

SF-02150 Espoo, Finland

Telex: 123 185 geolo sf Telefax: 90-462 205

GSF, Regional office of Mid-Finland Library P.O. Box 1237 SF-70701 Kuopio, Finland 20 971-205 111 Telefax: 971-205 215

GSF, Regional office of Northern Finland Library P.O. Box 77 SF-96101 Rovaniemi, Finland © 960-297 219 Telex: 37 295 geolo sf Telefax: 960-297 289

> ISBN 951-690-452-1 ISSN 0367-522X